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01

Timeline

Overview of Investec Property Fund Limited

Large
acquisitions

Large
acquisitions

Guiricich Portfolio
R0.7bn
Investec Portfolio
R0.7bn

RPP transaction
R0.6 billion

Highlights
• REIT status
(1 April 2013)
• Converted capital
structure to all equity
• Extended DMTN
programme to R3bn
• Bank funding –
R500m
• Bookbuild – R600m in
November 2013

Highlights
•A
 ccessed debt capital
markets
•R
 1bn DMTN
programme

R6.1bn

• Rights offer R1.5bn

R4.2bn

IAPF
R288m
69 properties

50 properties

R2.1bn

R1.7bn

32 properties

29 properties

Listing price
R9.50

DPU
93.02c

NAV
R10.89

Year ended March

14 April 2011 2012

Gearing
6.3%

DPU
99.99c

NAV
R12.43

Gearing
10.7%

Year ended March

DPS
108.20c

NAV
R13.98

Gearing
16.8%

Year ended March

2013

2014

Non-financial highlights
BBBEE
• Level 3 contributor 2014

Respectful to the
environment

• Corporate rating A-

• Investec Durban

• Secured rating AA-

International exposure
• Invested in IAPF Australia in
October 2013 – cost R235m

Sustainability initiatives
• Powerfactor corrections
• Bulk check meter readings
•E
 nergy-efficient lighting used as replacements
when performing repairs and maintenance at
all buildings
• Tracking kwh consumption per building

2
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Double the size of
the Fund through
Zenprop (R7.1bn)
and Griffin (R0.8bn)
transaction.

Large
acquisitions
IP Portfolio
R0.9 billion
2015 Highlights
• Maiden Dividend
Re-investment
programme
82% SUBSCRIBED
• Accessed Debt
capital markets
R620m
• R200m commercial
paper issue
• R290m bookbuild in
November 2014

Dihlabeng Mall
R370m

Highlights
• R1.4bn of new
investment in the year
(including Ingenuity
and IAPF)

R18.8bn
IAPF
R1.3bn
119 properties

R17.0bn
IAPF
R532m
122 properties
Highlights
• Raised R3.6bn of new
funding at blended
margin of 1.75%

Increase in NAV
per share
Mainly driven by the
4.1% revaluation of
investment property

Fleurdal
Mall

R8.7bn
IAPF
R502m
80 properties

Diesel
Road

Nicol
Main

DPS
119.15c

NAV
R15.15

Year ended March

2015

Gearing
23.6%

New CEO Nick Riley
effective 1 April 2015

DPS
124.6c

Year ended March

2016

NAV
R15.85

Gearing
34.1%

DPS
127.65c

NAV
R16.94

Gearing
34.1%

Year ended March

2017

Energy-efficient building

CSI

CSI

• 30 Jellicoe

•B
 alfour
Entrepreneurship
Project

• Launched AMP

Fleurdal Solar Project
• Launched and completed

Introduced
CSI

•M
 usina Mall
60% GLA extension

• Shanduka Project
• Nonqubela Link Project

Introduced
Capex Projects

extension completed

completed in 2016

• Dihlabeng extension
• Balfour Mall refurbishment
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Overview of Investec Property Fund Limited

Large
acquisitions

01
Overview of Investec
Property Fund Limited

About us and key highlights

01

127.65cps

R18.8bn

19.1%

Full year dividend
growth of 2.4%

Asset value increase of 10.4%

Total return based on share price
appreciation and dividends
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Overview of Investec Property Fund Limited

2017

Investec Property
Fund Limited (‘IPF’ or
‘The Fund’) is a South African Real Estate
Investment Trust, which listed on the JSE in
the Real Estate Holdings and Development
sector on 14 April 2011. It currently comprises
a portfolio of 119 properties in South Africa
with a total gross lettable area (‘GLA’) of
1 274 323m² valued at R17.4 billion, a
R1.3 billion investment in Investec Australia
Property Fund Limited (‘IAPF’) and a
R0.1 billion investment in Ingenuity Property
Investments Limited (‘Ingenuity’).

01

About us and key highlights
(continued)

Overview of Investec Property Fund Limited

The Fund’s growth
is generated by the
base portfolio which
has delivered 8.7%
net property income
growth year-on-year
despite the challenging
environment.
Full year dividend growth

2.4%
(exceeds guidance)

New investments

R1.4bn

During the 2017 financial
year, the Fund successfully
consolidated R8bn of
acquisitions made in FY2016
onto the Fund’s management
and reporting platforms and
which are now managed with
the efficiency and intensity of
the Fund’s base portfolio.

(including R834.0m into IAPF)

Debt and equity raised during
the year

8.7

Financial performance

R1.6bn
(effective balance sheet management)

Increase in NAV per share

6.9%
Weighted average lease expiry
(‘WALE’) of

3.1 years
(34% of space expiring in FY2018
already let)

Space let that became available

166 119m2 (93%)
(let at positive reversion of 3.0%)

1.4

%

%

Base net property income growth
(‘base growth’)

15.2%

6.9%

Cost to income ratio
(2016: 16.1%)

Increase in net asset value
(‘NAV’) per share

Vacancy rate
(2016: 1.1%)

6
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About us and key highlights
(continued)

The driving force behind
the Fund is a combination
of experienced,
entrepreneurial and
young professionals
who are committed to
achieving the Fund’s
strategy, while maintaining
strong adherence to
the principles of sound
corporate governance and
long-term sustainability.
Six years ago when the Fund listed on
the JSE, the property portfolio comprised
29 properties in South Africa with a
total GLA of 369 189m2, acquired for
R1.7 billion. In the subsequent six years
from listing, the portfolio has grown
to include 119 properties valued at
R17.4 billion, a R1.3 billion investment
in IAPF and a R0.1 billion investment in
Ingenuity.
The Fund is focused on ensuring it
continues to optimise long-term shareholder
returns by allocating and investing

capital into long-term value-enhancing
assets. The sale of non-core assets and
reinvestment of capital is considered on an
ongoing basis by the Fund.
Investment property comprises land and
buildings held to generate rental income
and capital growth over the long term.
Should any properties no longer meet
the Fund’s investment criteria and be
sold, any profits or losses will be of a
capital nature and will not be distributed
to shareholders.
While the Fund is an independently listed
company, it shares a common ethos and
ethical foundation with Investec Limited
(‘Investec’). A common brand and culture
provide the foundation for ethics and
governance principles adopted by the
Fund. The Fund is managed and operated
by Investec Property Proprietary Limited
(‘IP’ or ‘Investec Property’) in terms of
an asset management and property
management agreement. Investec Property
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Investec.
The IP management team has a long
history of success in the listed property
sector dating back to the mid-1990s.
The senior management team is highly
experienced not only in direct real estate
but in the listed space as well.

Operational KPIs
Base net property income
growth
2016

2017

8.2%

8.7%
Number of properties

2016

2017

119

122

2017

2016

3.1 years

3.7 years

WALE

In-force escalations
2017

2016

7.7%

7.8%

Vacancy
2017

2016

1.4%

1.1%

Net cost to income ratios

Total
Office
Industrial
Retail

2017

2016

15.2%
14.2%
13.7%
17.2%

16.1%
13.4%
14.3%
19.8%

All references to management, employees, compliance and internal audit refers to that of the Manager.
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Overview of Investec Property Fund Limited

The Fund aims to deliver sustainable returns to
shareholders by investing in a diverse portfolio
of quality properties in the office, industrial
and retail property sectors. The Fund’s clearly
articulated objective is to grow its base portfolio
by investing in well priced income-producing
properties. The Fund’s focus is to make sound
investment decisions based on underlying
property fundamentals.

01

About us and key highlights
(continued)

Overview of Investec Property Fund Limited

The Fund’s continued
strong performance
is enhanced by
six key differentiators.
Out of the ordinary

1

2

3

Focus on quality

Deliver returns over the medium

Defensive portfolio

–– Property fundamentals

to long term

–– Quality assets hold value

–– Sustainable earnings

–– Total return of 171% since listing
versus peers total return of 145%

–– Well suited to bear market territory

–– Strong covenants

–– Intense asset management

–– Quality clients

–– Extraction of value

–– Create service excellence

–– Low vacancy
–– Long-term lease expiries
–– Superior underlying fundamentals
–– Conservative balance sheet
–– Focus on niche opportunities

4

5

6

Balance sheet

Specialists in local market

Access to Investec network

–– Conservative but opportunistic balance
sheet management

–– Extensive industry experience

–– Capital

–– Pioneers in the industry since 1999

–– Advisory

–– Opportunistic

–– Deal flow

–– Hedging policy to ensure sustainability
of growth
–– Recycling of capital to enhance returns

–– Development factory
–– Supportive shareholder base
–– Access to global opportunities

8
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About us and key highlights
(continued)

2

3

Gauteng
21

26

4

36

Mpumalanga

5

2

KwaZulu-Natal
2

2

6

8

Eastern Cape
2

1

7

1

8

Western Cape
4

5

Northern Cape

North West
2

Limpopo
3

9

1

Overview of Investec Property Fund Limited

1

01

Free State
3

8
2
1

7

6

3

9

4
5

Sectoral spread

Sectoral spread

Geographical spread

Revenue (%)

Asset value

Revenue (%)

Office

39%

Office

38%

Gauteng

66%

Industrial
Retail

24%
37%

Industrial
Retail

23%
39%

KwaZulu-Natal
Western Cape
Free State

12%
10%
5%

Mpumalanga
Limpopo
North West

2%
2%
2%

Eastern Cape
Northern Cape

1%
0%
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02
Executive reports

Chairman’s report

The board of directors is
pleased to announce a full
year dividend of 127.65 cents
per share (‘cps’) for the year
ended 31 March 2017. This
equates to growth of 2.4%
and exceeds guidance of a
flat dividend year-on-year.

.4

%

Full year dividend
per share

once again exceeding guidance

Market conditions
Following a volatile 2016 financial year,
2017 continued to be one of uncertainty.
Fitch downgraded South Africa’s local
and foreign bonds to non-investment grade,
while Standards & Poor’s downgraded
only the foreign South African bonds to
non-investment grade following periods
of political uncertainty.
Although the outlook is uncertain and the
macro-economic environment provided
challenges over the past year, Investec
Property Fund Limited (‘the Fund’ or
‘IPF’) was able to deliver base net
property income (‘NPI’) growth of 8.7%
as a result of its quality and defensive
property portfolio that reflected its
strategy to invest in properties with sound
property fundamentals.

A year of consolidation

Both of the acquisition portfolios have
performed in line with the underwritten
budgets. The acquisitions have
complemented the quality base portfolio
that continued to demonstrate the high
class of the portfolio and its ability to
weather challenging market conditions.
The portfolio is able to deliver sustainable
earnings as the Fund has focused on the
quality of its clients and the excellence
of the service provided to these clients.
The Fund continued to focus on asset
management activities including client
centricity and relationships, increasing
our local knowledge and effecting
early renewals where possible in order
to de-risk future financial periods.
The Fund unlocked value through the
completion of the Musina Mall extension
as well as increased exposure into the
Australian real estate market through
Investec Australia Property Fund (‘IAPF’).

The 2016 financial year was a
transformative year for the Fund with
acquisitions of R8 billion taking place in
two transactions, Zenprop and Griffin.
The 2017 financial year has been one of
consolidation, with the Fund integrating
these acquisitions onto the Fund’s
management and reporting platforms.
The Fund has worked tirelessly at
understanding these assets which are
now managed with the efficiency and
intensity of the Fund’s base portfolio.
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Executive reports

2

02

02

Chairman’s report
(continued)

Executive reports

Key financial
indicators

Portfolio size
(2016: R17.0bn)

R18.8bn
Hedge percentage
(2016: 75%)

86%
Market capitalisation
(2016: R10.0bn)

R11.3bn
Offshore exposure
(2016: 3.1%)

6.8%
Shares in issue
(2016: 700.2m)

718.2m
12

The Fund’s board and management teams
include specialists in the local market
and have extensive industry experience.
Its access to the greater Investec network
also provides the ability to grow capital
and gives the team access to advisory
functions and deal flow. Many opportunities
over the past six years have arisen through
the Fund’s connection with Investec
Property Limited (‘IP’ or ‘the Manager’)
and its access to development pipeline.
The Fund’s association with Investec
also presents global opportunities, where
Investec has local knowledge and feet on
the ground. Where the underlying property
fundamentals are sound and there is a
known and trusted management team on
the ground these global opportunities are
explored. This is a unique relationship and
gives the Fund a significant advantage.
Now that the dilution from the Zenprop
transaction is fully accounted for, the
dividend growth for the year ending
31 March 2018 is expected to revert
to historic growth levels, with all the
acquisitions forming part of the base.
With the Fund now comprising a quality and
diverse asset and investment platform of
R18.8 billion, the Fund is confident that it is
well placed to deal with the current adverse
economic environment, and that the
defensive portfolio of scale will continue to
deliver long-term income and capital returns
in excess of the South African benchmark
and comparative peers.

Governance
As set out on pages 56 to 63 in this report,
the Fund’s board and management, as
well as the employees of the Manager are
committed to upholding the disclosure,
transparency and listing rules of all the
applicable regulations, statutes (including
the JSE Listings Requirements), and the
King Code of Governance Principles for
South Africa. Thus, all stakeholders can
take assurance from the fact that the
Fund is being managed in compliance
with the latest legislation, regulations and
best practice.
The performance of the board, its
committees and individual directors are
formally evaluated on an annual basis
against recognised standards of corporate
governance and covers all areas of the
board’s processes and responsibilities.
The performance evaluation process
was conducted independently during
the year under review through evaluation
questionnaires and one-on-one meetings

with each director to discuss personal
observations and in particular, to seek
comments on strengths and developmental
areas of the members, the chairman and
the board as a whole.
Individual training and development
needs are discussed with each board
member and any requests for training are
communicated to the company secretary
for implementation.

Sustainability and CSI
Sustainability is about building the Fund
to ensure we have a positive impact on
the economic and social progress of
communities and on the environment,
while growing and preserving our clients’
business and stakeholders’ interests based
on strong relationships of trust.
The Fund acknowledges its responsibility
to its stakeholders, the environment and
the community at large and consistently
focuses on continual improvement of our
business and environmental sustainability.
The Fund is committed to broad-based
black economic empowerment (‘B-BBEE’)
and was awarded a level 3 rating in
terms of the Property Sector Charter,
as independently verified by Empowerdex,
with the next rating scheduled for
October 2017.
The Fund is part of an initiative to
introduce a leading black-owned entity
into the property sector to benefit broadbased beneficiaries. The new fund,
named Izandla Property Fund (‘Izandla’)
will leverage the property expertise in
the Fund and Investec Property while
developing its own capabilities. The
Fund will sell 17 buildings to Izandla
during the 2018 financial year and has
presented those assets as non-current
assets held-for-sale.
The Fund has the following sustainability
and corporate social investment (‘CSI’)
projects in place:
• Tracking and benchmarking utility
consumption across the portfolio in
order to identify energy-efficiency
opportunities
• Rooftop solar projects to reduce the
cost of electricity and provide grid
stability and energy security
• Obtaining ratings from the Green
Buildings Council for certain of its
properties
• AMP – an enterprise supplier
development hub aiming to develop

Investec Property Fund Limited integrated annual report and financial statements 2017

Chairman’s report
(continued)

Changes to the board
Following the retirement of
Graham Rosenthal from the board on
16 August 2016, shareholders were
advised that Philip Hourquebie had been
appointed as an independent non-executive
director with effect from the same date.
Philip was also appointed as chairman to
the audit and risk committee.
Philip is a member of the South African
Institute of Chartered Accountants (‘SAICA’)
with over 38 years of experience at the
multinational professional services firm,
Ernst & Young (‘EY’). He served as the
regional Managing Partner (Central & South
Eastern Europe) for EY and prior to that
he was the Regional Managing Partner
(Sub-Saharan Africa) and CEO of EY
South Africa.
The board is pleased to welcome Philip and
looks forward to his contributions to the
continued growth of the Fund.

Going concern
The board has performed a thorough
review of the Fund’s budgets and cash flow
forecasts for FY2018 and, based on this
review, the borrowing and financial position
of the Fund, the board is satisfied that the
Fund continues to be a going concern and
has applied this principle in preparation of
the financials.

Corporate rating
The Fund’s corporate rating was
maintained at A(ZA) with a stable outlook in
August 2016 whilst the secured rating was
reaffirmed and released in April 2015 as
AA-, with the stable outlook reinforcing the
Fund’s balance sheet strength. The next
review will take place in August 2017.

Prospects
Looking forward to the next five years,
the Fund’s defensive portfolio is well
placed to deliver optimised and sustainable
shareholder returns, despite the challenges
that will likely continue within South Africa.
We will continue to focus on underlying
real estate principles which will underpin
all decisions, locally and abroad. Property
is a long-term asset class and we will
continue to seek to deliver returns to
shareholders over the medium to long term.

Executive reports

small businesses by providing the
capital to install offices, subsidising
rental levels, upskilling of the
entrepreneurs and providing preferential
payment terms.

02

The 2017 financial
year has been one of
consolidation

The Fund has
produced consistent
income and capital
growth since its listing
and looks forward to
continuing this growth
pattern into the
future.

The Fund’s balance sheet is well placed
as a result of both conservative and
opportunistic balance sheet management.
The Fund has enjoyed uninterrupted
access to the corporate bond and bank
debt markets and at 31 March 2017 had
available facilities of R1.2 billion.
The Fund is positioned to absorb economic
pressures, with long dated lease expiries
and certainty of cash flows in the short
to medium term. The Fund has produced
consistent income and capital growth since
its listing and looks forward to continuing
this growth pattern into the future.
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Chief executive officer’s report

Executive reports

The Fund’s base portfolio delivered growth of
8.7% year-on-year. The strong performance of the
base portfolio demonstrates the quality and robust
nature of the Fund’s assets.
The Fund is well placed
to deal with the current
adverse economic
environment, due to its
defensive portfolio which
is now of scale.

The full year dividend of 127.65 cents
per share (31 March 2016: 124.66
cents per share) represents full year
growth of 2.4% and results in an
outperformance of the guidance provided
to the market at the beginning of the year.
The outperformance was generated by
the base portfolio, acquisitions, IAPF and
well managed funding costs.
The dividend growth for the year
ending 31 March 2018 is expected to
revert to historic growth levels of between
7% – 8% due to the dilution from the
Zenprop transaction fully accounted for and
all the acquisitions now forming part of the
base portfolio. The Fund boasts a quality
and diverse asset and investment platform
of R18.8 billion, consisting of 119 properties
with an average value of R146 million, an
8.0% investment in Ingenuity Property
Investments Limited (‘Ingenuity’) and a
22.9% investment in IAPF in Australia
amounting to R1.3 billion.

The Fund’s shareholders have achieved
a total market return of 19.1% for the
12-month period ending 31 March 2017,
which is comprised of 10.1% capital return
and 9.0% income return. The growth is
underpinned by the Fund’s base portfolio,
which grew its net property income by
8.7% despite a challenging economic
environment. In addition the Fund reported
a 6.9% increase in net asset value per
share driven largely by the 4.1% increase
in property valuations.
The management team has focused
the last 12 months on consolidating the
Zenprop and Griffin portfolios acquired
in FY2016. We are pleased that both of
the acquisition portfolios are performing
in line with budget. In addition, as part
of the Fund’s capital recycling initiative,
R103.5 million of the Griffin portfolio
has been recycled at a capital profit of
R14.0 million (since acquisition) with
a further R87.4 million earmarked for
sale in FY2018, resulting in an overall
improvement of the quality of the portfolio.

Property performance
Total
Portfolio
Number of properties
Asset value (Rbn)
Base growth
Cost-to-income
GLA
Vacancy
WALE (years)
In-force escalations

14

Office

Industrial

Retail

FY17

FY16

FY17

FY16

FY17

FY16

FY17

FY16

119

122

33

34

46

49

40

39

17.4

16.5

6.6

6.6

3.9

3.8

6.9

6.1

8.7%

8.2%

5.9%

12.0%

10.2%

3.2%

10.6%

7.5%

15.2%

16.1%

14.2%

13.4%

13.7%

14.3%

17.2%

19.8%

1 274 323

1 300 278

266 700

271 115

582 172

608 725

425 451

420 436

1.4%

1.1%

2.2%

0.6%

1.0%

1.4%

1.3%

1.1%

3.1

3.7

3.4

4.0

3.1

3.7

2.9

3.3

7.7%

7.8%

8.0%

8.0%

7.9%

8.0%

7.4%

7.6%
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Chief executive officer’s report
(continued)

This ultimately led to an improvement in
the base cost to income ratio to 14.8%
(2016: 15.9%) and was followed by an
improvement in the overall portfolio cost to
income ratio by 90 basis points to 15.2%
(2016: 16.1%).

The portfolio’s income stream is
underpinned by:

The Fund continues to outperform peers on
like for like base growth, driven by a focus
on the underlying property fundamentals
and a focused asset management strategy.

• vacancy of 1.4% which is significantly
below the reported IPD sector
performance and is arguably one
of the lowest in the listed sector
(31 March 2016: 1.1%); and

• contractual escalations of 7.7%;
• a strong client base with 87%
tenants being listed, large national
or professional firms;

• 93% of space expiring in FY2017
was renewed or re-let at an average
reversion of 3.0%.

Vacancy

Although maintaining such a low vacancy
has been challenging, approximately
83 228m2 (34%) of expiring FY2018 leases
have already been renewed or re-let.
The Fund continues to engage with clients
early to ensure it understands client needs
well in advance of expiries.

Percentage
6
5.4
5
4
3.0

3

Executive reports

The Fund’s base portfolio delivered growth
of 8.7% net property income growth year
on year. This was achieved through an
increase in like for like revenue of 7.2%.
The revenue increase achieved was less
than that of the contractual escalations
of 7.7% due to an average positive rate of
reversion of 4.9% achieved on renewals
and new lets. Expenses net of recoveries
reduced by 0.7%. This cost containment
was achieved through improved utility
recoveries and strict management of
contractual expenses.

02

2.8

2.2

2

1.4
1

1.2

1.0

0.6

1.1

1.3

1.1

1.4

0
Office

Industrial

31 March 2015

Retail

31 March 2016

Total

31 March 2017

Growth in net asset value
The net asset value (‘NAV’) per share of the Fund has grown by 6.9% driven by the 4.1% revaluation of the investment property portfolio
which still remains conservatively valued at a yield of 8.9% (prior year 8.7%). The growth in NAV was adversely impacted by the following
negative mark to market movements totalling R141.0 million:
•  R84.1 million on interest rate swaps due to the decrease in swap rates;
•  R5.7 million on cross-currency swaps due to the strengthening of the Rand against the Australian dollar; and
•  R51.2 million on the investment in IAPF due to the subdued share price movement.

Net asset value bridge
6.9% increase year on year
ZAR 'm
13 500
Increase in investment property
13 000

860

(598)

12 500

(87)

12 000
487

(318)

Acquisitions

Disposals

681

62

(11)

Reval &
Straightlining

Other capital
movements

Working
capital

(5)

12 168

Deferred
tax

Closing
NAV

11 500
11 097
11 000
10 500
10 000
Opening
NAV

Additional
investements

Increased
debt

MTM
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Chief executive officer’s report
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Executive reports

Valuations
The table below sets out the FY2017 property revaluations. The portfolio remains conservatively valued with the increase of R681.1 million
(including the straight-line rental revenue adjustment) in the current financial year representing 4.1% growth on the prior year. This valuation
increase results in a forward yield of 8.9% which is viewed as conservative considering the quality of the portfolio.
Carrying
amount
2016
Rm

Revaluation
Rm

Office

6 176

Industrial

3 649

Retail

Other capital
Movements1
Rm

Valuation
2017
Rm

Total
change
%

Revaluation
%

Forward
yield2
%

176

10

6 362

3.0

2.9

9.0

138

(129)

3 658

4.6

4.0

9.0

5 867

365

117

6 349

10.0

6.3

8.4

15 692

679

(2)

16 369

6.0

4.4

8.8

Industrial

–

(1)

78

77

–

–

8.8

Retail

–

–

154

154

–

–

9.0

Total acquisitions

–

(1)

232

231

–

–

8.9

767

3

1

771

0.4

0.4

9.7

16 459

681

231

17 371

5.5

4.1

8.9

Total base

Non-secured assets
held-for-sale
Total portfolio
1.
2.

Other capital movements comprises acquisitions, disposals, agterskots, capex and projects.
Based on 100% let, adjusted for structural vacancies.

Capital allocation

Capital sources

Debt raised (net of repaid)
Equity raised
Working capital
Recycling capital

594
286
177
351

Deployment of capital

International investments
New acquisitions
Developments
Local investments
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The Fund is focused on ensuring that it
optimises long-term shareholder returns
by allocating and investing capital into
value-enhancing assets. To this end the
Fund has sold five buildings and one
third of Musina Mall during the year for
R351.0 million (profit on sale R27.1 million
over book value). The profit on sale of these
properties since acquisition is R61.8 million.
The sale proceeds were redeployed into
the Musina Mall extension, the acquisitions
of AGCO (single tenanted industrial building
in Pomona), Boitekong Mall (retail mall in
Rustenburg), the increased stake in IAPF
and the new investment into Ingenuity.
The weighted average yield of the assets
sold was 8.3%. The proceeds from the
sales have been deployed into quality
assets with more attractive growth
prospects which has been achieved on
an earnings neutral basis. In addition
the Fund sold two motor dealerships
(included in non-current assets held for
sale at 31 March 2017) post year-end for
R85.1 million.

The Fund continuously and rigorously
assesses the current portfolio and evaluates
performance over the medium to long-term,
to ensure assets are generating accretive
returns relative to the Fund’s cost of capital.
Musina Mall in Limpopo has been
extended by 21 482m2 and was 89% let
upon the opening on 30 March 2017,
with 80% national tenants. National
retailers have indicated that they were very
pleased with the opening months’ trade
performance. The extension provided a
combined yield of 8.9%.
The Fund has approved an extension of
5 638m2 at Fleurdal Mall. The centre is fully
let and a number of national clients have
expressed interest in taking up space in the
extension. The extension cost is roughly
R94.8 million and provides a yield of 7.2%.
The extension will further enhance the
strength and offering of the Mall.

834
302
196
75
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Balance sheet
management

Sources of debt
Diversified funding base

Balance sheet and risk management is
a fundamental focus area for the business.
In the current volatile and unpredictable
environment it is paramount that the
Fund has certainty on its sources of
funding and cost of funding. The Fund
adopts a conservative approach to both
of these measures. As a result of this
strategy, the Fund’s debt metrics remain
consistently strong. The Fund’s all in cost
of funding improved by 10bps to 8.9%,
which was achieved despite the Fund
increasing its hedge ratio from 75% to 86%.
During the year, the following significant
funding activity and risk management
took place:
• R1.3 billion of new debt was raised at
an average margin of 1.61% and an
average expiry of 3.5 years (R250 million
received post year-end);
• R450 million of debt was restructured
extending the margin by 16bps and
average expiry by 2.5 years;
• R663 million of new swaps were entered
into at an average rate of 7.87% and an
average expiry of 4.8 years;
• R312.5 million of existing swaps were
restructured, resulting in a reduction of
the cost of the swaps by 11bps and
adding 2.7 years to the average expiry;
• R366.4 million of new cross-currency
swaps were entered into at an average
rate of 4.44% and average expiry of
4.0 years; and
• R81.1 million of existing cross-currency
swaps were restructured which resulted
in an increase in the expiry of 2.25 years
with no impact on margin.
Post year-end, the Fund rolled R242 million
of three-month commercial paper at a
margin of 45 basis points and repaid
R276 million of corporate bonds. The Fund
issued corporate bonds for R150 million
to replace bonds of the same value, which
matured in June 2017.
The robustness of the Fund’s balance
sheet was further enhanced through the
proactive recycling of capital, the issuance
of R285 million of new equity and the
R681.1 million (4.1%) increase in property
valuations at year-end. Gearing remains
stable at 34.1% with there being sufficient
facilities in place to allow the Fund to
transact on a day-to-day basis, without
having to raise further funding or raise new
facilities. The Fund has been measured in
the structuring of its security provided to

Percentage
100

Commercial paper
3%

Commercial paper
4%

80

Corporate bonds
41%

Corporate bonds
40%

60
% debt secured
40%

40

Bank
56%

Bank
56%

% debt secured
34%
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0
FY2016

FY2016

its lenders, which is now certainly seeing
benefits. The balance sheet remains
significantly unencumbered, with only
34% of assets secured, providing significant
flexibility in terms of future funding initiatives.

Financial review

FY2017

FY2017

of reporting operating results which are
relevant to paying distributions to our
linked unitholders and to eliminate fair
value adjustments and other non-cash
adjustments as required by International
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).
These simplified statements do not comply
with IFRS.

Consistent with general practice in the
listed property sector, we have included
a simplified reconciliation of distributable
income and a simplified statement of
financial position to make the financial
statements more understandable and
better aligned to the cash-based basis
Simplified distribution reconciliation
R’000

31 March
2017

Net property income (excluding straight-lining)
Other operating expenses
Income from investments
Net finance costs
Notional cost of funding Ingenuity acquisition
Antecedent dividend
Taxation
Distribution

1 405 762
(56 301)
53 085
(509 217)
1 702
11 516
(753)
905 794

Simplified statement of financial position
R’000

31 March
2017

31 March
2016

Investment property (including straight-lining)
Investments
Other assets
Total assets
Shareholders’ interest
Interest-bearing borrowings
Total funding
Other liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

17 371 495
1 391 573
321 655
19 084 723
12 167 927
6 390 317
18 558 244
526 479
19 084 723

16 459 713
531 772
254 268
17 245 753
11 097 103
5 792 601
16 889 704
356 049
17 245 753
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31 March
2016
924 749
(49 328)
46 645
(270 641)
–
27 485
(2 042)
676 868
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Offshore investment
strategy
The Fund continues to actively consider
investments in other jurisdictions, with the
view to build an international operating
platform across different geographies.
The basis of each investment decision
continues to reiterate IPF’s focus on the
underlying property fundamentals and
requirement to have trusted people on the
ground who understand the macro- and
micro-economics of the region. Thereafter,
the Fund will consider capital structure,
funding and foreign exchange influences to
enhance shareholder returns.

Australia
The Fund continues to find Australia an
attractive investment destination and
as such deployed a further R834 million
into IAPF during FY2017. The Fund’s
investment in IAPF now amounts to
R1.3 billion, representing 22.9% of IAPF
(March 2016: 12.3%) and 6.8% of the
Fund’s assets.
Australia allows the Fund to invest in a
developed market with a 26-year track
record of GDP growth. The spread
between bonds and property yields are
still wider than the historical average
and the low interest rate environment is

18

expected to continue. IAPF itself has an
experienced management team with a
similar philosophy to IPF, who continue
to deliver on its core strategy. IAPF has
a quality portfolio underpinned by a long
WALE, fixed escalations of 3.4% and
upside opportunities from active asset
management.
During the current year the Fund partially
underwrote the AUD150 million IAPF
rights offer, taking up AUD75 million
(R769.3 million) at an initial yield of 7.1%
(post withholding tax). A cross-currency
swap was entered into for 50% of the value
of the investment at an average rate of
4.4% and a tenor of four years, resulting in
the acquisition being earnings neutral for
the period. The cash on cash return was
9.8% resulting in a very attractive
risk-adjusted return.

UK
Post year end the Fund acquired a 10%
stake (£10.0 million) in an unlisted entity
with underlying real estate investments in
the UK. The portfolio will be managed by a
joint venture between IP’s team in the UK
and Argo Real Estate Partners LLP (‘Argo’).
Argo is an established property and asset
manager with whom Investec has had
extensive relationships and track record as
a co-investor.

The underlying portfolio comprises
approximately £200 million of high quality
assets, underpinned by a weighted
average unexpired lease term (‘WAULT’)
of 8 years let to high quality tenants. The
underlying property yield of the portfolio
is 6.1% generating an initial equity yield of
7.1%. Approximately 23% of the portfolio
is invested in multi-let industrial units in
London’s M25 locations, a segment of the
market experiencing some of the highest
tenant demand, rental growth and yield
compression as a result of lack of land
supply. Approximately 55% is invested in a
supermarket portfolio of five assets with a
WAULT of nine years let to Sainsbury and
Tesco. The majority of these properties
trade within the top quartile of the retailer’s
stores countrywide and are appropriately
sized to meet customer demand. The
remaining 22% is invested in a retail
warehouse park near Norwich, anchored by
M&S, Sports Direct and Boots.
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Izandla Property

Ingenuity

In conjunction with IP, the Fund has
launched Izandla, a majority black-owned
property company that aims to create value
to fund the initiatives of its beneficiaries
through access to quality real estate assets
and to provide clients with a B-BBEE
property partner who will own, manage
and develop their assets to unlock value
through the full property value chain. The
majority shareholder is the Entrepreneurship
Development Trust (‘EDT’), a broad-based
charitable trust that focuses on educational

In January 2017 the Fund made an initial
8% investment in Ingenuity for R75 million.
The shares were acquired at 80 cents
per share which is a 20% discount to the
current market price and a 38% discount
to latest reported net asset value. Ingenuity
have a high quality R4.0 billion Western
Cape portfolio with a WALE of just under
five years as well as a R271 million land
and development pipeline which when
fully completed will add an additional
R1.5 – R2 billion of assets to their portfolio.
The acquisition was opportunistic and
provides the Fund with an attractively
priced portfolio and development pipeline
in the Western Cape, where it is currently
underrepresented. The Fund’s board
and management team know Ingenuity
shareholders, board and management
team well and share the same property
investment philosophy. Whilst a small asset
in the Fund’s broader portfolio, Ingenuity
has exciting prospects. IPF has appointed
Sam Leon to the board of Ingenuity to
represent its interests.

and entrepreneurial initiatives. IP and IPF
will partner in the growth of the business
and the team with IPF holding a 35%
shareholding in Izandla. Izandla officially
launched on 8 June 2017. IPF will seed
Izandla with an initial portfolio of 17 assets
at a value of R589.6 million. IPF will facilitate
the sale of assets through its equity holding
in Izandla and through the provision of
mezzanine debt. The resultant transaction
is not anticipated to have a material impact
on IPF’s earnings.

Looking ahead and priorities for 2018
Focus on
quality

Deliver
returns over
the medium
to long
term

Defensive
portfolio

Balance
sheet

Capital
allocation

Client
focused

Quality property, sustainable earnings, strong covenants
and excellent client service

Through intense asset management and an extraction
of value

A focus on lease expiries ahead of time and maintaining
a low vacancy rate

Conservative but opportunistic balance sheet management
with a hedging policy to ensure sustainability of growth

Recycling of capital to enhance returns and a focused
acquisition and disposal strategy

Continually create an excellent client experience
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The Fund is well positioned
to deal with the current
uncertain and volatile
environment. IPF is now a
diversified portfolio of quality
properties and international
assets and has the necessary
scale to diversify itself from
individual property risk.
Prospects and guidance
The growth in dividend per share will
normalise to historical levels and the Fund
expects dividend growth of 7% – 8% for the
year ending 31 March 2018.
Following the recent downgrade
of South Africa’s credit ratings and
the subdued local macro-economic
environment, the next financial year
is expected to be somewhat more
challenging. This will lead to less room
for negotiation with clients on rental and
escalations with their bottom lines under
increased pressure. Retailers specifically
are likely to face downward turnover
pressure due to the growing cost of living
for consumers, resulting in less disposable
income for discretionary spend items. The
cost of borrowing is expected to increase
over time with bond yields likely to push
out. The Fund is however well positioned to
weather this environment.
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The Fund continues to offer investors
visibility over future earnings supported by
the following key metrics:

Management will continue to strive to
provide long-term sustainable income and
capital returns to its shareholders.

• 92% of FY2018 revenue is contractual

In this process we would like to
acknowledge our clients, our investors, our
suppliers and all our stakeholders without
whom the Fund could not operate or
succeed.

• 34% of FY2018 renewals have been
concluded and the Fund has a proven
track record of maintaining vacancies at
below market norms
• Continued focus on cost to income
ratios
• De-risked balance sheet, 86% hedged
and a weighted average swap expiry of
3.2 years
• Approximately 62% of future IAPF
income is hedged to December 2021
through the use of forward exchange
contracts and cross currency swaps.

My gratitude to our very effective board
and committees for their ongoing support
and guidance. A special acknowledgement
is due to the full team for their dedication,
hard work, innovation and contribution to
our achievements in this short space of
time.
The Fund continues to benefit immensely
from the Investec connection in all respects.

Acknowledgements
The Fund’s management is gratified with
the performance for the past year, and is
pleased to have delivered consistently on its
objectives since listing only six years ago.

N Riley
Chief executive officer
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Non-executive directors

Nicholas P Riley (38)

Sam Hackner (61)

Chief executive officer

Non-executive chairman

BCom (cum laude), BCom (Hons), CA(SA),
CFA, PLD (Harvard)

BCom (Hons), Dip Acc, CA(SA)

Committees: Social and ethics, standing
invitation to all committee meetings
Nick Riley joined the Fund on 1 April 2014,
as part of the Fund’s executive
management team. In 2015 Nick assumed
the role of chief executive officer (‘CEO’),
and in the same year, the Fund’s asset
base increased from R8 billion to R16.7
billion. Prior to joining the Fund, Nick spent
nine years at Investec Corporate Finance,
where he was a senior investment banker
responsible for a number of Investec’s key
client relationships, including all clients
within the real estate sector.

Andrew R Wooler (35)
Financial director
B Bus Sci (Finance Hons), ACA
Committees: Standing invitation to all
committee meetings
Andrew Wooler assumed the role of
financial director on 17 August 2015.
Andrew has been part of the Fund’s
executive management team since joining
Investec in August 2012 when the Fund had
R2 billion of assets. Prior to this, Andrew
spent eight years in London where he
qualified as a chartered accountant, worked
in corporate finance and later headed up
the team at Caesars Entertainment UK
that was responsible for driving profitability
and rolling out new business opportunities
across the EMEA region.

Committees: Investment (chairman),
standing invitation to all committee
meetings
Sam Hackner has over 36 years of
experience in the property industry and is
a member of Investec Global’s Property
investment committee and Investec
Global’s Property credit committee.
In 2003 he was appointed chairman of
Growthpoint, the largest property REIT
listed on the JSE. Sam resigned as
chairman of Growthpoint in July 2008,
a year after the property management and
asset management functions were sold
by Investec to Growthpoint. He has been
chairman of Investec Property Fund, since
listing on the JSE in April 2011. He is also
a member of the board of directors and
advisory board of the Investec GLL Global
Special Opportunities Real Estate Fund, a
€375 million Luxembourg-based fund for
investment in global real estate, as well as
chairman of the Investec Argo REIT.
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board as non-executive
deputy chairman. Sam is also on the
board of the Investec GLL Global Special
Opportunities Real Estate Fund, a
€375 million Luxembourg-based fund for
investment in global real estate and a
non-executive director and key driver of
Investec Australia Property Fund which
listed on the JSE in October 2013.

Luigi LM Giuricich (56)
Non-executive director
BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)
Committees: Investment
Luigi Giuricich completed his articles at
Peat Marwick Mitchell and Co (now KPMG).
He has over 30 years of experience across
all sectors of the construction and property
sectors. Starting as the financial director of
the S.Giuricich group of companies in 1990,
he currently holds numerous directorships
of group and associate companies.

Independent nonexecutive directors
Philip A Hourquebie (64)

Samuel R Leon (67)

Independent non-executive
director

Non-executive deputy chairman

BAcc, BCom (Hons), CA(SA)

LLB (London)

Committees: Audit and risk (chairman)

Committees: Investment, standing
invitation to all committee meetings

Philip is a member of the South African
Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA)
with over 38 years of experience at the
multinational professional services firm,
Ernst & Young (‘EY’).

Sam Leon has four decades of experience
across all sectors of the property industry
with 26 years at Investec Property
Proprietary Limited, firstly as a director,
then managing director and currently as
deputy chairman. He was a founder of
the transformation of Growthpoint into
South Africa’s largest listed property REIT
and was a director until Investec sold its
interests in October 2007. Sam was also
a director of specialist listed property fund
Metboard Properties Limited, until it was
sold to Growthpoint in April 2007, as well
as a board member of the South African
Property Owners’ Association (‘SAPOA’).
Sam retired as CEO of Investec Property
Fund on 31 March 2015, having held this
position since Investec Property Fund listed
on the JSE in April 2011. He remains on the

He served as the Regional Managing
Partner (Central & South Eastern Europe)
for EY and prior to that he was the Regional
Managing Partner (Sub-Saharan Africa) and
CEO of EY South Africa.
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Constance M Mashaba (55)

Suliman Mahomed (68)

Independent non-executive
director

Independent non-executive
director

BCom (Hons) Business Management

Committees: Investment

Committees: Audit and risk, social and
ethics

Suliman Mahomed has over 46 years’
experience in the investment and
development of commercial property.
He is presently chairman and chief
executive officer of the Solly’s group
of companies, including Solly’s
Discount World, Solly Noor Properties
and Computron.

Constance Mashaba has been with
Black Like Me Products since inception in
1985, working as their financial manager
and assuming the position as managing
director from 2005 to date. Connie served
as a trustee of Deutsche Bank Africa
Foundation from 2009 to 2014. She also
serves as non-executive chairman of
The Energy Company Proprietary Limited,
non-executive chairman of Securitas
– RSA and as chairman of African
Equity Corporation Proprietary Limited.
She has a BComm (Hons) in Business
Management and a Diploma in marketing
and communication from the AAA School
of Advertising. Connie has attended
executive leadership programmes at
Harvard Business School and is a fellow
member of the Institute of Directors of SA.

Moses M Ngoasheng (60)
Independent non-executive
director
BA Economics and Politics, BSoc Sci
(Hons), MPhil
Committees: Investment, nominations,
social and ethics (chairman)
Moses Ngoasheng previously worked in
the ANC’s economics department until
1993 when he joined Gencor’s Group
Strategy Department. The following year
he founded an investment company,
Safika Holdings (Pty) Ltd, of which he
is currently the chief executive officer.
In 1995, he was requested by deputy
president Thabo Mbeki to become his
economic adviser. When Mr Mbeki was
made president in 1999, Moss became
economic adviser to the President. In 2000,
he returned to Safika as chairman and
assisted in building the company into a
substantial business.
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Khumo L Shuenyane (46)
Independent non-executive
director
ACA
Committees: Audit and risk
Khumo Shuenyane is a partner at
Delta Partners, a global firm headquartered
in Dubai and focused on providing advisory
services in the telecoms, technology
and digital sector. He also serves on the
boards of Investec Limited, Investec PLC
and Investec Bank Limited. Between
2007 and 2013 Khumo served as Group
Chief Mergers & Acquisitions Officer for
MTN Group Limited. He was previously
head of Principal Investments at Investec
Bank Limited. Before taking responsibility
for the Principal Investments division in
2005, Khumo was a member of Investec’s
Corporate Finance division for seven years.
Prior to joining Investec in 1998 Khumo
worked for Arthur Andersen for six years
from 1992. He completed his articles with
the firm in Birmingham, England, qualifying
as a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales in 1995.
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Strategic focus

Business review and strategy

Our current strategy
To provide:
–– Sustainable returns for investors;
–– Sustainable income stream;
–– Quality assets that hold value;
–– An optimal capital structure;
–– Quality clients, low vacancy and growth in rental income stream;
–– Competitive and attractive portfolio for all stakeholders (creating value socially, environmentally and economically); and
–– Achieving consistent dividend growth, growing net asset value, and total returns in excess of its peer group.

Business drivers

Core
principles

Capital
allocation

Balance
sheet
management

Focused property
fundamentals

Capital
recycling

Capital
management

Active asset
management

Redevelopments

Debt
facilities

Relationship and
management team
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Investment
in IAPF
Other
investments

Swap
facilities
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The Fund makes use of the following resources to manage and drive our business strategy:

Capitals
Financial capital

How we utilise our capitals
IPF uses a combination of debt and capital to fund its
acquisitions and growth.
The Fund uses its financial capital to invest in quality assets that
retain their value and provide sustainable income streams that
offer growth opportunity, consistent dividend growth, total returns
in excess of our peer group and contribute towards growing our
net asset value.

Manufactured
capital

Human capital

Reference

By investing in good quality and defensive assets, the Fund
aims to create value by growing a portfolio of commercial,
industrial and retail properties with sound property fundamentals
that ensure that the Fund maintains high occupancy ratios,
retains and attracts quality clients and focuses on unlocking rental
growth opportunities.

Capital
allocation

Balance
sheet
management

Core
principles

Capital
allocation

The extensive skills, knowledge and industry experience
that the Manager uses drives the short- to medium-term goals
of the Fund.

Social and
relationship
capital

The Fund’s relationships with its clients and service providers
are key to the success of the organisation.

Intellectual
capital

Apart from the Manager’s skills, knowledge and industry
experience, the Fund shares a common ethos and ethical
foundation with Investec Limited (‘Investec’), as well as has
access to capital advisory, deal flow, a development factory, a
supportive shareholder base and access to global opportunities.

IPF prides itself on fostering client and service provider
relationships to ensure that it is able to provide an efficient
and quality service to its clients, while ensuring that surrounding
communities are not negatively impacted.

Core
principles

Core
principles

IPF aims to ensure that it uses its access to skills, knowledge,
experience and resources in conjunction with its unique ethos
and ethical foundation to deliver a quality and efficient service
to clients.

Natural capital

IPF adopts the triple bottom line approach and is therefore
conscious of the impact of its properties on the surrounding
environment.
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Property portfolio review
The Fund’s base portfolio has delivered 8.7%
net property income (‘NPI’) growth year-onyear. The strong performance of the base
portfolio again demonstrates the quality and
robust nature of the Fund’s portfolio. Growth
in NPI was driven by cost containment and is
reflected in an improving cost-to-income ratio
of 15.2%, down from 16.1% in the prior year.
Effective utility management has been a big
contributor to an efficient cost base. In addition
to the rigorous cost containment, the Fund
continues to grow the revenue line, largely
driven by contractual income with an average
in-force escalation of 7.7%.

8

.7%
Base net property
income growth

KPIs
2017
Number of properties
Asset value
Net property income growth (base)
GLA

119

122

R17.4bn

R16.5bn

8.7%

8.2%

1 274 323m2

1 300 278m2

Vacancy
WALE (years)

1.4%

1.1%

3.1 years

3.7 years

In-force escalations

7.7%

7.8%

Cost to income ratio

15.2%

16.1%

The Fund’s current property portfolio
consists of a diverse base of 119 quality
properties with an average value per
property of R146 million.
The Fund’s base portfolio continued
to deliver consistent growth with likefor-like net property income growth
of 8.7%, despite a challenging
economic environment. The Fund achieved
this like for like growth as a result of the
following factors:
• Revenue growth of 7.2%, which is
slightly tempered by the marginal uptick
in the vacancy rate
• Reduction in net expenses of 0.7%
• Improved utility recoveries and control
over contractual costs (only a 2%
increase), offset by an increase in
variable costs (bad debts, tenant
installations and letting commission).

26

2016

In addition to the above, 93% of space
that became available during the year was
let at a positive reversion of 3.0% with an
average in-force escalation of 7.7%. As
a result of cost containment strategies,
there was a reduction in the net property
cost-to-income ratio to 15.2% (31March
2016: 16.1%) mainly attributable to
improved recovery ratios and control over
contractual costs as a result of the Fund’s
dedicated utility management team. Lastly,
letting activity resulted in a low vacancy
rate of 1.4% (31 March 2016: 1.1%), as
well as a defensive WALE of 3.1 years
(31 March 2016: 3.7 years). These results
are due to our asset management team’s
focused effort to service and retain
existing clients and attract new clients.
In addition, it is testament to the quality of
the Fund’s property portfolio, the desirability
of the product as well as the service
offered to new and existing clients.
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Top 10 properties by values
Building

Sector

Total area % of portfolio
by area
m2

Book value % of portfolio
R’m
by value

Zevenwacht Mall

Retail

879.6

5.1

39 517

3.0

Newcastle Mall

Retail

864.3

5.0

38 861

3.0

1 & 1A Protea Place

Office

814.1

4.7

20 066

1.5

Design Quarter Mall

Retail

571.9

3.3

24 569

1.9

Balfour Mall

Retail

553.7

3.2

32 669

2.5

Dihlabeng Mall

Retail

553.5

3.2

30 824

2.4

2929 on Nicol

Office

508.8

2.9

16 149

1.2

The Firs

Office

476.9

2.7

13 091

1.0

Musina Mall

Retail

436.0

2.5

35 174

2.7

Brandhouse

Industrial

418.7

2.4

40 428

3.1

6 077.4

35.0

291 347

22.3

Total

The top clients are indicative of the quality of the portfolio. Clients comprise large, established entities, 87% of whom are listed, large
professional firms.
In addition to the above, the following tables represent the Fund’s top 10 clients by gross revenue per sector:

Client
name

Gross revenue
% of total
office
portfolio

Client
name

Gross revenue
% of total
industrial
portfolio

Client
name

Gross revenue
% of total
retail
portfolio

Investec

5.4%

Diageo PLC

3.3%

Massmart

6.4%

Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr

5.0%

Altron Ltd

2.4%

Shoprite Checkers
Group

4.9%

Woolworths

3.2%

Kevro Trading

1.7%

Edcon Group

3.5%

Innovation Group

2.4%

CWT-ASI Aquarius
Shipping International

1.6%

Foschini Group

3.2%

Nedbank Group

2.2%

RTT Group

1.6%

Bidvest

2.7%

Fluxmans Attorneys

1.9%

General Electric

1.5%

Mr Price Group

2.4%

Samsung Electronics

1.8%

Adcock Ingram
Healthcare

1.2%

Pepkor Group

2.2%

TBWA Hunt Lascaris

1.7%

Imperial Group

1.2%

Pick n Pay Group

1.4%

Clover

1.5%

Barloworld Ltd

1.2%

Woolworths

1.4%

Mentoprox

1.4%

Midas

1.2%

Supergroup

1.3%
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The following 10 properties represent the highest value properties within our portfolio as at 31 March 2017:
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Core principles

Focused property fundamentals
(continued)

Business review and strategy

Office sector review

KPIs

Office highlights

Office
Number of properties
Asset value
Net property income growth (base)
GLA

2017

2016

33

34

R6.6bn

R6.6bn

5.9%

12.0%

266 700m

2

Vacancy
WALE (years)

2.2%

0.6%

3.4 years

4.0 years

8.0%

8.0%

14.2%

13.4%

In-force escalations
Cost to income

Overview
IPF’s office properties comprise
33 properties that are situated in prime
nodes across South Africa. The portfolio is
currently 98% let with a WALE of 3.4 years.
In addition, 70% of the properties are let to
A-grade clients with a balanced client mix
of 39% single tenanted (with a WALE of
3.8 years) and 61% multi-tenanted (with a
WALE of 3.1 years).

Performance
The past year reflected a client driven
market with oversupply in key nodes.
Despite a tough economic environment,
the Fund’s office portfolio is defensive
and well positioned for existing market

271 115m

2

conditions in the sector. As such, office
base growth of 5.9% was achieved
(March 2016: 12.0%). The decrease in
growth was mainly attributable to an
increase in vacancy from 0.6% to 2.2% in
the current year as well as rental reversions
and an increase in the cost-to-income ratio.

Letting activity
During the year, 21 362m2 of office space
became available, of which 76% was
renewed or let to new clients at a positive
reversion of 1.9%. In addition, 561m2 of
opening vacancy was let, resulting in a
closing vacancy of 2.2%. This is reflective
of the Fund’s portfolio quality and defensive
single-tenanted nature.

P- & A-grade assets represented

59%
of the office portfolio

8.0%
In-force escalations

During FY2018, 27 705m2 of space will
become available, of which 34% has
already been renewed and a further 5% is
in advanced stages of negotiation. This is
testament to the Fund’s core principle of
focused asset management to reduce
letting risk by engaging with clients early
regarding upcoming lease expiries. In-force
escalations remained static at 8.0%.
The limited expiry and letting activity does
not necessarily provide a true reflection of
the current office market dynamics where
vacancies in major nodes in A- & B-grade
properties are at all time highs and client
incentives are more prominent.

2929 on Nicol, Gauteng
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Office key nodal analysis
Sandton

Bryanston

Rosebank

% GLA of total portfolio

19.5

12.7

8.9

WALE (years)

4.05

1.62

3.69

P-grade GLA % of total portfolio

21.2

35.2

54.9

A-grade GLA % of total portfolio

38.6

47.5

45.1

B-grade GLA % of total portfolio

40.1

17.3

–

GLA expiry in 2018 (m2)

9 588

2 357

1 773

GLA expiry in 2019 (m2)

19 166

19 896

3 603

Nodal vacancy as per SAPOA

9.1%

11.9%

13.0%

IPF vacancy %

2.1%

5.6%

0.5%

Nodal breakdown (GLA)

Sandton
Bryanston
Rosebank
Other

The Fund’s strategy is to acquire office
properties in strategic nodes where the
growth of demand is cemented. Examples
of these high demand office nodes where
the Fund has approximately 41.1% of
its office portfolio located are Sandton,
Bryanston (specifically around the Nicolway
Shopping Centre fronting Main and William
Nicol) and Rosebank, as indicated in the
table above.

For Sandton, Bryanston and Rosebank, the
average vacancy rates were 2.1%, 5.6%
and 0.5% respectively.

The Fund’s exposure to Sandton, which is
arguably the most saturated office market
in the country, represents 19.5% of the
office GLA. Of this, approximately 60% of
the buildings are A- and P-grade buildings
with an average WALE of 3.1 years. Of the
remaining 40%, 13% has been renewed
for eight years with a 6% positive reversion.
As at 31 March 2017, 34% of space
expiring in FY2018 had already been let.

SAPOA vacancy comparison of key nodes

The Fund also has four properties with
a GLA of 33 965m2 in Bryanston. This
represents 13.0% of the total office GLA
with a vacancy of 5.6%. The majority
of the vacancy is concentrated in the
Brae’s property, which is the oldest of the
Bryanston properties and in which category
there is the most available supply and
competition. All properties are well located,
fronting onto either William Nicol and/or
Main Road, within direct proximity of the
Nicolway Centre. The largest single expiry
in FY2018 is Samsung at 2929 Nicol, which
occupies 7 351m2. IPF is in advanced
negotiations with Samsung.

19.5%
12.7%
8.9%
58.9%

When comparing the above information to
the vacancy rates as recorded by SAPOA,
IPF has maintained vacancy rates well
below the SAPOA averages and is well
positioned with negligible vacancies across
the major nodes.

Percentage
14

13
12

12
10

9

8
6

6
4
2

2
1

0
Sandton

Bryanston

Rosebank

IPF vacancy %
SAPOA vacancy %

Rosebank represents 8.9% of the office
portfolio with an almost 100% occupancy.
All buildings are rated as either A- or
P-grade with little short to medium
term risk.

30 Jellicoe, Gauteng
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Industrial sector review

KPIs

Industrial highlights

Industrial
Number of properties
Asset value
Net property income growth (base)
gLA
Vacancy
wALe (years)

2017

2016

46

49

R3.9bn

R3.8bn

10.2%

3.2%

582 172m2

608 725m2

1.0%

1.4%

3.1 years

3.7 years

In-force escalations

7.9%

8.0%

Cost to income ratio

13.7%

14.3%

Overview
The industrial portfolio consists of
46 buildings which offer a mix of modern
as well as well-maintained older buildings
that compete strongly in their submarkets.
These buildings are well located and
desirable as they meet the requirements
of what clients consider in terms of price,
functionality and location.

Performance
The industrial portfolio achieved double
digit growth in its base portfolio despite
the tough economic environment facing
the sector. Base portfolio gross income
increased by 10.9% due to the strong
FY2016 letting activity which has reduced
void rental period and the overall vacancy
percentage. Although gross costs
increased year-on-year, there was also
an improvement in the recovery of these
costs allowing revenue to provide a direct
enhancement to the operating margin.
Lastly, although arrears increased to 2.6%
(31 March 2016: 1.4%), this was due to
one client and a payment plan has been
implemented that the client has thus far
adhered to.

Despite the macro-economic challenge,
the Fund’s industrial portfolio continues
to demonstrate its defensiveness.
The buildings are well located, functional
and reasonably priced.
During the year, the Fund was able to let
96% (93 940m2) of space that became
available or was early renewed with a
negative reversion of 1.0% and strong
contractual escalations of 7.7%. Included
in this letting are early renewals of the
18 475m2 RTT facility in Riverhorse for a
further five years and Austral in Lerwick
Road, 6 203m2 on a four year extension.
589m2 of opening vacancy was let during
the year.

30

Base NPI growth

1.0%
Vacancy reduced from 1.4% in a tough
economic environment

7.9%
In-force escalations

Looking forward to
FY2018, 142 255m2
(24% of the industrial
portfolio) expires.
The Fund is working
diligently to minimise
vacancy risk and has
already let 25% (35 290m2)
of the space.
Industrial portfolio composition
(NPI)

Encouragingly, vacancy for the
period decreased marginally to 1.0%
(March 2016:1.4%). Much of the success
in the year can be attributed to a thorough
understanding of existing clients’
requirements and a willingness to work with
them in order to obtain a positive outcome
for both the client and the Fund.
High tech industrial
Standard units
Warehouses
Manufacturing

Letting activity
The market has seen an increase in
incentives due to increased supply.
Competition from new developments has
increased significantly as developers appear
willing to conclude deals on reduced rentals
and returns in order to improve returns
on vacant land holdings. Clients have an
increased cost focus as a result of subdued
economic growth and standing clients are
seeking assistance in reducing the cost
of occupation (mostly driven by municipal
costs). In addition, smaller clients are
reluctant to commit to long-term leases due
to the tough economic climate currently
being experienced.

10.2%

Riverhorse RTT, KwaZulu-Natal
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Retail sector review

KPIs

Retail highlights

Retail
Number of properties
Asset value

2017

2016

40
R6.9bn

39
R6.1bn

10.6%

7.5%

Net property income growth (base)
GLA

425 451m

2

420 436m2

1.3%

1.1%

2.9 years

3.3 years

Vacancy
WALE (years)
In-force escalations
Cost to income

7.4%

7.6%

17.2%

19.8%

10.6%
base NPI growth

83%
national clients across the portfolio

Retail portfolio composition
(NPI)

Overview
The retail portfolio includes 40 buildings
that are either dominant in their respective
nodes or are niche in relation to a specific
product offering or category. There is a
focused strategy of maintaining a minimum
average of national clients to ensure the
assets are able to trade through periods
of subdued economic and consumer
spending. The current percentage of
national clients across the portfolio is 83%.

Performance
The Fund’s base portfolio reported NPI
growth of 10.6% and continued to achieve
above average reversions with 8.0% on
new lets and renewals despite the high
percentage of nationals and has also
maintained an in-force escalation of 7.4%.
These positive reversions have been
underpinned by the growth profile in trade
achieved in the Fund’s shopping centres.
The Fund’s retail malls have performed well
during the year. Musina Mall in Limpopo
has been extended by 21 482m2 and was
89% let upon opening on 30 March 2017,
with 80% national clients. National retailers
have indicated that they are pleased with
the opening month’s trade performance.
Balfour Mall continues to strengthen with
selected national retailers either expanding
or introducing new brands into the centre.
Double digit turnover growth was achieved
in Dihlabeng and Zevenwacht on the back
of strong performances of national clients
that took occupation in FY2017. Newcastle
Mall reported growth in turnover at only
inflationary levels as the introduction of
Spar and Dischem at the Newcastle Corner
development has cannibalised a portion of
existing trade growth, albeit not, material.
Newcastle Mall remains the primary
shopping destination for the residents of
Newcastle. An extension to Fleurdal Mall
has been approved following interest from
national clients not yet in the existing centre.

In the last quarter of FY2017, the sector
experienced a decline in turnover figures
due to subdued trading which was evident
in lower turnover rental earned by the Fund
between January and March 2017. This
trend is expected to continue into FY2018.
Turnover rental accounts for 1.2% of the
total rental for the office portfolio.

Letting activity
Vacancy remains low at 1.3% and
the Fund let 95% (33 880m2) of the
space that became available during the
year (56 838m2), as well as 898m2 of
opening vacancy.

Shopping centres
Retail Warehouse
Motor dealership
High street

66%
17%
12%
5%

Design Quarter Mall, Gauteng
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Retail trend analysis

Turnover growth by region — March 2017

The graph indicates the Fund’s year-onyear turnover growth. The Western Cape
performed particularly well at 12% driven
by performance at Zevenwacht. Similarly,
the Free State retail centres performed
well yielding a 11% turnover growth.
Dihlabeng and Fleurdal malls performed
above inflation. Fleurdal Mall will expand
by 5 000m2 against national clients not yet
represented in the centre.
Gauteng’s turnover growth of 4% was
mainly attributable to Balfour and Design
Quarter. Balfour is performing well after
its revamp two years ago with increasing
interest from national clients.

Percentage

12

12

11

9
9
6

5
4

3
1
0
Gauteng

Western Cape

Free State

Mpumalanga

KwaZulu-Natal showed growth of 5% being
growth in Newcastle Mall.

Trading density — growth by region

In Limpopo, Musina especially has been
performing well with nationals in the
centre indicating some of their best store
performance figures to date. The Musina
extension of approximately 22 000m2,
opened on 30 March 2017 and is expected
to result in further turnover growth in
FY2018.

Percentage

Growth in Mpumalanga slowed due to
Kriel Mall trading figures. Trade remains
subdued due to the temporary closure of
certain surrounding coal mines. However,
these mines are expected to become fully
operational in the medium term and will
operate for the remaining useful life of the
power stations they service.

9

9

8

6
4

4

4

3

0
Gauteng

Western Cape

Free State

Mpumalanga

Limpopo

KwaZulu-Natal

In terms of the trading density indicated in the graph above, the results were approximately
aligned with that of the year-on-year turnover growth.

1
3

9
10

2

5

1

Design Quarter

2

Balfour Mall

3

The Firs

4

Musina Mall

5

Kriel Mall

6

Nonkqubela Link

7

Zevenwacht

8

Newcastle Mall

9

Dihlabeng

8

10
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KwaZulu-Natal

12

12

4

6

Limpopo

Fleurdal

7
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The Fund believes in a strategy of active asset
management, with a focus of value extraction and
delivering long-term sustainable income and capital
growth. The asset management team continuously
engages with clients and is able to assist them in
meeting their goals in conjunction with the Fund’s
own investor interests.

A major focus of the
asset management
team is on the cost
base, with municipal
costs accounting
for 69.8% of the
expense base.
Letting activity
Expiries
and
cancellations

Gross expiry
rental

Renewals
and
new lets

Gross new
rental

Rental
reversion

Average
escalation

GLA

R/m2

GLA

R/m2

%

%

Office

21 362

172.54

16 811

175.87

1.9

8.2

Industrial

73 091

44.34

69 852

45.68

3.0

8.2

Retail

56 838

85.32

54 778

92.15

8.0

7.4

151 291

76.78

141 441

80.54

4.9

7.8

24 678

82.44

24 678

77.29

(6.2)

7.1

Total

175 969

77.69

166 119

80.02

3.0

7.7

Early renewals effective FY2018

243 907

109.48

83 228

116.33

6.3

7.5

Subtotal
Early renewals already effective*

*	Early renewals already effective are leases that were due to expire in FY2018, renewed to take effect in FY2017 and therefore no longer form part of the
FY2018 expiries balance. These all relate to the industrial portfolio – Riverhorse 18 475m2 and Lerwick Road 6 203m2. When combined with FY2017
expiries and cancellations, this results in a negative reversion of 1.0% and average escalations of 7.7% for the industrial portfolio.

Letting activity
The Fund began FY2017 with an opening
vacancy of 14 763m2. During the year,
93% of the 175 969m2 that expired or
was cancelled during the year was let or
renewed at a positive reversion of 3.0%.
24 678m2 of this related to space originally
expiring in FY2018 but was effective
as early renewals in the current year. In
addition, the Fund has already renewed a

further 83 228m2 (34%) of space expiring
in FY2018 at a positive reversion of 6.3%.
Overall, vacancies across the office,
industrial and retail portfolios are all
significantly below the reported IPD
sector performance and remain as
arguably one of the lowest in the listed
sector with a portfolio vacancy of 1.4% as
at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016: 1.1%).

Cost containment
Utilities have always been and continue
to be a major focus area of the asset
management team who actively monitor
these charges. In addition, the Fund also
has a dedicated analytical team who is
focused on both internal and external
benchmarking, understanding the cost
base and continuing to unlock value where
possible. As a result, FY2017 reflected an
improvement in recoveries of 12.4%.

The portfolio’s income stream is
underpinned by contractual escalations
of 7.7%.
The letting performance is testament
to the quality of the property portfolio,
the desirability of the product and the
proactive asset management of forward
lease renewals.

Expenses
Following the appointment of a dedicated
utilities and sustainability resource in the
previous financial year, the Fund has
undertaken projects to decrease its utility
charges, specifically with respect to water
and electricity. Projects included the
installation of bulk check meters and the
installation of solar at selected centres.
The Fund continues to proactively manage
assessment rates. These initiatives are
further highlighted in the ‘Sustainability’
section on pages 43 and 44.

Gross electricity
Gross rates
Gross contractual
Gross variable
Gross other utilities
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2016

40%
22%
17%
13%
8%

37%
19%
25%
11%
8%
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The Fund maintained
a low vacancy of 1.4%.

Since listing, the Fund has continually
managed its vacancy factor and this is
driven by:

• keeping buildings in good quality
condition, with ongoing maintenance and
capital expenditure ahead of time; and

• building relationships with clients;

• the Fund’s continual drive to decrease
the cost of occupation for clients to
improve client retention and attract an
improved client mix.

• understanding and servicing client
requirements and understanding client
position well in advance of renewal dates;

Vacancy

Annualised forward yield on base portfolio

Percentage

Percentage

6

12

5.4

5

10

4

8

3.0

3

2.8

10.1
9.0 9.0

8.4 8.8

8.8

8.7

8.0

6

2.2
2

1.4

1

0.6

1.0

4

1.4

1.2 1.1 1.3

1.1

Retail

Total

2

0

0

Office
2015

Industrial

2016

2017

2017

Office

Weighted average net rental per square metre
on base portfolio
200

2016

Industrial

Retail

Total

Weighted average rent escalation

190

8.0 7.9

8

8.0 8.0

7.7

7.4

7.6 7.8

7

158
150

6
5

110

100

100

3

52

50

4

48

2
1

0

0

2017
Office

Industrial

2016

2017

Retail

Office

Industrial

2016
Retail

Total

Lease expiry profile by revenue
Percentage
35

33

30
25

20

20

18

16

15

9

10
5

5

7

6

4

4

6

8

8

6

4

10

5

1

0

2018
Industrial

Office

2019
Retail

2020

2021

April 2021 onwards

Total

Management of
receivables
Lastly, although still low, receivables
represent 1.6% of total collectables
(31 March 2016: 0.7%) with the uptick a
result of the macro-economic environment
34

15
13

and pressure on clients. The increase in
arrears is largely attributable to two clients.
Payment plans with these clients have been
agreed and enforced. Asset managers
continue to work with clients and strive to

reduce the overall cost of occupation where
possible. Provision for bad debts covers all
debtors greater than 60 days and the Fund
has adequately provided for receivables
at risk.
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Relationships and management team

Clients
The Fund has a quality client
base, predominantly made
up of large corporates, listed
entities and nationals.
Currently, 87% of the Fund’s client base are
listed large nationals or professional firms.
A further breakdown is provided in the
diagram alongside.
IPF’s core philosophy is to build welldefined, value-added experiences that
focus on the needs of its client base.
The Fund’s differentiated approach consists
of delivering beyond clients’ expectations
of space needs and finding value-adds from
a space point of view that contributes to
client business growth.
The Fund believes that prioritising and
understanding the needs of clients and
constantly engaging them is a key element
of delivering value. Programmes such as
the tenant touch programme have been
instrumental in enabling this.
The Fund seeks to continue its commitment
to its clients, which has helped to create
customer loyalty and which will be mutually
beneficial for the Fund and its clients.

Investec network and relationships
Investec Property Proprietary Limited
(‘IP’, ‘Investec Property’ or ‘the Manager’)
provides access to capital, advisory and
deal flow. Investec Property also has feet on
the ground in other global jurisdictions and
provides knowledge and access to global
opportunities.
Over the past six years, a number of key
strategic acquisitions have either been
sourced or directly purchased through
Investec Property. The Fund is able to
leverage benefit from IP in many aspects,
including capital and development projects
where IP has substantial expertise.

Client composition

a further seven-year period. The following
changes to the contract have been
agreed in relation to the transaction and
development fees capable of being charged
by the Manager:
• Transaction and Development Watching
Fees have been reduced from 1% of
transaction or development value to a
maximum of 0.5% of the value of the
transaction;
• The above fees are however capped at
a maximum amount of R103.6 million
over the seven-year renewal period; and
• The initial asset
management fee of
0.5% of enterprise
value together with the
remaining terms of the
contract remain largely
unchanged.
The Manco was renewed via a shareholder
vote on 22 June 2017.

Experienced management team
Driven by the Fund’s growth since listing
and following its ethos of expanding skills
and capability in its current growth stage,
management continues to bolster operating
teams across all disciplines. At a senior
executive and board level there is a wealth
of experience with over a hundred years
combined property experience as well as
expertise in the financial services sector.
The team upholds the core values and
ethics of all Investec staff members. They
uphold principles of responsible behaviour
and integrity along with commerciality.
The team is opportunistic in all aspects of
business and are invested in innovation and
applying an ‘out of the ordinary’ approach
to everything they do.

In turn, Investec group has consistently
supported the growth of the Fund through
the purchase of equity.
Overall, there is extensive knowledge and
expertise within the Investec group across
many disciplines off which the Fund is able
to leverage.

Large international (larger than
R2bn market cap)
Listed (smaller than R2bn market cap)
Other

72%
15%
13%

As the management contract (‘Manco’)
agreement is expiring in March 2018,
the Fund and the Manager have reached
agreement on the terms of a renewal of the
Manco. The existing contract which expires
on 31 March 2018, has been agreed for
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The Fund
believes
that its
relationship
and the
access that
it has to
Investec and
the Investec
network
is a key
competitive
advantage.
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Capital allocation
Capital recycling

Business review and strategy

Capital allocation

The Fund is actively
assessing its capital
allocation to assets to
ensure that it optimises
long-term shareholder
returns by allocating and
investing capital into
value-enhancing assets.

Invest
capital
into
value-enhancing
assets

During the financial year, the Fund made a
number of decisions regarding its capital
allocation. Firstly, the decision to divest from
non-core assets, secondly a decision to
dispose of 17 properties to an empowered
entity (which are currently disclosed as
‘held-for-sale’ in its statement of financial
position) and lastly, the decision to invest in
Ingenuity Investment Property Fund.

Decision

Assess
returns

Disposal of non-core assets
Annual analyses are conducted on the
potential future performance of the Fund’s
portfolio and those assets or investments
that are neither expected to deliver valueenhancing returns nor are core to our
portfolio, will be disposed of. The proceeds
from the disposals are then either
redeployed into existing assets to unlock
further value, used to fund the purchase
of value enhancing assets or potentially
returned to shareholders.

Concluded sales

against set
expectations

Selling price
R’m

So-So Trading
17 Derrick Road
Subaru Dealership/Renew It

Earn
returns

to divest
or hold
investment

Acquisition date

Acquisition price
R’m

GLA
m²

Date of transfer

7.7

28/10/2015

8.6

3 190

June 2016

21.5

01/04/2011

17.5

5 997

June 2016

104.6

14/12/2015

89.9

12 000

September 2016

Makro Montague Gardens

90.0

01/04/2011

80.0

11 236

November 2016

SABB Maitland

50.0

01/04/2011

44.9

16 017

February 2017

Musina Mall

77.1

06/06/2012

48.3

13 561

June 2016

289.2

62 001

350.9
To this end, the Fund has sold five buildings
and one third of Musina Mall during the
year for R350.9 million (profit on sale
R27.1 million over book value). The profit
on sale of these properties since acquisition
is R61.8 million. The sale proceeds were
redeployed into the Musina Mall extension,
the acquisitions of ACGO, Boitekong Mall
and the increased stake in IAPF.
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The weighted average yield of the assets
sold was 8.3%. The proceeds from the
sales have been deployed into quality
assets with more attractive growth
prospects which has been achieved on an
earnings neutral basis.

The Fund continuously and rigorously
assesses the current portfolio and evaluates
performance over the medium to long term,
to ensure assets are generating accretive
returns relative to the Fund’s cost of capital.
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The held-for-sale balance of 21 properties includes two groups of properties.
Selling price
R’m

Held-for-sale

Acquisition date

Acquisition price
R’m

GLA
m²

Anticipated
transfer

Coastal Air Couriers

18.7

October 2015

18.7

3 240

July 2017

Nissan Roodepoort

36.8

December 2012

34.8

4 893

May 2017
June 2017

Super Group Greenstone

79.6

February 2013

50.0

5 686

VW McCarthy Roodepoort

48.6

January 2013

26.0

2 595

May 2017

Greenhill Village

95.0

March 2014

92.2

4 687

August 2017

Minolta Bellville
Union Castle Building

29.1

May 2013

24.6

2 166

August 2017

139.1

January 2016

134.9

8 936

August 2017

95 Main Reef Road

48.4

April 2011

20.1

14 171

August 2017

Armadillo

11.7

October 2015

11.1

2 081

August 2017

9.4

October 2015

9.0

1 618

August 2017

Capital Motors (McCarthy Pretoria)

Baldwin Filters

23.0

April 2011

19.7

7 463

August 2017

National Urethane Industries (New)

14.9

October 2015

14.2

3 628

August 2017

National Urethane Industries (Old)

10.8

October 2015

10.2

3 000

August 2017

North Safety Products

11.4

October 2015

10.9

3 000

August 2017

Plastichem

10.4

October 2015

10.0

1 753

August 2017

Scientific Building

40.6

October 2011

34.9

5 733

August 2017

Boxer Comfimvaba

6.8

October 2013

6.0

1 045

August 2017

Cashbuild Nongoma

8.7

October 2013

7.6

2 204

August 2017

Edcon Carletonville

26.0

September 2014

23.8

3 816

August 2017

Foschini

82.3

June 2014

79.4

6 305

August 2017

19.3

April 2011

18.5

4 125

August 2017

653.4

92 145

Shoprite Checkers Thabazimbi

770.6
The first group comprises properties
that the Fund considers non-core to its
operations and therefore plans to dispose
of within the next 12 months. These
properties include Coastal Air Couriers and
three motor dealerships. Two of the three
motor dealerships were sold post year-end
for R85.1 million.

Greenhill Village, Gauteng

In addition to the above, the Fund has
taken the decision to sell 17 buildings with
settlement taking place within 12 months
of the reporting date for a consideration of
R586.9 million. As such, these assets have
also been presented as non-current assets
held-for-sale.
These aforementioned buildings will be
disposed of to Izandla Property Fund

(‘Izandla’). The Fund will retain a 35%
shareholding in Izandla and in turn, the new
entity will leverage the property expertise
of the Fund and Investec Property while
developing its own capabilities.
The transaction is expected to be
concluded on an earnings neutral basis for
the Fund, details of which will be released
on conclusion of the transaction.

Foschini, Gauteng
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Business review and strategy

The Musina extension

The Fund partnered with the Moolman Group
(‘Moolman’) (2/3 IPF/1/3 Moolman) to extend
the GLA 2.5 times to 35 174m2.
The Fund acquired Musina Mall in June
2012 at a forward yield of 9.2%. Musina is
a vibrant commercial and trading centre in
the northern part of the Limpopo province,
servicing both the surrounding agricultural
sector and in particular the cross-border
trade from Zimbabwe.
The Fund then sold one third of the existing
centre to Moolman at a forward yield of
8.2% realising a 61% capital return to the
Fund since the acquisition in June 2012.
The proceeds from the sale were reinvested
into the extension which cost R344 million
(IPF share R229 million) and produced a
development yield of 9.1% on the extension
in year one. The yield on completion of the
combined centre is 8.9%.

Value (R’m)

The centre opened for trading on
30 March 2017 at 89% let with a 80%
national client presence. National clients in
the extension include Woolworths Group,
Foschini Group, Pepkor Group, Shoprite
Checkers Group, Truworths Group and the
Clicks Group. National retailers indicated
that they were pleased with their opening
month’s trade performance.
The project creates a semi-regional centre
in Musina and has resulted in an attractive
capital profit on the one third sale as well
as the yield enhancement through the
two thirds investment in the development.
There are minimal opportunities to acquire
assets of this type of quality and size at the
development yield achieved.

Before

After

IPF pro rata
436.0

234.3

654.7

Yield (%)

8.2

8.9

8.9

GLA (m2)

13 561

35 174

23 426

79

80

80

National (%)

Fleurdal Mall extension

An extension to
Fleurdal Mall was
approved.
Fleurdal Mall is fully let and IPF has had
a number of national clients expressing
interest in being part of the Mall. As such,
an extension of 5 638m2 at a cost of
R94.8 million and at a development yield of
7.2% was approved. 80% of prospective
clients have committed to taking space in
the development. Although initially dilutive,
the extension would cement the centre's
future and likely lead to improved longterm returns. The extension will close out
the potential for competing development
and make the mall dominant in the
catchment area.
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IAPF has a quality
portfolio underpinned by
a WALE of 4.6 years and
fixed escalations of 3.4%.
The Fund continues to be
a strong supporter of this
investment.

Australia
The Fund increased
its investment in IAPF
in FY2017 from 12.3%
to 22.9%, representing
a R1.3bn investment
and 6.8% of the Fund’s
assets.
Market capitalisation

ZAR5.6bn
AUD553m

Unit price (as at
31 March 2017)

ZAR12.96

NAV per unit

ZAR11.59
AUD1.16

Premium to NAV

12%

Property portfolio
No. of properties

24

GLA

230 864m2

Vacancy

5.4%

WALE (years)

4.6

In-force escalations

3.4%

Asset value

AUD779m

60% of office portfolio
located in New South
Wales (‘NSW’) and
Victoria.

IAPF was the first inward listed Australian
REIT on the JSE. The Fund acquired
shares in IAPF in October 2013 at a cost
of R230 million which amounted to a
shareholding of 15.6%.
During the current financial year, the Fund
partially underwrote the AUD150 million
IAPF rights offer taking up AUD75 million
at an initial yield of 7.1% (post withholding
tax). This has resulted in an increased
shareholding from 12.3% in March 2016
to 22.9% at the end of the current year.
The Fund’s investment therefore amounts
to R1.3 billion in total.
A cross-currency swap was entered into
for 50% of the value of the investment at
an average rate of 4.4% and a tenor of
four years, resulting in the acquisition being
earnings neutral for the period.
The Fund manages its exposure to
exchange rate risk on its distributions
received from IAPF by actively hedging
future income from IAPF through taking
out forward exchange rate cover.
Approximately 30% of the Fund’s income
is naturally hedged through the use of the
cross currency swap. With a further 32%
of income hedged to December 2021 at
exchange rates ranging between R10.11
and R13.40/AUD.
IAPF delivered AUD growth of 3.6% on a
dividend per share basis for the full year
post withholding tax. Through active foreign
exchange management, the Fund extracted
a further 3.1% growth, delivering total
income growth of 6.7% in ZAR.

The Fund continues to be a strong
supporter of investment in IAPF, as well
as find Australia an attractive investment
proposition, for the following reasons:
• The sustainability and quality of
earnings;
• The macro-economic factors affecting
NSW and Victoria where the Fund has
the most exposure;
• The ability to earn leveraged cash
on cash returns of 9.8% based on
current forward yields of 7.1% post
withholding tax;
• Australia itself offers more attractive
growth prospects than many other
developed markets;
• A developed market with a 26 year track
record of GDP growth;
• Experienced management team that has
delivered on core strategy;
• Government with flexible and proactive
policies;
• Relatively attractive pricing of real estate
with quality stock still available at above
7% yield;
• Funding costs below 4%, resulting in
positive spread in excess of 3%;
• Contractual escalations of approximately
3.4% per annum, compounding the
growth in the 3% yield spread; and
• Attractive existing portfolio acquired
through well executed strategy
underpinned by strong property
fundamentals.
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The Fund’s strategy
in terms of investments
is predicated on the
underlying property
fundamentals and an
absolute requirement
to have a known and
trusted management
team on the ground.

UK
Approximately 23%
of the portfolio is
invested in multi-let
industrial units within
London’s M25.

Post year-end, the Fund acquired a
10% stake, to the value of £10 million,
in an unlisted company with real estate
investments in the UK. This investment
has been made on an initial equity return
of 7.1% and IPF will fund up to 50% of
this using a cross-currency swap. This is
expected to generate a leveraged cash on
cash return of 9.5%. The Fund will hedge
future income from the investment by taking
out forward exchange rate cover, as is done
for IAPF. The transaction will not have a
material impact on the Fund’s dividend per
share calculation in FY2018.
The underlying portfolio comprises
circa £200 million of high quality assets,
underpinned by a weighted average
unexpired lease term (‘WAULT’) of eight
years let to high quality clients.
Approximately 23% of the portfolio
is invested in multi-let industrial units
within London’s M25 – a segment of the
market experiencing some of the highest
client demand, rental growth and yield
compression as a result of a lack of land
supply. In addition approximately 55% of
the portfolio is invested in a supermarket
portfolio comprising five assets with a
WAULT of nine years let to Sainsbury and
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South Africa
The Ingenuity portfolio
comprises high quality
Western Cape portfolio
with access to an
attractive development
pipeline.

Tesco. The majority of these properties
trade within the top quartile of the retailer’s
stores countrywide and are appropriately
sized to meet customer demand. Lastly,
the remaining 22% is invested in a retail
warehouse park near Norwich, which is
anchored by M&S, Sports Direct and Boots.
The entity will benefit from a positive
yield spread of approximately 300bps
with funding secured at below 3% for an
average term of six years and 75% hedged.
The entity will initially be leveraged at 55%
which will revert to 30% – 40% over the
medium to long term.
The portfolio will be managed by a joint
venture between Investec Property’s team
in the UK and Argo Real Estate Partners
LLP (‘Argo’). Argo is an established
property and asset manager with whom
Investec has had extensive relationships
and track record as a co-investor. In
addition, IPF have negotiated two seats on
the board to ensure representation.

In January 2017, the Fund made an initial
8% investment in Ingenuity for R75 million.
The shares were acquired at 80 cents per
share equating to a 20% discount to the
current market price and a 38% discount to
the latest reported net asset value.
Ingenuity is a listed property fund that is
predominantly based in the Western Cape.
Its portfolio comprises high quality offices,
retail, gymnasiums and light industrial
and parking valued at R4.0 billion with
a WALE of just under five years as well
as a R271 million land and development
pipeline. When fully completed, this will add
an additional R1.5 – R2 billion of assets to
their portfolio.
The acquisition was opportunistic and
provides the Fund with an attractively
priced portfolio and development pipeline
in the Western Cape, where it is currently
under-represented.

The structure will likely convert to a UK
REIT, once scale of circa £400 million
– £500 million of asset value has been
achieved.
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Conservative but opportunistic balance sheet management.

KPIs

Highlights

31 March
2017

31 March
2016

6 390

5 793

R1.3bn
of new debt raised

Investments
Total debt (R’m)
Average all in cost of funding

8.9%

9.0%

Average debt margin – ZAR

1.65%

1.65%

Average debt margin – AUD

2.4%*

2.2%*

Average ZAR swap rate

7.7%^

7.7%^

Debt maturity

3.2 years

3.9 years

Swap maturity

3.2 years

3.6 years

Hedged %

86%^^

75%^^

Gearing %

34.1%

34.1%

Encumbrance ratio

34%*^

33%*^

66%#

60%#

DMTN

40%

41%

Bank debt

56%

56%

4%

3%

Unsecured debt

86%
hedge percentage

34.1%

Sources of funding

Commercial paper

stable gearing

*	Margin above BBSW. The Fund has fixed all AUD debt at an average rate of 4.4%
(March 2016: 4.9%).
^ Excludes cross currency swaps.
^^ Includes forward starting swaps of R113 million, which start in December 2017.
*^ Secured portfolio as a percentage of the asset value of R18.8 billion.
# Based on total debt facilities.

Balance sheet and risk management is a
fundamental f ocus area for the business.
In the current year, the Fund’s balance
sheet remains well positioned with a
maintained gearing ratio of 34.1%.
In the current volatile and unpredictable
environment, it is paramount that the Fund
has certainty on its sources of funding
and cost of funding. The active and
efficient interest rate risk management
strategy is evident in the decrease of the
Fund’s average cost of funding which has
improved by 10bps to 8.9%. This was
achieved despite the Fund’s increase in its
hedge ratio from 75% to 86%.
During the year, the following significant
funding activity and balance sheet
management took place:
• R1.3 billion of additional debt was raised
at an average margin of 1.61% and
an average expiry of 3.5 years. Of this
debt, R250 million was received post
year-end.
• R450 million of debt was restructured,
extending average expiry by 2.5 years.

• R663 million of new swaps were entered
into at an average rate of 7.9% and an
average expiry of 4.8 years.

of R285.7 million of new equity and the
R681.1 million (4.1%) increase in property
valuations at year- end.

• R312.5 million of existing swaps were
restructured, resulting in a reduction of
the cost of the swaps by 11.0bps and
adding 2.7 years to the average expiry.

The Fund has been measured in the
structuring of the security provided to its
lenders, which is now certainly seeing
benefits. The balance sheet remains
significantly unencumbered, with only 34%
of investments secured. This provides
significant flexibility in terms of future
funding initiatives.

• R366.4 million of new cross-currency
swaps were entered into at an average
rate of 4.4% and an average expiry of
4.0 years.
• R81.1 million of existing cross-currency
swaps were restructured which resulted
in an increase in the expiry of 2.25 years
with no impact on margin.
Post year-end, the Fund rolled R242 million
of three-month commercial paper at a
margin of 45bps and repaid R276 million
of corporate bonds. The Fund issued
corporate bonds for R150 million to replace
bonds of the same value, which matured in
June 2017.
The robustness of the Fund’s balance sheet
was further enhanced through the proactive
recycling of capital as a result of our
disposal of non-core assets, the issuance

The Fund’s corporate
rating was upgraded
to A(ZA), with a stable
outlook in August 2016
whilst the secured rating
was reaffirmed in April
2015 as AA-, with stable
outlook reinforcing
the Fund’s balance
sheet strength.
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Swaps (interest rate and cross-currency)

Balance at 31 March 2016

Drawn
R’m

Rate
%

Weighted
average
expiry
Years

4 524.0

7.72

3.6

Added during the year:
Swaps

663.0

7.87

4.8

Cross-currency swaps

366.4

4.44

4.0

(50.0)

(6.69)

–

5 503.4

7.73

3.2

Swaps rolling off during the year
Balance at 31 March 2017

The Fund has R578.7 million cross-currency swaps (‘CCS’) in place which equates to 44% of the value of investment in IAPF.

Debt
Debt facilities
Percentage
30
24

25

24
21

20
16

15

15
10

10

15
13

13

11

9

9
4

5
0
FY18
2016

FY19

FY20

FY21

FY22

FY23

0

0

FY24

FY25

4

FY26

2017

The debt expiry in 2018 comprises commercial paper of R242 million, corporate bonds of R426 million, of which R276 million was paid past
year-end; and general banking and headroom facilities of R70 million.

Sources of capital
Percentage
100

3%

80

4%

40%

41%

60
40
56%

56%
20

40%

34%

0
2016
Secured
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Bank

2016
Corporate bonds

2017

Commercial paper
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The Fund’s sustainability goals reflect a culture of continuous
advancement and reaffirm the belief that sustainability in its broadest
sense is about managing and positioning the business for the long term.
The Fund’s approach, in line with King III guidelines and its own business strategy,
reflects a balanced economic, social and environmental model resulting in
sustainable investments that provide financial growth in the long term.
The Fund has a strategy as to how it approaches sustainability with a focus on four key areas:

Risk
Mitigation

Implementation of solutions that
will provide continuity of electricity
and water supply to the Fund’s
buildings.

Managing the environmental impact of business has become
increasingly important to ensure business sustainability.
Benchmarking
The Fund users benchmarking in order to track and
manage utility consumption and to ultimately lower the
cost of occupation of every building. This allows the Fund
to evaluate sectoral results on a quarterly basis as well as
identify potential discrepancies early by tracking readings
against council to identify and act on any inconsistencies that
arise. Benchmarking is also a tool to identify opportunities in
buildings where initiatives may be implemented.
Green star rating
Currently, 75% of the base portfolio for commercial properties
is benchmarked against the Green Building Council of South
Africa’s ‘Energy and Water Benchmarking Tool’ and the
balance will be rated early in FY2018. The self-assessment
allows identification of buildings that require the least
intervention to achieve a green star rating.
Water leaks
The Fund also introduced a water leak management project at
Balfour Mall during the year, which was assessed at the end of
April. Thus far, the project has yielded positive results.

Renewable
Energy

Where feasible, implementation of
Solar PV projects on the Fund’s
buildings as well as exploring
other sources of renewable
energy.

In order to generate energy security and realise substantial
environmental benefits, the Fund is placing increasing
significance on implementing renewable energy in feasible
buildings in the portfolio. The Fund is committed to rolling out a
Solar PV project as explained on the following page, to Musina
Mall and Balfour Mall.
A number of other buildings are assessed with a view to
introduce solar plants where feasible.

Energy
and Water
Efficiency

Identify opportunities to reduce
energy and water usage in
the Fund’s buildings through
implementation of efficiency
interventions.

Sustainability initiatives proposed in the prior year with planned
commencement in FY2018, include a pilot air-conditioning
treatment project at Balfour Mall that will result in a reduction
of the electricity usage and an increase in the life of the plant.
Various energy efficient lighting initiatives have been launched.
These initiatives continue to be rolled out in properties where
payback is under three years and the yield is greater than 10%.
The Fund is considering implementing a rainwater harvesting
programme which will be rolled out on properties located in the
Western Cape. This initiative has been marked as high priority.
A waste management and minimisation project at Zevenwacht
Mall and Design Quarter was launched. Based on the success
and positive results from the above projects, the Fund is
considering rolling out the projects across feasible buildings in
the portfolio.

Utility
Management
(Monitoring)

The installation of bulk check
metering with remote access
across the Fund’s entire portfolio
to accurately measure electricity
and water consumption and verify
accuracy of municipal billing.

To ensure efficient use of utilities and to reduce the cost of
occupation of clients, electricity and water bulk check meters
were installed in the base office and industrial portfolios, as well
as at Design Quarter buildings. The remainder of buildings in
the base retail portfolio are expected to be completed in June
2017. These meter readers mirror the meter readings that are
done by the various municipalities and assist in improving utility
management in the following ways:
• Ensuring accurate utility consumption readings
• Providing reliable data for analysis and benchmarking
• Allow for proactive monitoring of utility consumption
• Allow for early detection of wastage such as water
leakages.
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Major clients I Checkers, House & Home, Mr Price
Fleurdal Mall, Bloemfontein

Carrying value
R376.3 million

GLA – 24 418m2

The Fund launched a
pilot solar project on the
rooftop at Fleurdal Mall in
Bloemfontein. The project
is performing in line with
projections, reducing
the cost of electricity by
generating solar power.
Fleurdal Mall was earmarked as the ideal
starting point for the Fund’s pilot solar
project due to its suitable roof structure and
sufficient levels of sunlight.

The Fleurdal project was completed in
November 2016, as planned, and is
performing as expected in substituting
20% of the building’s current energy
consumption while providing an effective
yield of 10.2%. This will reduce the Fund’s
cost base and once the capital invested
is redeemed, will also reduce the cost of
occupation for clients.

• R16 million capex
• Total system size 940kw peak
• 2 940 solar panels
• 1 525 004 kwh’s per annum
• 20% of annual energy usage of
the centre.

Based on the results of feasibility studies
conducted, and the success of the pilot
project at Fleurdal Mall, a solar power plant
will be initiated in Musina Mall in Limpopo
early in the next financial year. The Fund is
also currently conducting feasibility studies
on other buildings.

The project provides the following benefits:
• Improves the Fund’s carbon footprint
• Lowers the cost of energy consumption
• Low payback period relative to the life of the plant
• Reduces reliance on Eskom.
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AMP (previously
referred to as ‘The
Enterprise and
Supplier Development
Hub’) seeks to develop
small businesses in the
property or related
industries, by providing
capital outlay,
subsidised rental, and
skills transfer.
Broad-based black economic
empowerment
The Fund is committed to broad-based
black economic empowerment (BBBee)
including focusing on procurement
processes and those of its suppliers.
The Fund aims to ensure that its
procurement is done to maximise its
Bee rating.
The BEE charter was revised in
October 2013 and in line with that, a
revised Property Sector Charter was
published in October 2015. The revised
charter emphasises the development of
enterprises and suppliers.
The Fund has continued its commitment
to the principles of the Property Sector
Charter and implemented initiatives to
achieve the objectives of the revised code.

Enterprise and supplier
development project
The Fund has initiated a new project
known as AMP which provides premises
to eight black-owned small-to-medium
enterprises (‘Smmes’) in the industries that
provide services to the property industry.
The initiative seeks to develop small
businesses by providing the capital to
install offices, subsidising rental levels,
upskill the entrepreneurs, providing
preferential payment terms and launching
a mentorship programme of mentors from
Investec Property to foster the growth of
the businesses. These are all key in the
development of small enterprises.

AMP, Bryanston

Carrying value
R22.35 million

GLA – 1 494m2
The businesses selected to be a part
of AMP, support one another and
encourage the exchange of skills and
sustainable growth.
The Fund, through a rigorous selection
process, identified beneficiaries for the
project in interior design, construction and
other property-related industries. In addition
to providing office space, the Fund will
make use of the services of the Smmes in
the ordinary operations of the Fund as a
means to providing opportunities to grow
the Smmes.
Currently, space has been made available
for the AMP initiative in an office property
in Bryanston – an ideal location in a vibrant
and growing business node.
AMP went live in August 2016. Since its
introduction, the AMPreneurs have had the
opportunity to quote on projects as well as
complete projects for both the Fund and
outside parties, with Broll and JHI having
been briefed to ensure that Ampreneurs
are kept at the front of their minds when
sourcing suppliers for work. To date, the
value of contracts sourced from Broll and
JHI amounts to over R1 million.

• Black-owned businesses (minimum
51% ownership)
• Small, micro and medium sized
enterprises (SMMEs) with a turnover
below R50 million
• The enterprises must operate in the
industries that provide services to
the property industry.
In addition to the above projects, planning
in the market space is underway in
terms of branding and awareness for the
AMPreneurs, both internally and externally
to provide further opportunities.
In the future, there is a plan to extend the
current AMP space by 121m2 allowing for
the sourcing of four new Ampreneurs.
Ultimately, there is a plan to expand
AMP’s presence to Cape Town and
Durban. However, the initial focus is on
the JHB project until it is running efficiently
at full capacity.
Although still in its infancy, the Fund is
positive given the feedback received from
its property managers that the AMPreneurs
are benefiting from the experience and
hope to provide further mentorship and
opportunities in the year to come.
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Developing an understanding and continuously
building relationships, not only with clients,
but with the communities in which they
operate is one of the Fund’s underlying values.
The demographic and social change within
South Africa over the past few years provides
an opportunity to become increasingly involved
in other aspects of the community and contribute
towards the upliftment of communities within
South Africa.
The project aims to:
• Provide participants with an
understanding of business and
entrepreneurship
• Enable participants to develop and
manage a small business
• Sell their own products at a stand in
Balfour Mall.

During the current year, the Fund
contributed towards two additional
initiatives. These initiatives were chosen
because they addressed issues identified in
areas where IPF owns properties and aligns
with our strategic objective to ensure that
we consider the social, environmental and
financial aspect of our properties and the
surrounding areas.

Mini Enterprise Programme
With properties in the heart of communities
in Limpopo, Free State, Western Cape,
KwaZulu-Natal, North West and Gauteng,
IPF plays an important role in the upliftment
of its surrounding communities. South
Africa’s unemployment level measured
26.6% with 11.2 million children in South
Africa of school-going age and 245 000 of
these children unable to attend school. As
such, the Fund launched its Mini Enterprise
Programme.
The purpose of the entrepreneurship
programme is to provide them with a
tool to enter business management
in tertiary institutions. The programme
entails assisting learners in developing
an understanding of business and
entrepreneurship, whilst providing young
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people with the insight into what is required
to establish and manage a small business.
This initiative was piloted at Balfour Mall in
April 2015 as a collaboration between the
Fund, Investec CSI and Junior Achievement
South Africa. The programme ran for a
duration of 12 weeks and involved learners
who were between the ages of 16 and 18
from grades 10 to 12 from three schools
within the Balfour Mall catchment area.
Following its success, the programme has
been extended to a further four schools
within the surrounding communities of the
Fund’s properties in KwaZulu-Natal and the
Western Cape. There are currently 14 Mini
Enterprise companies formed amongst
the seven schools with a total reach of
280 students.
With the recent introduction of King IV,
sustainability and the concept of being a
responsible corporate citizen has never
been more emphasised. It is the Fund’s
goal to continue to ensure that its social

and environmental responsibilities are
discharged while still ensuring that it
invests in projects that are capable of
being economically and socially viable, and
providing a return to stakeholders over the
long term.

Green garden at Dihlabeng Mall
In October 2016, the Fund piloted a green
garden project at Dihlabeng Mall to uplift
and support the cleaning, gardening and
security staff as a reward for their hard work
and dedication to the Mall.
The first harvest was done in December
2016 and has since yielded produce on a
weekly basis by the basket, trolley and even
truck load.
The Fund is thrilled with the outcome
of this initiative, and have budgeted to
contribute with various other CSI initiatives
at Dihlabeng Mall in the 2018 financial year.
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Our stakeholders

The Fund considers and
takes into account the
needs of all stakeholders
in its operations.

Building trust and
credibility among our
stakeholders is vital to
good business.

Communication, public
disclosure obligations and
stakeholder relations

transparent, timely and accurate financial
and non-financial information to primary
stakeholders.

Identifying, engaging and building
relationships with our stakeholders
is an important strategic objective
of Investec Property Fund (‘IPF’ or
‘the Fund’), the board recognises that
effective communication is integral
to building stakeholders’ value and is
committed to providing meaningful,

The aim is to provide relevant
communication that enables stakeholders
to make meaningful assessments and
informed decisions about the Fund,
particularly investment decisions.

material matters of significant interest
and concern. The Fund will highlight key
risks, the potential impact of these risks
and how it intends to mitigate these
risks. The overall intention is to provide
a comprehensive and fair account of
the Fund’s performance for the period.

The Fund endeavours to present a
balanced and understandable assessment
of its financial position by addressing

The Fund complies with the disclosure
obligations contained in the JSE Listings
Requirements and with any public
disclosure obligations required by
the regulators.

HAS THE ABILITY TO IMPACT
General
Ability
Ability
business Financial
Client
to raise Company Revenue to create Cost
Property Cost of
capital valuation generation value structure retention environment reporting Sustainability valuation borrowing

Stakeholder group

Corporate governance and risk management

Our stakeholders

Shareholders

✓

✓

JSE

✓

✓

Analysts

✓

✓

Clients

✓

✓
✓

✓

Communities

✓

✓

Property managers

✓

✓

Funders

✓

Local and national
government
✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓
✓

✓

Regulators/Industry
business associations

Ratings agencies

✓
✓

✓
✓

✓

✓

✓

✓
✓

✓

The Manager

✓
✓

✓

Stakeholder engagement
Stakeholder group

Methods of engagement

Shareholders

The Fund’s main objective is to create value for its
shareholders, who in turn provide capital to the Fund.
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• Meetings, including the annual
general meeting
• Announcements, circulars and
annual reports
• Presentations
• IPF website
• Roadshows
• Press releases.

✓

Our stakeholders
(continued)
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Stakeholder group

04

Methods of engagement

The JSE

As a listed company, the Fund must comply with
the JSE Listings Requirements.
The company secretary and sponsor (the corporate
finance division of Investec Bank Limited) ensure that
the Fund meets its public disclosure obligations.

• Monitoring and responding
to developments in the
JSE Listings Requirements
• Meetings with the JSE
• Sponsor and audit and risk
committee engagement with
the JSE.

Analysts

Analysts provide the market with information about the
company. The Fund engages with analysts to provide
relevant, useful information.

• Presentations
• Announcements, circulars and
annual reports
• Meetings
• IPF website
• Press releases.

Debt ratings agencies

Debt rating agencies provide independent insight into the
ratings of the Fund’s debt. The Fund provides the necessary
information for the agencies to provide reasonable ratings.

• Annual reports
• Q&A sessions with key
management.

Clients

In line with Investec’s client-centric approach, the Fund
believes in building and maintaining strong mutually
beneficial relationships with its clients.

• Understanding the business and
identifying value-adding propositions
• Continued engagement at personal
and professional level
• Site visits
• Client surveys
• Events.

The ability to retain and attract clients impacts the
Fund’s sustainability, and is a key focus of the Fund.

Communities

Developing relationships within the communities where the
Fund owns assets provides upliftment to the communities
and improves the profitability of the asset within the node.

• Community upliftment projects
• Hosting of events at IPF’s premises
• Community meetings.

Property managers

The Fund makes use of the services of various property
managers to manage its property portfolio.

• Regular meetings with asset
managers
• Day-to-day communication
• Performance management
• Alignment with IPF strategy.

The property managers play a key role in the Fund’s
delivery of its strategy as well as in the Fund’s financial
reporting responsibility.

Funders

Funders enable the Fund to raise capital to take advantage
of opportunities to create and grow value.
The Fund manages the relationship with banks and other
debt providers closely so as to ensure that they can enjoy
continued financial backing and to mitigate refinance risk.

• Interaction with funders
• Reporting on covenants
• Financial information.

Regulators/Industry
business associations

As a REIT in South Africa, the Fund is subject to
various regulations including REIT legislation. Compliance
with legislation and its regulators is an important
function of the Fund. The Fund is also a member of the
REIT association.

•
•
•
•

Local and national
government

The national and local government have an impact on the
business environment of the Fund. Managing the relationship
between local municipalities is especially important, given the
fact that the Fund is a property owner.

• Monitor and respond to local and
national issues
• Engage council through the property
managers.

Member of REIT association
Regular reporting
Participation in events
Representation on REIT
sub-committees.

One of the key areas of impact for the Fund is through
the Fund’s Utility and Assessment rates management.

Suppliers

The Fund has established relationships with a broad array
of suppliers to ensure the operating efficiency of the portfolio
and that any issues encountered can be rectified in a
timely manner.

• Supplier interaction
• Supplier meetings.
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Corporate governance and risk management

Risk management framework
Risk
identification

Strategic, operational, insurance,
business continuity management,
legal, financial control and compliance

Performance
measurement

Risk
assessment

Strategy

In our ordinary
course of business
we face a number
of risks that
could affect our
business operations.

Capital management
and planning

Risk considerations

Operational risk

• Strategic risk

The framework for sound operational risk
management practices allows the Fund
to manage operational risk exposure
and events.

• Operational risk
• Insurance
• Business continuity management
• Legal risk
• Financial reporting risk
• Internal financial control
• Compliance risk.

The Fund’s comprehensive
risk management process
involves identifying,
quantifying, managing
and mitigating the risks
associated with the
business.
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Risk modelling
and quantification
and scenario
testing

Strategic risk
Strategic risk results from uncertainties
and untapped potential in carrying out
the Fund’s strategic intent. The board of
directors views strategic risk management
as a priority in the Fund’s governance, as
such, they have dedicated a significant
portion of their time to the management of
strategic risks.
The board and the audit and risk committee
are involved in monitoring this risk on an
ongoing basis. The risk register on pages
53 to 55 highlights some of the main risk
areas that have been agreed by the audit
and risk committee.

Policies and procedures have been
developed and are frequently reviewed
to ensure that operational risk is managed
in an appropriate and consistent manner.
With oversight from the board,
management implements and embeds
policies and procedures to manage
operational risk and ensures alignment
with the approved risk appetite.
Given the reliance of the Fund’s operations
on external property managers, the
Fund closely manages the controls
and processes in place by including
control requirements in the service level
agreements (‘SLAs’) and making use of
ongoing internal audit reviews to report
on risks and control deficiencies at
property managers.

Insurance
The Fund maintains the requisite insurance
to cover key insurable risks. The insurance
process and Risk Management process
ensure that there is an exchange of
information in order to enhance the
mitigation of operational risks.
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Risk management
(continued)

Business continuity

Legal risk

The Investec group conducts regular
exercises and testing of recovery
procedures to ensure that its recovery
capability remains appropriate.

Legal risk is the risk of loss resulting from
any of our rights not being fully enforceable
or from our obligations not being properly
performed. This includes our rights and
obligations under contracts and leases
entered into with counterparties.

In the event of a major disruption, an
incident management framework is used
to manage the disruption. Continuity
is achieved through an orchestrated
response, which includes relocating
impacted business to the designated
recovery site(s). Dedicated resources
ensure all governance processes are in
place with business and technology teams
responsible for activating and managing
the recovery process.
The Fund also insists that property
managers and service providers have
the appropriate contingency plans in
place, a key element that is included in
the SLAs.

We seek to actively mitigate these risks
by identifying them, setting standards for
their management and allocating clear
responsibility for such management,
as well as ensuring compliance through
proactive monitoring.
Overall accountability for this process
rests with the board. The board delegates
responsibility for implementation of the
process to management.

Financial reporting risk
Financial reporting risk is the risk that the
financial information reported by the Fund
does not comply with the International
Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’)
and the Companies Act, 2008 (Act No. 71
of 2008).
The board of directors has delegated the
responsibility of managing this risk to the
audit and risk committee. The audit and risk
committee is responsible for overseeing the
implementation of internal controls in order
to manage financial reporting risk.
External auditors provide reasonable
assurance on interim and year-end reporting.

Internal financial control
Internal financial controls are based on
established policies and procedures.
Management is responsible for
implementing internal financial controls
by ensuring that personnel are suitably
qualified, that appropriate segregation
exists between duties, and that there is
a suitable level of independent review.
These areas are monitored by the board
through the audit and risk committee
and are independently assessed by
internal audit.
Processes are in place to monitor internal
control effectiveness, identify and report
material breakdowns, and ensure that timely
and appropriate corrective action is taken.
The appropriate structure and control
framework is also in place at the property
managers, however, the ultimate
responsibility for the financial information
and internal financial control remains with
the Fund.

Compliance risk
Compliance risk is the risk that the Fund
fails to comply with requirements set out by
the regulatory bodies to which it is bound.
Compliance risk is managed through
internal processes and procedures which
include legal, regulatory and operational
requirements relevant to the business. More
details are set out on the following pages.
In addition to monitoring compliance with
the provisions prescribed by the respective
regulatory authorities, key compliance
functions include ensuring that the
business is not used for money laundering,
terrorist financing or market abuse, that
clients are fairly treated and afforded the
necessary consumer protections and
that conflicts of interests are adequately
identified and managed.
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Risk awareness, control and
compliance are embedded
in the Fund’s day-to-day
activities. By identifying risks
as strategic, operational,
financial or compliance
risks, the risks are assessed
more appropriately and
highlighted at the correct
forum. From there a process
begins to implement the
appropriate controls to
mitigate the risk to a
tolerable level.

04

04

Risk management
(continued)

Corporate governance and risk management

The Fund endeavours to
comply with the highest
professional standards
of integrity and behaviour,
always keeping the
interests of our clients
and stakeholders at the
forefront of the corporate
agenda.

Compliance
The Fund continually monitors its
compliance with the following charters,
acts and regulations.

Property sector charter
The board recognises that the objectives
of the charter are a vital component of
the overall sustainability of the company.
It is a stated intention, to develop strategies
that address each of the key components
of the charter.

Broad-Based Black
Economic Empowerment
Act, No 53 of 2003 (‘B-BBEE’)
The social and ethics committee is
responsible for overseeing implementation
of the objectives of the charter. In the year
under review, Empowerdex was mandated
to conduct a formal assessment. A formal
verification of the Fund’s B-BBEE status
took place in November 2016, with the
Fund receiving a level 3 accreditation.

Real Estate Investment Trust
(‘REIT’) legislation
The Fund remains fully compliant with all
enacted REIT legislation and regulations.
Management keeps abreast of all impacts
related to REIT status requirements
to ensure:
• At least 75% of distributable profits are
distributed
• Rental income is minimum 75% of
revenue
• Total liabilities do not exceed 60% of
assets
• A minimum of 75% of gross income
comprises rental income.
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Protection of Personal
Information Act (‘POPI’)
Once enacted in full, POPI will have a
material impact on all aspects of the Fund’s
business that concern the processing
of personal information in respect of
our clients. The regulations are expected
to be enacted by the end of 2017.

Competition Act, No 89 of 1998
All transactions in excess of the prescribed
thresholds require Competition Commission
approval. All notifications and applications
are dealt with by attorneys who specialise
in this field of law. During the current
year, two transactions were reviewed and
approved by the competition authorities.

Internal control
Risks and controls are reviewed and
monitored regularly for relevance and
effectiveness. The audit and risk committee
assists the board in this regard. Robust risk
management practices are promoted by
the group risk management function, which
is independent of operational management.
The board recognises its responsibility for
the overall risk and control framework and
for the ongoing review of its effectiveness.
Internal control is designed to mitigate,
not eliminate, significant risks faced.
It is recognised that such a system
provides reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material error, omission,
misstatement and loss. This is achieved
through a combination of risk identification,
evaluation and monitoring processes.
The Fund has put the appropriate decision
and oversight forums in place and makes
use of assurance and control functions
such as risk management, internal audit
and compliance. These processes are
ongoing and are revised when management
or the audit and risk committee
deems it necessary.
These ongoing processes were in place
throughout the year under review and up
to the date of approval of the integrated
annual report and accounts.

Internal audit reports any control
recommendations to executive
management and the audit and risk
committee. Appropriate processes,
including review by the audit and risk
committee, ensure that timely corrective
action is taken on matters raised by
internal audit.
Internal audit activity is governed by
an internal audit charter which is approved
by the audit and risk committee and is
reviewed annually. The charter defines the
purpose, authority and responsibilities of
the function.
The IPF resource in group internal audit
reports to the audit and risk committee and
has a direct reporting line to the chairman of
the audit and risk committee. He operates
independently of executive management
but has access to the chief executive officer
and the chief financial director. The IPF
resource in internal audit is responsible for
coordinating internal audit efforts to ensure
coverage is adequate and departmental
skills are leveraged to maximise efficiency.
Every year, internal audit conducts a formal
risk assessment of the entire business
from which a comprehensive risk-based
audit plan is derived. The assessment and
programme are validated by executive
management and approved by the audit
and risk committee.
Internal audit also liaises with the external
auditors and other assurance providers to
enhance efficiencies in terms of combined
assurance. The annual plan is reviewed
regularly to ensure it remains relevant and
responsive, given changes in the operating
environment. The audit and risk committee
approves any changes to the plan.
Significant control weaknesses are
reported, in terms of an escalation protocol,
to the assurance forums where remediation
procedures and progress are considered
and monitored in detail by management.
The audit and risk committee receives
report on significant issues and actions
taken by management to enhance
related controls. An update on the status
of previously raised issues is provided
by internal audit to the audit and risk
committee. If there are concerns in relation
to overdue issues these will be escalated to
the audit and risk committee.
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Risk
Operational risk due to
inadequate or failed
internal processes
Interest rate

Liquidity

Impact

Mitigation

• Loss or volatility of earnings

• Promotion of appropriate and relevant operational risk
management practices

• Reputational risk associated
with client queries or errors

• Effective controls in the Fund and at property managers

• Risk of misstatement in
relation to financial reporting.

• Budgeting/forecasts.

• Movements in interest
rates will result in increased
borrowing costs, and hence
reduce the distributable
earnings.

• 86% of the borrowings are hedged by interest rate swaps

• Inability to secure funding
from financial institutions and
shareholders.

• Manage cash flows and monitor the liquidity needs via accurate
forecasts of cash requirements

• Monitoring of the costs of borrowings and restructuring borrowings
whenever appropriate.

• Manage the maturity of debt to ensure evenly spread and early
refinance where possible
• Ensure there is a contingency funding plan (R300 million general
banking facility with Investec as well as a R300 million headroom
facility agreed with Standard Bank).

Capital allocation

• Acquisition of properties at
above market price

• The investment committee reviews and approves all investments
with reference to internal valuations and forecasts

• Holding investments where
yield is less than cost of
funding

• There is a detailed due diligence process in place

• Capital erosion
• Reduction of distributable
earnings.

Service levels of the
property managers

Lease expiries and
vacancies

• The Fund follows a fairly conservative approach in acquiring
properties that offer good value with consistent and reliable
income streams. The Fund considers the underlying property
fundamentals prior to an investment decision
• Investments neither expected to deliver value enhancing returns
nor are core to the portfolio, are disposed of.

• Client dissatisfaction and non- • Monitoring and managing SLAs with the property managers
outlining minimum service levels expected
renewal of leases
• Financial information received
from the property managers
may be incomplete or
inaccurate.

• Alignment of interest between property managers and the Fund

• Erosion of rental income and
increases in property holding
costs

• Monitoring the lease expiry profiles to ensure vacancies are known
in advance

• Increases in client installation
and letting commissions
• Potential of discounting the
rental rates to below market
rates.

• Feedback mechanism with clients
• Implementing processes and controls to early identify and rectify
where necessary.

• Asset management focus on client retention, renewals and new
lets
• Engagement with external brokers focusing on securing long-term
leases
• Interaction with clients to effect early renewals and reduce
concentration risk
• Continuous engagement with clients in order to foster an open and
constructive relationship.

Reputational risk and
conflicts of interest

• Reputation tarnished and
returns to shareholders
reduced

• Board of directors committed to integrity and honesty

• Board-approved policy statement in place to ensure that the Fund
complies with relevant public disclosure obligations and upholds
the board’s communication and disclosure philosophy
• Inappropriate investments due
to conflicts of interests
• Investment committee comprises a majority of independent
• Reputational risk arising from
ownership of properties.

directors to mitigate any potential conflicts of interest that may
arise when considering acquisition opportunities from the Investec
group
• If a potential conflict of interest does arise, the individual will
recuse himself/herself/themselves from any investment in the
decision-making.
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Risk
Property damage,
destruction and
relevance

Impact

Mitigation

• The Manager maintains adequate insurance to cover key insurable
• Unforeseen damage to
risks of the Fund
properties could increase
expenses and thus reduce the • Insurance policies are reviewed annually to ensure they are fully
distributable earnings
comprehensive and cover any associated loss as well
• Non-renewal of leases.
• The Fund remains aware of market trends both locally and globally
to ensure buildings are kept relevant
• Acquisition of buildings that will remain defensive assets in the
foreseeable future.

Regulatory and
compliance

• Potential non-compliance with • The board members comply with the highest professional
standards of integrity and behaviour
any regulatory requirements
may result in reputational risk • The Fund is supported by Investec Group compliance and
and possible penalties.
Investec Property Legal functions who ensure that the Fund and
the Manager continuously comply with existing and emerging
regulations that impact on its operations.

Information technology

• Leaks of information could
result in reputational risk and
loss of clients
• The Fund is a listed company
on the JSE and information
leaked could be considered
insider trading
• Loss of important
management information,
delays in billing and revenue
collection resulting in queries
and inaccurate expenses
• Hackers could access and
distribute IPF information
• Decisions may be made
based on inaccurate
information

• Strong controls are in place over information systems and data
management
• The Manager focuses on ensuring confidentiality, and integrity of
information
• Those with access to sensitive information are aware of the
confidentiality
• The Fund adheres to strict closed period rules in respect of share
trading prior to the release of financial information
• The Manager, Investec Group and property managers adopt risk
mitigation processes to mitigate the risk of severe operational
disruptions
• The Fund has allocated dedicated resources to apply best practice
IT governance to ensure data integrity and identify and solve
operational inefficiencies.

• Inefficient application of
human capital.

Foreign exchange

• Volatility of distributions from
investments in foreign entities
declaring distributions in
currencies other than Rands.

Increasing electricity
and utility costs and
the management
thereof

• The Fund has appointed a dedicated resource to focus on utility
• Rising electricity and utility
management and sustainability
cost have a negative impact
on the performance of the
• The Fund has conducted a benchmarking exercise and will use the
Fund and puts pressure on
results to improve energy and water efficiency of various buildings
clients, who bear these costs.
• The Fund has introduced a solar power plant at Fleural Mall,
It could result in lower lease
Bloemfontein with seven further such projects in the pipeline.
escalations and reversions
These projects will ensure stability and energy security
• Unreliability of municipal
• The Fund has introduced electricity and water bulk check meters
information provided could
across the office industrial portfolios to monitor consumption
result in processing of
closely and ensure that both resources are utilised efficiently.
inaccurate information.
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• Economic hedging strategies are implemented by taking out
forward exchange contracts and cross-currency swaps to offset
currency variation.
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B-BBEE

Impact

Mitigation

• Non-compliance with B-BBEE • The Fund understands the B-BBEE framework and how it is to be
applied and monitors its B-BBEE score closely
requirements may have
a bearing on the Fund’s
• It monitors its B-BBEE score. The Fund received a level 3
competitiveness.
accreditation from Empowerdex, after completing a formal
assessment for the past three financial years
• The Fund has implemented a new initiative known as
‘Project AMP’ whereby it provides opportunities to eight
black-owned small to medium enterprises that operate in
the property industry
• In conjunction with the greater Investec group the Fund is
implementing alternate strategies for B-BBEE implementation.

Sluggish economic
growth/stagflation

• Sluggish economic growth
and negative business
sentiment has put clients
under pressure, which in turn
leads to greater vacancies
and higher arrears, lower
escalations and reversions
negotiated.

• The Fund proactively monitors the performance of clients and
engages with them to gain an understanding of their business
• The majority of the Fund’s clients are A-grade clients.

Client, sector
and geographic
concentration

• A holistic analysis is undertaken of each property to ensure
• Over-reliance on certain
a complementary offering of products and services
cyclical industries where client
concentrations exist
• The portfolio is continuously monitored to avoid any
concentrations that may arise with respect to geography, sector
• Over-reliance on certain
or clients to ensure diversified exposure.
geographies.

Counterparty credit

• Increase in bad debts
resulting in less distributable
earnings.

• Screening new clients, including financial history
• Dealing mainly with large corporates, listed entities, professional
firms and national retailers
• Formal process to manage debtors
• The Fund uses provisioning to limit credit exposure.
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Corporate governance

Corporate governance and risk management

Sound corporate governance is a cornerstone
of the Fund’s values, culture, processes,
functions and organisational structure.
The business is structured in a manner
that ensures that the Fund’s values and
ethics remain embedded in all its business
processes. The Fund continually strives to
enhance these structures and processes and
a written statement of values serves as the
Fund’s code of ethics
Our values require that
directors and those
providing services to the
Fund act with integrity,
displaying consistent and
uncompromising moral
strength and conduct
in order to promote and
maintain trust amongst all
our stakeholders.

Our culture and values
Underpinning legislative, regulatory and
best practice requirements are Investec’s
values and philosophies which provide
the framework against which we measure
behaviour and conduct to ensure the
highest levels of corporate governance.

Board statement
The board, management and employees
of the Manager are fully committed to
complying with all applicable regulatory
requirements as well as the King Code
of Governance Principles for South
Africa (‘King III’). As a listed entity, the
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Fund is also obliged to comply with the
JSE Listings Requirements. Stakeholders
can rest assured at all times, that the Fund
is managed ethically and in compliance
with current legislation and regulation in
accordance with recognised best practice.
Given the common brand, the Investec
group’s values and philosophies are
the benchmark against which the Fund
measures behaviour and practices.
External service providers, including
property managers, are held to the
highest standards and these have been
incorporated into the relevant SLAs.

King III
The board is of the opinion that, in
the year under review, the Fund has
complied with the majority of the King
III principles. This is evidenced by the
information disclosed throughout this
report. An overview of all the principles and
the extent of their application is illustrated
on pages 64 to 66.
The Fund does not comply with King III’s
principle 2.16 that states that the chairman
should be an independent non-executive
director. The Fund has, however,
appointed Moses Ngoasheng as the lead
independent director.

One area of development is that of
sustainability reporting. The Fund continues
to recognise its importance and the need
for the verification thereof.
This is a key area of focus for the Fund
going forward. As such, the Fund has
employed a permanent resource to
spearhead future sustainability initiatives
as well as engaged the services of
independent agents to assist in this regard.
Some of the projects commissioned for the
next 12 months are reflected on page 43.
King IV was published in November 2016
and became effective from 1 April 2017.
Whereas King III focused on an ‘apply or
explain’ principle, King IV adopts the ‘apply
and explain’ approach. King IV focuses on
six key aspects, namely:
• integrated thinking
• corporate citizenship
• stakeholder inclusivity
• sustainable development
• integrated reporting
• the organisation as an integral part of
society.
IPF will adopt King IV in the forthcoming
financial year.
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The board

04

Stakeholders

(shareholders, regulators, clients, suppliers, communities)

• Approves the Fund’s strategy
• Ensures that the Fund complies with
the applicable laws and considers
adherence to non-binding rules and
standards
• Is responsible for the governance of risk,
including that of information technology
(‘IT’)

Board of directors
Audit and risk
committee

• Acts as a focal point for and custodian
of corporate governance

Social and ethics
committee

Investment
committee

Nominations
committee

Audit and compliance
implementation forums

• Provides effective leadership based on
an ethical foundation
• Ensures the Fund is and is seen to be a
responsible corporate citizen.
Internal audit

Compliance

Governance framework
The Fund has adopted a risk and
governance structure which allows it
to operate effectively through the various
board committees.
A diagram of the governance framework
is depicted above. The roles and
responsibilities of the various board
committees can be found on pages 62 and
63 of the corporate governance report.

The board of directors
The board is ultimately responsible
for the financial performance and
corporate governance of the Fund.
The board, together with the constituted
board committees, is responsible for
assessing and managing risk policies
and philosophies, ensuring appropriate
internal controls, overseeing major capital
expenditure, acquisitions and disposals,
approving the establishment of businesses
and approving the introduction of new
products and services. In fulfilling its
responsibilities, the board together with
management implements the plans
and strategies.

External auditors

The board seeks to exercise leadership,
integrity and judgement in pursuit
of strategic goals and objectives, to
achieve long-term sustainability, growth
and prosperity of the Fund. It provides
leadership within a framework of prudent
and effective controls which ensures that
risks are assessed and properly managed.
The board is guided by a board charter,
which provides a framework within which
the board operates as well as the type of
decisions to be taken by the board and
which decisions should be delegated to
management.
The board meets its objectives by reviewing
and guiding corporate strategy, setting
values and promoting high standards of
corporate governance, approving key
policies and objectives and ensuring that
obligations to its shareholders and other
stakeholders are understood and met.
By understanding the key risks, determining
our risk tolerance and approving and
reviewing the processes in operation,
the board seeks to mitigate risk.
Certain matters are specifically reserved
for the board. To achieve its objectives,
the board may delegate certain of its duties
and functions to various board committees,
or to executive management, without
abdicating its own responsibilities.
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Corporate governance and risk management

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the board is
supported by management in implementing the
plans and strategies approved by the board.
The board has formally defined and
documented, by way of terms of reference,
the authority it has delegated to the various
board committees.
Furthermore, directly or through its
committees, the board:
• Assesses the quantitative and qualitative
aspects of performance through a
comprehensive system of financial and
non-financial monitoring that involves
an annual budget process, detailed
quarterly reporting, regular review of
forecasts and regular management of
strategic and operational updates;

• Assisted by the audit and risk
committee, ensures appropriate IT
governance processes are in place,
and ensures that the process is aligned
to the performance and sustainability
objectives of the board;
• Ensures information assets are
managed effectively;
• Ensures the appropriate risk
governance, including IT, are in place
including continual risk monitoring by
management, determines the levels of
risk tolerance and that risk assessments
are performed on a continual basis;

• Approves annual budgets, capital plans,
projections and business plans;

• Ensures the integrity of the company’s
integrated annual report;

• Monitors compliance with relevant
laws, regulations and codes of
business practice;

• Ensures the induction and ongoing
training and development of directors;
and

• Ensures there are processes in place
that enables complete, timely, relevant,
accurate and accessible risk disclosure
to stakeholders and monitors our
communication with all stakeholders
to ensure transparent and effective
communication;

• Evaluates the performance of senior
management and considers succession
planning.

• Identifies and monitors key risk areas
and key performance indicators;
• Reviews processes and procedures
to ensure the effectiveness of internal
systems of control;
• Ensures we adopt sustainable business
practices, including our social and
environmental activities;
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Independent
Non-independent

63%
37%

Tenure

Membership

Re-election of board members

During the course of the year under
review, the board comprised two executive
directors and eight non-executive directors.
At 31 March 2017, the board was
compliant with Chapter 2, Principle 2.18 of
King III in that the majority of non-executive
directors were independent.

In accordance with the Memorandum of
Incorporation, at least one-third of the
non-executive directors will offer
themselves for re-election at each annual
general meeting.

Chairman and chief executive
officer

The board is further of the view that none
of the current non-executive directors has
served on the board for a period which
materially interferes with their ability to act
in the Fund’s best interests. The board is
of the view that the non-executive directors
are independent of management and
promote the interests of stakeholders.
The balance of executive and non-executive
directors is such that there is a clear division
of responsibility to ensure a balance of
power, such that no one individual or group
can dominate board processes or have
unfettered powers of decision-making.

The roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer are distinct and separate
with a clear division of responsibilities
that has been approved by the board.
The chairman leads the board and is
responsible for ensuring that the board
receives accurate, timely and clear
information to ensure that directors can
perform their duties effectively.

Lead independent director
Moses Ngoasheng is the lead independent
director (‘LID’) appointed in accordance
with King III to overcome any potential
issues arising from the lack of an
independent chairman. He is available to
address any concerns or questions from
shareholders and non-executive directors.
0 — 1 year
1 — 3 years
3 — 6 years

10%
30%
60%

Directors

Company secretary
The company secretarial role is performed
by Investec Bank Limited. Niki van Wyk
oversees the company secretarial services
rendered by Investec Bank Limited to
Investec Property Fund Limited.
Ms Van Wyk is not a director nor a
shareholder of the Fund and the board is
of the opinion that Ms van Wyk maintains
an arm’s length relationship with the board
and the individual directors as envisaged by
the JSE Listings Requirements. The board
maintains the view that she is suitably
qualified, competent and experienced.

Non-executive directors
Executive directors

80%
20%

The company secretary is responsible for
the flow of information to the board and its
committees and for ensuring compliance
with board procedures. All directors have
access to the advice and services of the
company secretary whose appointment
and removal is a board matter.

Tenure

Skills, knowledge, experience
and attributes of directors
The board considers that the skills,
knowledge, experience and attributes
of the directors as a whole to be
appropriate for them to fulfil their
responsibilities and Fund’s activities.
The directors bring a range of skills to the
board including:
• international business and operational
experience
• understanding of the economics of the
sectors in which the Fund operates
• knowledge of the regulatory
environments in which the
Fund operates
• financial, accounting, legal and property
experience and knowledge.
The skills and experience profile of the
board and its committees are regularly
reviewed to ensure an appropriate and
relevant composition from a governance,
succession and effectiveness perspective.

Independent advice
Through the chairman or the company
secretary, individual directors are entitled
to seek professional independent advice
on matters relating to the exercise of their
duties and responsibilities, at the expense
of the Fund.
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Corporate governance and risk management

Board and directors’
performance evaluation
The performance of the board, its
committees and individual directors are
formally evaluated on an annual basis
against recognised standards of corporate
governance and covers all areas of the
board’s processes and responsibilities.

Board meetings

duties, responsibilities and expected
time commitments, details of our policy
on obtaining independent advice and,
where appropriate, details of the board
committees of which the non-executive
director is a member.

The board of the Fund meets at least four
times annually. During the year ended
31 March 2017, the board had five
meetings.

Ongoing training and
development

The performance evaluation process
was conducted independently during
the year under review through evaluation
questionnaires and one-on-one meetings
with each director to discuss personal
observations and in particular, to seek
comments on strengths and developmental
areas of the members, the chairman and
the board as a whole.

Directors’ ongoing training and
development is a standing board agenda
item, including updates on various training
and development initiatives.

Individual training and development
needs are discussed with each board
member and any requests for training are
communicated to the company secretary
for implementation.

Board committees and
responsibilities

Terms of appointment
On appointment, non-executive directors
are provided with a letter of appointment.
The letter sets out, among other things,

Board members receive regular formal
presentations on regulatory and governance
matters as well as on the business and
support functions.

The board is empowered to delegate to
various board and executive committees.
The committees have specific terms of
reference, appropriately skilled members
and access to specialist advice when
necessary.

The chairman is responsible for setting the
agenda for each meeting, in consultation
with the chief executive officer and the
company secretary. Comprehensive
information packs on matters to be
considered by the board are provided to
the directors in advance of the meetings.

Board diversity
The board believes that diversity in terms
of a broad range of skills, experience,
background and outlook is required for
it to be effective. While non-executive
appointments are based on merit
and overall suitability for the role, the
nominations committee is mindful of
all aspects of diversity when making
recommendations for appointment to the
board. The board recognises that gender
is an important aspect of diversity and as
such has an aspirational target of 40%
female representation on the board.

Attendance
Audit
and risk
committee

Investment
committee*

Independent

Years of
service°

Nicholas P Riley
(chief executive officer)

No

2 years

5 (5)

^

^

Andrew R Wooler
(chief financial officer)

No

1 year, 8 months

5 (5)

^

^

Sam Hackner (chairman)

No

6 years

5 (5)

1 (1)

Samuel R Leon
(deputy chairman)

No

6 years

5 (5)

1 (1)

Luigi LM Giuricich

No

4 years, 4 months

5 (5)

Philip A Hourquebie1

Yes

7 months

3 (3)

Suliman Mahomed

Yes

4 years, 11 months

4 (5)

Constance M Mashaba

Yes

5 years, 6 months

5 (5)

Directors

Board

Social
and ethics
committee

Nominations
committee

Executive
2 (2)
^

Non-executive
2 (2)

1 (1)
2 (2)
1 (1)
4 (4)

2 (2)

Moses M Ngoasheng

Yes

5 years, 6 months

3 (5)

3 (4)

Graham R Rosenthal2

Yes

5 years, 7 months

2 (2)

2 (2)

1 (1)

2 (2)

1 (1)

2 (2)

Khumo L Shuenyane3

Yes

1 year, 10 months

5 (5)

4 (4)

1 (1)

Appointed as director 16 August 2016.
Retired as director 15 August 2016.
3
Appointed to the nominations committee 8 November 2016.
*	Various resolutions were passed by the investment committee during the current year and some transactions were approved at the board meetings held
(which was attended by the investment committee members).
^
Attend as invitee.
°
From the latter of the listing date 14 April 2011 and appointment.
1
2
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Directors’ dealings in the securities
of the Fund is subject to a policy
based on regulatory requirements and
governance best practice. All directors’
dealings require the prior approval of the
compliance function and the chairman
or, in the chairman’s absence, the LID or
another independent director. All dealings
of persons discharging management
responsibilities require approval by
executive management and the compliance
division of Investec.

Remuneration

of its own. The executive directors are not
remunerated by the Fund. Instead, they
are remunerated by the Manager, which
in turn derives its income from the asset
management fee paid to the Manager by
the Fund.
The remuneration for non-executive
directors is determined according to the
number of board and sub-committee
meetings attended by the non-executive
directors during the financial year. The fees
payable to the non-executive directors are
fully disclosed and subject to approval of
the company’s shareholders.

The board is required
to confirm that it is
satisfied that the Fund
has adequate resources
to continue in business
for the foreseeable
future.

Fees paid to Sam Hacker and Sam Leon
are borne by the Manager and not by
the Fund.

Details of directors’ remuneration is set
out below.
The Fund is managed by an external
management company, the Manager, and
therefore has no employees or personnel

The proposed remuneration of the non-executive directors for the year ended 31 March
2018 is set out below.
Audit Social and
and risk
ethics Investment Nominations
Board committee committee committee committee Committee
meeting* meeting*
meeting*
meeting*
meeting resolutions
Amount
*

R30 680

R18 406

R18 406

R18 406

R18 406

R6 142

An additional R6 138 is paid to the chairman of these meetings.

Financial reporting and
going concern
The assumptions underlying the going
concern statement are discussed at the
time of the approval of the annual financial
statements by the board. These include:
• Budgeting and forecasts
• Profitability
• Capital
• Liquidity.
In addition, the directors are responsible for
monitoring and reviewing the preparation,
integrity and reliability of the annual financial
statements, accounting policies and the
information contained in the integrated
annual report.
In undertaking this responsibility, the
directors are supported by an ongoing
process for identifying, evaluating and

managing the risks associated with
preparing financial and other information
contained in this integrated annual report.
The process is implemented by executive
management and independently monitored
for effectiveness by the audit and risk and
other sub-committees of the board.

• accounting policies

Our annual financial statements are
prepared on a going concern basis, taking
into consideration:

The board is of the opinion, based on its
knowledge of the workings of the Fund
and in consideration of the key processes
in operation and specific enquiries, that
there are adequate resources to support
the Fund as a going concern for the
foreseeable future.

• the Fund’s strategy and prevailing
market conditions and business
environment
• nature and complexity of our business
• risks, management and mitigation
• key business and control processes
in operation

• corporate governance practices
• desire to provide relevant and clear
disclosures
• operation of board committee support
structures.

Furthermore, the board is of the opinion
that the risk management processes and
systems of internal control are effective.

• credit rating and access to capital
• the needs of stakeholders
• operational soundness
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Corporate governance and risk management

Executive
directors
Nicholas P Riley
(Chief executive officer)
Andrew R Wooler
(Chief financial officer)

Investec Property
Fund Limited board
committees

Board of directors

Remuneration committee

Audit and risk committee

Major roles and
responsibilities
• Approves the Fund’s strategy
• Ensures that the Fund complies with
all applicable laws

Non-executive
directors
Sam Hackner
(Chairman)

• Is responsible for the governance of
risk, including that of IT
• Acts as focal point for, and custodian
of, corporate governance
• Provides effective leadership based
upon an ethical foundation

Samuel R Leon
(Deputy chairman)

• Approves the terms of reference
of board committees

Philip A Hourquebie*

• Ensures the Fund operates as a
responsible corporate citizen.

Luigi LM Giuricich
Suliman Mahomed*

Social and ethics committee

Nominations committee

Constance M Mashaba*
Moses M Ngoasheng*
(Lead independent director)
Khumo L Shuenyane*
*

Independent.

Investment committee
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The board is of the view that a remuneration
committee is not required. The operations
of the Fund are undertaken by the
Manager; accordingly the Fund does

not have any employees. The executive
directors are employed by the Manager and
are not remunerated for their services as
directors of the Fund. The remuneration of

the non-executive directors is determined
by the board.

The audit and risk committee’s role and
responsibilities include:

• Reviewing internal audit plans, reports,
capacity and capability

• Ensuring the expertise and experience
of the financial director is appropriate

• Reviewing reports, annual financial
statements and the integrated annual
report

• Ensuring compliance with legal
requirements, accounting standards and
the JSE Listings Requirements

• Ensuring the effectiveness of the internal
financial controls

• Reviewing the appropriateness of
accounting policies and applications

• Ensuring the finance functions of the
Manager, as it pertains to the Fund,
is adequately skilled, resourced and
experienced

• Overseeing the external audit process
• Considering the external audit scope
Since the functions of the committee are
universal in nature, the board resolved to
constitute the committee to monitor the
activities of the Fund.

risk committee and the social and ethics
committee.

There is a significant degree of overlap
between matters dealt with by the audit and

The chairman of the audit and risk
committee, or his delegate, is tasked with
tabling a report at the social and ethics
committee to give assurance in relation to

The nominations committee’s role and
responsibilities include:

• Establishing and maintaining a board
directorship continuity programme to:

• Identifying and nominating suitable
candidates to fill vacancies on the board
• Determining and evaluating
the adequacy, efficiency and
appropriateness of the corporate
governance structure and practices

–– review the performance of and
planning for successors to the
executive directors and chairperson
of the board
–– ensure the continued presence of
non‑executive directors
–– conduct an annual self-assessment
of the board

The investment committee’s role and
responsibilities include:

–– development or redevelopment
opportunities

• Review and approval of any proposed:

–– any other investments or disposal
for which the board may require
investment committee approval

–– acquisitions or disposals of
investment properties or related
investments

• Ensuring that the external auditors are
independent.
• Review of risk process and key risk
areas.

the compliance function, control framework,
procedure and processes, as well as any
other matters where there may be an
overlap with issues dealt with by the audit
and risk committee, or attending meetings
of the social and ethics committee to
provide feedback.

• Regularly reviewing the structure, size
and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity)
of the board
• Making recommendations to the board
with regard to any proposed board
changes
• Making recommendations to the board
for the retention of a current director.

• Ensuring all investment proposals
approved by them are in the best
interests of the Fund
• Assessment of whether any
proposed deal is capable of causing
significant risk, conflict of interest or
embarrassment to the Fund.
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Principle
number Description status

Status

Ethical leadership and corporate citizenship
1.1

The board should provide effective leadership based on an ethical foundation.

✓

1.2

The board should ensure that the company is and is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen.

✓

1.3

The board should ensure that the company’s ethics are managed effectively.

✓

Boards and directors
2.1

The board should act as the focal point for and custodian of corporate governance.

✓

2.2

The board should appreciate that strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable.

✓

2.3

The board should provide effective leadership based on an ethical foundation.

✓

2.4

The board should ensure that the company is and is seen to be a responsible corporate citizen.

✓

2.5

The board should ensure that the company’s ethics are managed effectively.

✓

2.6

The board should ensure that the company has an effective and independent audit and risk committee.

✓

2.7

The board should be responsible for the governance of risk.

✓

2.8

The board should be responsible for IT governance.

✓

2.9

The board should ensure that the company complies with applicable laws and considers adherence to
non‑binding rules, codes and standards.

✓

2.10

The board should ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal audit.

✓

2.11

The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect the company’s reputation.

✓

2.12

The board should ensure the integrity of the company’s integrated annual report.

✓

2.13

The board should report on the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal controls.

✓

2.14

The board and its directors should act in the best interests of the company.

✓

2.15

The board should consider business rescue proceeding or other turnaround mechanisms as soon as the
company is financially distressed as defined in the Companies Act.

✓

The board should elect a chairman of the board who is an independent non-executive director. The CEO of
the company should not also fulfil the role of chairman of the board.

✓1

2.17

The board should appoint the chief executive officer and establish a framework for the delegation of authority.

✓

2.18

The board should comprise a balance of power, with a majority of non-executive directors. The majority of
non‑executive directors should be independent.

✓

2.19

Directors should be appointed through a formal process.

✓

2.20

The induction of and ongoing training and development of directors should be conducted through formal
processes.

✓

2.21

The board should be assisted by a competent, suitably qualified and experienced company secretary.

✓

2.22

The evaluation of the board, its committees and the individual directors should be performed every year.

✓

2.16

1
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The board fulfils the King III recommendation with the exception of the chairman being independent, however, a LID was appointed in the form of an
independent non-executive director, as required in the case where the chairman is not independent.
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Corporate governance and risk management

Principle
number Description status

04
Status

The board should delegate certain functions to well-structured committees, but without abdicating its own
responsibilities.

✓

2.24

A governance framework should be agreed between the group and its subsidiary boards.

✓

2.25

Companies should remunerate directors and executives fairly and responsibly.

✓

2.26

Companies should disclose the remuneration of each individual director and certain senior executives.

✓

2.27

Shareholders should approve the company’s remuneration policy.

✓

Audit and risk committee
3.1

The board should ensure that the company has an effective and independent audit and risk committee.

✓

3.2

Audit and risk committee members should be suitably skilled and experienced independent non-executive
directors.

✓

3.3

The audit and risk committee should be chaired by an independent non-executive director.

✓

3.4

The audit and risk committee should oversee integrated annual reporting.

✓

3.5

The audit and risk committee should ensure that a combined assurance model is applied to provide a
coordinated approach to all assurance activities.

✓

The audit and risk committee should satisfy itself of the expertise, resources and experience of the company’s
finance function.

✓

3.7

The audit and risk committee should be responsible for overseeing the internal audit.

✓

3.8

The audit and risk committee should be an integral component of the risk management process.

✓

3.9

The audit and risk committee is responsible for recommending the appointment of the external auditor and
overseeing the external audit process.

✓

The audit and risk committee should report to the board and shareholders on how it has discharged its
duties.

✓

3.6

3.10

The governance of risk
4.1

The board should be responsible for the governance of risk.

✓

4.2

The board should determine the levels of risk tolerance.

✓

4.3

The risk committee or audit and risk committee should assist the board in carrying out its risk responsibilities.

✓

4.4

The board should delegate to management the responsibility to design, implement and monitor the risk
management plan.

✓

4.5

The board should ensure that risk assessments are performed on a continual basis.

✓

4.6

The board should ensure that the frameworks and methodologies are implemented to increase the probability
of anticipating unpredictable risks.

✓

4.7

The board should ensure that management considers and implements appropriate risk responses.

✓

4.8

The board should ensure continual risk monitoring by management.

✓

4.9

The board should receive assurance regarding the effectiveness of the risk management process.

✓

4.10

The board should ensure that there are processes in place enabling complete, timely, relevant, accurate and
accessible risk disclosure to stakeholders.

✓
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Principle
number Description status

Status

The governance of information technology
5.1

The board should be responsible for IT governance.

✓

5.2

IT should be aligned with the performance and sustainability objectives of the company.

✓

5.3

The board should delegate to management the responsibility for the implementation of an IT governance
framework.

✓

5.4

The board should monitor and evaluate significant IT investments and expenditure.

✓

5.5

IT should form an integral part of the company’s risk management.

✓

5.6

The board should ensure that information assets are managed effectively.

✓

5.7

A risk committee and audit and risk committee should assist the board in carrying out its IT responsibilities.

✓

Compliance with laws, codes, rules and standards
6.1

The board should ensure that the company complies with applicable laws and considers adherence to nonbinding rules, codes and standards.

✓

The board and each individual director should have a working understanding of the effect of the applicable
laws, rules, codes and standards on the company and its business.

✓

6.3

Compliance risk should form an integral part of the company’s risk management process.

✓

6.4

The board should delegate to management the implementation of an effective compliance framework and
processes.

✓

6.2

Internal audit
7.1

The board should ensure that there is an effective risk-based internal audit.

✓

7.2

Internal audit should follow a risk-based approach to its plan.

✓

7.3

Internal audit should provide a written assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal
control and risk management.

✓

7.4

The audit and risk committee should be responsible for overseeing internal audit.

✓

7.5

Internal audit should be strategically positioned to achieve its objectives.

✓

Stakeholder relationships
8.1

The board should appreciate that stakeholders’ perceptions affect a company’s reputation.

✓

8.2

The board should delegate to management to proactively deal with stakeholder relationships.

✓

8.3

The board should strive to achieve the appropriate balance between its various stakeholder groupings, in the
best interests of the company.

✓

8.4

Companies should ensure the equitable treatment of shareholders.

✓

8.5

Transparent and effective communication with stakeholders is essential for building and maintaining their trust
and confidence.

✓

The board should ensure that disputes are resolved as effectively, efficiently and expeditiously as possible.

✓

8.6

Integrated reporting and disclosure
9.1

The board should ensure the integrity of the company’s integrated annual report.

✓

9.2

Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be integrated with the company’s financial reporting.

✓

9.3

Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be independently assured.

X2

2
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Please refer to page 56 for more detail.
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Directors’ responsibility statement

Consolidated annual financial statements

The directors are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated annual fina ncial statements
of Investec Property Fund Limited. (‘IPF’ or
‘the Fund’).
These financials comprise:
• Directors’ report
• Statement of comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 March 2017
• Statement of financial position at
31 March 2017
• Statement of changes in equity for the
year ended 31 March 2017
• Statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 March 2017
• Notes to the annual financial statements,
which include a summary of significant
accounting policies and other
explanatory notes
in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) and the
requirements of the Companies Act, as
amended.
The directors are also responsible for
such internal controls as they determine
necessary to enable the preparation of
annual financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate

accounting records and an effective system
of risk management.
The directors have made an assessment
of the ability of the company to continue
as a going concern and have no reason to
believe that the business will not be a going
concern in the year ahead.
The auditor is responsible for reporting on
whether the annual financial statements
are fairly presented in accordance with the
applicable financial reporting framework.

Approval of the
company’s annual
financial statements
The annual financial statements of Investec
Property Fund Limited, as identified in
the first paragraph, were approved by the
board of directors on 23 June 2017 and are
signed on their behalf by:

Sam Hackner
Chairman

Nicholas Riley
Chief executive officer

23 June 2017
Sandton

Certificate of company secretary
In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (the Act), we hereby certify that the company has filed the
required returns and notices in terms of the Act for the financial year ended 31 March 2017 and that, to the best of our knowledge and
belief, all such returns and notices are true, correct and up to date.

Niki van Wyk
Company secretary
Investec Bank Limited
23 June 2017
Sandton
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders
of Investec Property Fund Limited

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated annual
financial statements of Investec Property
Fund Limited (hereafter the ‘’group’’) set out
on pages 76 to 107, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2017, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated annual financial
statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the consolidated annual
financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the group as at 31 March 2017,
and its consolidated financial performance
and consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act of
South Africa.

Basis for opinion

Key audit matters

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing
(‘ISAs’). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated annual financial
statements section of our report. We are
independent of the group in accordance
with the Independent Regulatory Board
for Auditors Code of Professional
Conduct for Registered Auditors (‘IRBA
Code’), the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (‘IESBA code’)
and other independence requirements
applicable to performing audits of Investec
Property Fund Limited. We have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IRBA Code, IESBA Code, and in
accordance with other ethical requirements
applicable to performing the audit of
Investec Property Fund Limited. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in
our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated
annual financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated
annual financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

Key audit matter

We have fulfilled the responsibilities
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated annual
financial statements section of our report,
including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated
annual financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the
matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated annual financial statements.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment properties
The group’s investment properties including those
classified as held-for-sale, measured at fair value, comprise
91% of total assets of the Investec Property Fund
Limited group as at 31 March 2017. We have considered
the valuation of the properties to be an area of most
significance with due consideration to the subjective nature
of the valuations which are dependent on certain key
assumptions (expected rental value, equivalent yield and
long-term vacancy rates).
The disclosures are set out in the consolidated annual
financial statements in note 11.1 Investment Property,
note 12 Non-current assets held-for-sale and note 27.4
Valuation techniques used to derive level 3 fair values.

• Our procedures included, among others, the following:
• We have assessed whether management have appropriately engaged
an external appraiser to externally value every property on a three year
rotational basis as required by the JSE Listing Requirements.
• We have considered the objectivity, independence and expertise of the
external appraisers.
• We have assessed the expertise of the internal appraisers.
• We have assessed the valuation methodology used by management
and the external appraisers, and compared it to industry norms
and the requirements in International Financial Reporting Standards
(‘IFRS’).
• We have assessed the reasonableness of management’s valuations
by comparing it to our recalculated valuations using assumptions from
independent sources and inputs from supporting documentation.
•

In addition to the procedures above, we have also assessed the
completeness and accuracy of the disclosures for compliance with the
requirements of IFRS.

Investec Property Fund Limited integrated annual report and financial statements 2017

69

Consolidated annual financial statements

Report on the audit of
the consolidated annual
financial statements

05

05

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders
of Investec Property Fund Limited
(continued)
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the
other information. The other information
comprises the Directors’ report, the
Report of the audit and risk committee
and the Certificate of company secretary
as required by the Companies Act of
South Africa. Other information does not
include the consolidated annual financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated annual
financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express
an audit opinion or any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the
consolidated annual financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated annual
financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed
on the other information obtained prior
to the date of this auditor’s report,
we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors
for the consolidated annual
financial statements
The directors are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of
the consolidated annual financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and
the requirements of the Companies Act of
South Africa, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated
annual financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated annual
financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated annual
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
annual financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated
annual financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs,
we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated annual
financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control. Obtain
an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the group’s internal
control.

to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated
annual financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause
the group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation,
structure and content of the
consolidated annual financial
statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated annual
financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express
an opinion on the consolidated annual
financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the
directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of
the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the group’s ability
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders
of Investec Property Fund Limited
(continued)

We also provide the directors with a
statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with
the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated annual
financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Consolidated annual financial statements

We communicate with the directors
regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

05

Report on other
legal and regulatory
requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in
Government Gazette Number 39475 dated
4 December 2015, we report that Ernst &
Young Inc. has been the auditor of Investec
Property Fund Limited for nine years.

Ernst & Young Inc.
Director – Ernest van Rooyen
Registered Auditor
Chartered Accountant (SA)
23 June 2017
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The audit and risk committee of the Fund
has pleasure in submitting this report to
shareholders as required by the Companies
Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (the
Companies Act) and as recommended by
the King III Code of Governance Principles
for South Africa (the King III Code).
 he activities of the audit
T
and risk committee (the
committee), which comprises
four independent non-executive
directors, are determined by its
terms of reference and mandate
as set out on pages 62 and 63.
The committee is satisfied that it
has considered and discharged its
responsibilities in terms of its mandate and
terms of reference, the King III Code and
the Companies Act.
The committee carried out its duties by,
inter alia, reviewing the following:
• Internal audit reports
• Financial management reports
• Information technology reports
pertaining to financial reporting

• With the nomination of Ernst & Young
Inc. as independent auditors to continue
in office until the conclusion of the 2017
annual general meeting
• The company has complied with
the majority of the principles of the
King III Code and the JSE Listings
Requirements
• It considered and approved the audit
fee payable to the external auditors in
respect of the audit for the year ended
31 March 2017 as well as their terms of
engagement and scope of the audit
• That the appointment of the external
auditor is in compliance with the
Companies Act, the Auditing
Professions Act and the JSE Listings
Requirements
• With the effectiveness of the internal
audit function and that the system
of internal financial control in all key
material aspects is effective and
provides reasonable assurance that the
financial records may be relied upon for
the preparation of the annual financial
statements
• With the expertise and experience of
the financial director and the overall
adequacy and appropriateness of the
finance function.

• External audit reports
• Management’s enterprise risk
assessment.
The abovementioned information, together
with interaction with the external and
internal auditors, management and other
invitees attending meetings in an ex
officio capacity, enabled the committee to
conclude that the risk management process
and systems of internal financial control
have been designed and were operating
effectively during the year.

The committee, having fulfilled the oversight
role regarding the reporting process and
the integrated annual report, recommends
the integrated annual report and the annual
financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2017 for approval by the board
of directors.

The committee is satisfied:
• Its members have the requisite financial
skills and experience to contribute to its
deliberations
• With the independence and
effectiveness of the external auditor,
including the provision of non-audit
services and compliance with the
company policy in this regard
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Philip Hourquebie
Chairman
Audit and risk committee
23 June 2017
Sandton
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Directors’ report

Full year dividend

Investec Property Fund is a South African
Real Estate Investment Trust, which listed
on the JSE in the Real Estate Holdings
and Development Sector on 14 April 2011
and currently comprises a portfolio of 119
properties in South Africa with a total gross
lettable area (‘GLA’) of 1 274 323m² valued
at R17.4 billion, a R1.3 billion investment
in Investec Australia Property Fund (‘IAPF’)
and a R0.1 billion investment in Ingenuity
Property Investments Limited (‘Ingenuity’).

An interim dividend number 12 of
60.91 cents per share was declared for
the six months ended 30 September
2016. The distribution was paid on
19 December 2016.

Six years ago when the Fund listed on
the JSE, the property portfolio comprised
29 properties in South Africa with a
total GLA of 369 189m2, acquired for
R1.7 billion. Since then, the Fund has
grown almost 10 times, giving it the
advantages of scale and the ability to
compete for assets.

Directors and secretary

Authorised and issued
share capital
The authorised share capital of the Fund is
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par
value at 31 March 2017.
The Fund issued 1 921 965 shares in part
settlement of the purchase consideration
for its investment in Ingenuity, as well as
16 000 000 shares in a private placement
on 30 March 2017. At 31 March 2017 there
are 718 150 167 ordinary shares in issue.

Financial results
The results of the Fund are set out in
the annual financial statements and
accompanying notes for the year ended
31 March 2017.

Shareholders were given notice of a
final dividend declaration number 13 of
66.74 cents per share for the six months
ended 31 March 2017. The final distribution
was paid on 19 June 2017.

Sam Hackner, Constance Mashaba and
Moss Ngoasheng retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting
in terms of article 22 of the company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation, and offer
themselves for re-election. The appointment
of Philip Hourquebie as a director of the
company will be proposed for confirmation.
Details of the directors can be found on
pages 21 and 22 of these consolidated
annual financial statements. Details of
the company secretary are set out on
page 130 of these consolidated annual
financial statements.

Directors’ interests in
shares
The directors’ interests in shares are set out
on page 120.

as directors, as the Fund pays the
asset management fee to the Manager.
The remuneration paid to the executive
directors for their services as directors
of the Fund is paid by the Manager.
Their remuneration is determined with
reference to several factors, including, but
not limited to:
• Distribution performance
• Increase in net asset value (‘NAV’) of the
Fund
• Total return to shareholders
• Vacancy levels
• Cost to income ratios
• Capital management
• Individual performance
Individual performance is assessed in
relation to the execution of the Fund’s
strategy, staff management and leadership
behaviour.
The executive directors are also
remunerated on their contribution to the
performance of the Management company.
Remuneration comprises both fixed and
variable pay.
Variable pay comprises short-term
performance incentives through cash
bonuses and long-term incentives through
the Investec share incentive scheme.
This ensures alignment between the
Manager and shareholders, given Investec’s
substantial shareholding in the Fund.

Remuneration report
The executive directors are employed by
the Manager and are not remunerated
directly by the Fund for their services

The remuneration paid by the Manager to the executive directors for the current financial
year for services on behalf of the Fund, and who act as the prescribed officers of the Fund,
is as follows:
For the year ended 31 March 2017
R’000

Salary

Director
Nicholas Riley

2 150

Andrew Wooler

1 425

Total

3 575
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Directors’ report
(continued)
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Directors’
fees
2017

Directors’
fees
2016

Sam Hackner1

251

184

Samuel Leon1

169

167

Luigi Giuricich

175

167

Philip Hourquebie#

134

–

Suliman Mahomed

146

95

For the year ended 31 March 2017
R’000
Director

Constance Mashaba

251

211

Moses Ngoasheng

251

273

Graham Rosenthal$

122

211

Khumo Shuenyane

233

117

1 732

1 425

Total
1
#
$

Paid by the Manager.
Appointed 16 August 2016.
Retired 15 August 2016.

Corporate governance
 he Fund’s corporate governance
T
board statement and governance
framework are set out on pages 56
to 63.

Audit and risk
committee

Interests in subsidiaries
During the year, the Fund has acquired
a 100% interest in a subsidiary; namely
Investec Property Fund Offshore
Investments (Pty) Ltd.
The Fund continues to hold a 100% interest
in nine other subsidiaries purchased in
previous years, namely Spareprops (Pty)
Ltd, Bethlehem Property Development
(Pty) Ltd, Fleurdal Properties (Pty) Ltd,
Erf 145 Isando Properties (Pty) Ltd, Lekup
Property Company 6 (Pty) Ltd, Listani (Pty)
Ltd, Friedshelf 113 (Pty) Ltd, Double Flash
Investments 51 (Pty) Ltd and Torte Trade
and Invest (Pty) Ltd. Including Investec
Property Fund Offshore Investments (Pty)
Ltd acquired in the current year, the Fund
holds 100% in 10 subsidiaries.

Major shareholders
The largest shareholders of the Fund are
set out on page 119.

Shareholder resolutions
At the annual general meeting of
shareholders held on 15 August 2016,
special resolutions were passed in terms
of which:

The audit and risk committee comprising
independent non-executive directors meets
regularly with the senior management
of the Manager, the external auditors,
Investec Operational Risk, Investec Internal
Audit, Investec Compliance, Investec IT,
Investec Tax and Investec Finance, to
consider the nature and scope of the audit
reviews and the effectiveness of our risk
and control systems.

• A renewable authority was granted to
the directors to allot and issue shares
for cash in respect of 12.06% of the
authorised but unissued shares in terms
of the provisions of the Companies Act,
No 71 of 2008



• A renewable authority was granted
to the company to approve directors’
remuneration in order to comply with
the provisions of sections 66(11)(h) and
66(9) of the Companies Act, No 71
of 2008

 urther details on the role and
F
responsibility of the audit and risk
committee are set out on page 63.

Auditors
Ernst & Young Inc. have indicated their
willingness to continue in office as auditors
of Investec Property Fund Limited.
A resolution to appoint them as auditors will
be proposed at the annual general meeting
scheduled to take place on Monday,
21 August 2017.

• A renewable authority was granted
to the company to acquire its own
shares in terms of the provisions of the
Companies Act, No 71 of 2008

• A renewable authority was granted
to the company to provide financial
assistance to subsidiaries and other
related entities in order to comply with
the provisions of sections 44 and 45 of
the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008.

Contracts
The Fund does not have any contracts with
directors.
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• The above fees are, however, capped
at a maximum amount of R103.6 million
over the seven-year renewal period.

Accounting policies are set having regard
to commercial practice, and comply
with applicable South African law and
International Financial Reporting Standards.

• The initial asset management fee of
0.5% of enterprise value together with
the remaining terms of the contract
remain largely unchanged.



 hese policies are set out on
T
pages 84 to 87.

Financial instruments
 etailed information on the
D
Fund’s risk management process
and policy can be found in the
risk management report on
pages 99 to 101.
	Information on the Fund’s use
of derivatives can be found on
pages 84 and 85 and in note 27.

Management and
administration
With effect from 1 April 2011, the Manager,
has been undertaking, in terms of an asset
management and property management
agreement, the Fund’s asset management
and property management activities.
The Manager has, in turn, outsourced all
of the property management to property
management companies.
The asset management fee paid by the
Fund to the Manager for the current year
amounted to R43.1 million.
In addition, the contract with the
Manager allows for transaction fees
and letting commission to be charged
where applicable. In the current financial
year, the Fund paid R12.3 million in
letting commission.

Consolidated annual financial statements

Accounting policies and
disclosure

05

Environmental policies
We are committed to pursuing sound
environmental policies in all aspects of our
business and we seek to encourage and
promote good environmental practice with
our clients and the communities in which
we operate.

Capital commitments
At 31 March 2017, the Fund had committed
to capital expenditure of R310 million
comprising the Musina Mall redevelopment,
the pilot solar project at Musina Mall and
the acquisition of properties.

Subsequent events
Post year-end the Fund has rolled the
commercial paper of R242 million for a
further three months at an attractive margin
of 45.5bps and repaid R276 million of
corporate bonds. The Fund entered into
a new debt facility with Standard Bank
for R250 million, secured at a margin of
172bps above three-month JIBAR. In
addition, the Fund issued corporate bonds
for R150 million, unsecured at a margin
of 180bps above three-month JIBAR and
repaid corporate bonds which matured, to
the same value.
Two investment properties were disposed
of for proceeds of R85.1 million. These
were disclosed in non-current assets heldfor-sale at 31 March 2017.

The Fund and the Manager have reached
agreement on the terms of a renewal
of the management contract (‘Manco’).
The existing contract which expires on
31 March 2018 will be renewed for a further
seven-year period. The following changes
to the contract have been agreed in relation
to the transaction and development fees
capable of being charged by the Manager:
• Transaction and development watching
fees have been reduced from 1% of
transaction or development value to
a maximum of 0.5% of the value of the
transaction.
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For the year ended 31 March
R’000

Notes

Revenue, excluding straight-line rental revenue adjustment
Straight-line rental revenue adjustment
Revenue

2

Property expenses

3

Net property income
Other operating expenses

4

Operating profit
Fair value adjustments

5

2017

2016

1 657 570

1 102 579

122 691

92 259

1 780 261

1 194 838

(251 808)

(177 830)

1 528 453

1 017 008

(56 301)

(49 328)

1 472 152

967 680

446 258

358 273

Profit on sale of investment property

27 073

13 568

Income from investment

28 581

46 645

(520 858)

(278 492)

Finance costs

6

Finance income

7

Profit before taxation
Taxation

8

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders

11 641

7 851

1 464 847

1 115 525

(6 139)

(2 042)

1 458 708

1 113 483

Number of shares
Shares in issue

10

718 150 167

700 228 202

Weighted average number of shares in issue

10

700 773 985

519 535 592

9

127.65

124.66

66.74

65.03

66.74

35.35

Cents
Total dividend per share
Final dividend per share
Final dividend per share
Clean out dividend per share1
Interim dividend per share

–

29.68

60.91

59.63

Basic and diluted earnings per share

10

208.16

214.32

Headline earnings per share

10

123.91

165.24

1	The clean out dividend was paid in FY2016 in order to enable existing shareholders to receive their share of accrued income prior to the issue of the
rights offer.
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financial position

Notes

Non-current assets

2017

2016

17 997 472

17 033 333

Investment property

11

16 176 214

16 129 988

Straight-line rental adjustment

11

424 663

329 725

Derivative financial instruments
Investments

11

Current assets

5 022

41 848

1 391 573

531 772

316 633

212 420

Trade and other receivables

13

153 967

158 959

Cash and cash equivalents

14

159 377

53 461

3 289

–

770 618

–

19 084 723

17 245 753

12 167 927

11 097 103

Current portion of derivative financial instruments
Non-current assets held-for-sale

12

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ interest

9 999 838

9 714 108

Retained earnings

Stated capital

15

2 168 089

1 382 995

Non-current liabilities

5 714 018

5 139 422

5 630 885

5 093 477

77 747

45 945

5 386

–

1 202 778

1 009 228

Long-term borrowings

16

Derivative financial instruments
Deferred taxation

17

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

18

422 252

310 104

Current portion of long-term borrowings

16

759 432

699 124

21 094

–

Current portion of derivative financial instruments
Total equity and liabilities
Shares in issue
Net asset value per share (cents)

19
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19 084 723

17 245 753

718 150 167

700 228 202

1 694

1 585
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Consolidated statement
of changes in equity
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For the year ended 31 March
R’000

Stated
capital

Balance at 1 April 2015

Retained
earnings

Total
equity

5 677 360

938 408

6 615 768

–

1 113 483

1 113 483

4 047 784

–

4 047 784

–

(679 932)

(679 932)

Transfers between reserves¹

(11 036)

11 036

–

Balance at 31 March 2016

9 714 108

1 382 995

11 097 103
1 458 708

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders
Shares issued
Dividends declared

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders

–

1 458 708

285 730

–

285 730

Dividends declared and paid

–

(673 614)

(673 614)

Balance at 31 March 2017

9 999 838

2 168 089

12 167 927

Shares issued

¹
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Notes

2017

2016

Cash generated from operations

20

1 419 235

906 387

Finance income received

11 641

7 851

(521 970)

(261 426)

47 598

44 620

(753)

(2 042)

Dividends paid to shareholders

(673 614)

(711 403)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities

282 137

(16 013)

Finance costs paid
Income from investment
Taxation paid1

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment properties

(302 132)

(6 409 562)

Acquisition of interest in IAPF

11

(834 110)

(115 826)

Acquisition of interest in Ingenuity

11

(45 374)

–

Proceeds on disposal of investment property

350 923

166 750

Capital expenditure2

(195 784)

(94 107)

(1 026 477)

(6 452 745)

Term loans raised

500 000

2 607 782

Term loans repaid3

(342 744)

(100 354)

Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Commercial paper raised and repaid

62 000

–

Corporate bonds issued

500 000

1 270 000

Corporate bonds repaid

(125 000)

(34 000)

Proceeds from issue of shares

256 000

2 717 796

Net cash inflow from financing activities

850 256

6 461 224

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

105 916

(7 534)

53 461

60 995

159 377

53 461

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

14

Withholding tax on distribution received from IAPF.
	The capital expenditure figure includes R164.6m redevelopment costs.
3
	This includes term loans, revolving credit facilities and the general banking facility.
1
2
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For the year ended 31 March 2017
R’000
Statement of comprehensive income
Revenue, excluding straight-line rental adjustment
Straight-line rental adjustment
Property expenses
Segment results
Net investment property revaluation
Total segment results
Other operating expenses
Other fair value adjustments
Profit on sale of investment property
Finance costs
Finance income
Income from investments
Profit before taxation
Statement of financial position extracts at 31 March 2017
Investment property balance 1 April 2016
Reallocated
Acquisitions
Disposals
Developments and capital expenditure
Fair value adjustments
Straight-line rental adjustment
Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale
Investment property as at 31 March 2017
Other assets not managed on a segmental basis:
Non-current assets held-for-sale
Investments
Other
Total assets as at 31 March 2017
For the year ended 31 March 2017
R’000
Statement of comprehensive income
Revenue, excluding straight-line rental adjustment
Straight-line rental adjustment
Property expenses
Segment results
Net investment property revaluation
Total segment results
Statement of financial position extracts at 31 March 2017
Investment property balance 1 April 2016
Acquisitions
Disposals
Developments and capital expenditure
Fair value adjustments
Straight-line rental adjustment
Transfer to non-current assets held-for-sale
Investment property at 31 March 2017

Office

Industrial

Retail

Total

653 628
42 978
(93 121)
603 485
132 508
735 993

398 104
36 241
(54 474)
379 871
105 015
484 886

605 838
43 472
(104 213)
545 097
325 749
870 846

1 657 570
122 691
(251 808)
1 528 453
563 272
2 091 725
(56 301)
(117 014)
27 073
(520 858)
11 641
28 581
1 464 847

6 552 959
(113 475)
5 592
–
4 780
132 508
43 632
6 625 996
(263 142)
6 362 854

3 847 683
–
76 602
(146 227)
18 966
105 015
32 425
3 934 464
(199 419)
3 735 045

6 059 071
113 475
219 938
(172 044)
223 000
325 749
41 846
6 811 035
(308 057)
6 502 978

16 459 713
–
302 132
(318 271)
246 746
563 272
117 903
17 371 495
(770 618)
16 600 877
770 618
1 391 573
321 655
19 084 723

Gauteng

Western
Cape

KwaZuluNatal

Eastern
Cape

1 101 538
67 090
(164 893)
1 003 735
320 883
1 324 618

174 107
13 976
(29 951)
158 132
83 207
241 339

208 331
27 408
(32 730)
203 009
39 756
242 765

9 526
1 522
(1 341)
9 707
3 638
13 345

10 521 560
79 987
(115 591)
28 845
320 883
67 090
10 902 774
(567 695)
10 235 079

1 815 318
37 869
(125 378)
–
83 207
9 188
1 820 204
(168 142)
1 652 062

2 284 108
28 392
–
4 163
39 756
27 408
2 383 827
(8 725)
2 375 102

83 568
–
–
214
3 638
1 522
88 942
(6 829)
82 113

Other assets not managed on a segmental basis:
Non-current assets held-for-sale
Investments
Other
Total assets as at 31 March 2017
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North West

Free State Mpumalanga

Limpopo

Northern
Cape

Total

2 743
(133)
(199)
2 411
133
2 544

92 896
9 629
(14 811)
87 714
64 388
152 102

36 906
468
(4 909)
32 465
(7 901)
24 564

28 166
2 325
(2 611)
27 880
57 188
85 068

3 357
406
(363)
3 400
1 980
5 380

1 657 570
122 691
(251 808)
1 528 453
563 272
2 091 725

19 227
154 201
–
–
133
(133)
173 428
(19 227)
154 201

946 623
1 683
–
17 439
64 388
9 629
1 039 762
–
1 039 762

366 113
–
–
231
(7 901)
468
358 911
–
358 911

391 682
–
(77 302)
195 854
57 188
2 325
569 747
–
569 747

31 514
–
–
–
1 980
406
33 900
–
33 900

16 459 713
302 132
(318 271)
246 746
563 272
117 903
17 371 495
(770 618)
16 600 877
770 618
1 391 573
321 655
19 084 723
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For the year ended 31 March 2016
R’000

Office

Industrial

Retail

Total

1 102 579

Statement of comprehensive income
Revenue, excluding straight-line rental adjustment

416 560

252 153

433 866

Straight-line rental adjustment

42 883

17 261

32 115

92 259

Property expenses

(55 764)

(36 261)

(85 805)

(177 830)

Segment results

403 679

233 153

380 176

1 017 008

82 697

20 974

137 766

241 437

486 376

254 127

517 942

1 258 445

Net investment property revaluation
Total segment results
Other operating expenses

(49 328)

Other fair value adjustments

116 836

Profit on sale of investment property

13 568

Income from investment

46 645

Finance costs

(278 492)

Finance income

7 851

Profit before taxation

1 115 525

Statement of financial position extracts at 31 March 2016
Investment property balance 1 April 2015

3 206 963

1 529 919

3 464 743

8 201 625

Acquisitions

3 267 081

2 373 042

2 336 482

7 976 605

(49 400)

(101 847)

–

(151 247)

2 735

8 334

87 965

99 034

82 697

20 974

137 766

241 437

Disposals
Developments and capital expenditure
Fair value adjustments
Straight-line rental adjustment
Investment property at 31 March 2016

42 883

17 261

32 115

92 259

6 552 959

3 847 683

6 059 071

16 459 713

Other assets not managed on a segmental basis

786 040

Total assets as at 31 March 2016
For the year ended 31 March 2016
R’000

17 245 753

Gauteng

Western
Cape

KwaZuluNatal

Eastern
Cape

749 749

114 197

73 438

8 698

66 906

6 912

6 196

(914)

Property expenses

(129 063)

(16 264)

(8 043)

(698)

Segment results

687 592

104 845

71 591

7 086

Net investment property revaluation

179 198

41 215

(27 459)

7 874

Total segment results

866 790

146 060

44 132

14 960

Investment property balance 1 April 2015

5 430 775

821 140

265 450

76 600

Acquisitions

4 924 132

985 202

2 039 921

–

(109 466)

(41 781)

–

–

Statement of comprehensive income
Revenue, excluding straight-line rental adjustment
Straight-line rental adjustment

Statement of financial position extracts at 31 March 2016

Disposals
Developments and capital expenditure
Fair value adjustments
Straight-line rental adjustment
Investment property at 31 March 2016

30 015

2 630

–

8

179 198

41 215

(27 459)

7 874

66 906

6 912

6 196

(914)

10 521 560

1 815 318

2 284 108

83 568

Other assets not managed on a segmental basis
Total assets as at 31 March 2016
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North West

Free State Mpumalanga

Limpopo

Northern
Cape

Total

1 102 579

1 845

84 766

34 279

32 506

3 101

(41)

13 182

(2 801)

2 205

613

92 259

(20)

(16 831)

(3 633)

(2 952)

(325)

(177 830)

1 784

81 117

27 845

31 759

3 389

1 017 008

760

21 178

(1 449)

18 269

1 851

241 437

2 544

102 295

26 396

50 028

5 240

1 258 445

18 500

857 859

364 051

338 200

29 050

8 201 625

–

3 822

6 194

17 334

–

7 976 605

–

–

–

–

–

(151 247)

8

50 581

118

15 674

–

99 034

760

21 178

(1 449)

18 269

1 851

241 437

(41)

13 183

(2 801)

2 205

613

92 259

19 227

946 623

366 113

391 682

31 514

16 459 713
786 040
17 245 753
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Accounting policies
Basis of preparation
The consolidated and separate
financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2017 are prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRS’), SAICA Financial
Reporting Guides as issued by the
Accounting Practices Committee and
Financial Reporting Standards Council,
as well as the requirements of the
Companies Act.
The annual financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, unless
otherwise indicated.

Accounting for associates
The investment in the IAPF is considered
an associate in terms of IAS 28. The Fund
has elected to measure the investment at
fair value through profit or loss using the
venture capital exemption on consolidation
and classifying the investment in terms of
IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement at fair value through
profit and loss.
In management’s judgement, the fund
qualifies for the exemption to equity
accounting for venture capital organisations,
mutual funds, unit trusts or similar entities,
as it considers the Fund to be similar in
nature and purpose to these entities.

Fair value adjustments, where applicable,
do not affect the calculation of distributable
earnings per share to the extent that
adjustments are made to the carrying
values of assets and liabilities.

Basis of consolidation

The annual financial statements are
prepared on the going concern basis and
the accounting policies set out below have
been applied consistently by the Fund.

• has power over the investee;

The preparation of annual financial
statements in conformity with IFRS requires
the board to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of
making judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

• has the ability to use its power to affect
its returns.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
Please refer to note 27 for a discussion
of these judgements and estimates.

• Retail properties

The separate annual financial statements
are available at request from the company
secretary at the registered office.
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The group financial statements include
those of the Fund and entities controlled
by the Fund. The Fund controls an entity
when it:
• is exposed to, or has rights to the
variable returns from its involvement with
the investee; and

The consolidated financial statements
include assets, liabilities, income, expenses
and cash flows of the Fund and all entities
controlled by the Fund. Intercompany
transactions, balances and unrealised
profits are eliminated on consolidation.

Segmental reporting
Determination and presentation
of operating segments
The Fund has the following operating
segments:
• Office properties
• Industrial properties.
The above segments are derived from the
way the business of the Fund is structured
and managed. The Fund manages its
business in the retail, office and industrial
property sectors where resources are
specifically allocated to each sector in
achieving the Fund’s stated objectives.

Segment results include revenue
and expenses directly attributable to
a segment, and the relevant portion of
enterprise revenue and expenses that can
be allocated on a reasonable basis to a
segment. Segment assets and liabilities
comprise those assets and liabilities that
are directly attributable to the segment on
a reasonable basis.
Segment capital expenditure is the
total cost incurred during the period on
investment property in each segment.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from the letting of investment
property in terms of rental agreements
comprises gross rental income and
recoveries of fixed operating costs, net
of value added tax. Rental income is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the rental agreement.
Recoveries of costs from lessees, where
the Fund merely acts as an agent and
makes payment of these costs on behalf
of lessees, are offset against the relevant
costs. Revenue is recognised when it can
be reliably measured and it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Fund.
Other revenue will be recognised at the
fair value of the consideration received
or receivable.

Interest income
Interest earned on cash invested with
financial institutions is recognised in profit
and within the statement of comprehensive
income on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are initially
recognised at their fair value plus, for
financial assets or financial liabilities
not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue
of the financial assets or financial
liabilities. All other transaction costs are
charged to profit or loss in the statement
of comprehensive income immediately.
Any gains or losses on these instruments
arising from fair value adjustments, where
appropriate, do not affect distributable
earnings. The Fund recognises financial
instruments on the date it commits
to purchase or sell such instruments.
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Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost less any
impairment, which approximates fair value
as the effect of discounting is immaterial
on these instruments. Any gains or
losses on trade and other receivables are
charged to profit or loss in the statement
of comprehensive income. An estimate is
made for credit losses based on a review
of all outstanding amounts at the year
end. Bad debts are written off as an
expense in profit or loss in the statement of
comprehensive income during the year in
which they are identified.

Investments
The listed investment and the investment
in associate are initially recorded at cost
and subsequently held at fair value through
profit and loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash balances and call deposits. Cash
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of change in
fair value. Cash and cash equivalents are
measured at amortised cost.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any gains
or losses on trade and other payables are
charged to profit or loss in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Derivative financial instruments
The Fund utilises derivative financial
instruments to mitigate its exposure to
interest rate risk arising from its financing
activities as well as foreign exchange
risk relating to expected inflows from the
investment in IAPF. In accordance with its
treasury policy, the Fund does not hold
or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes. Derivatives used to
mitigate interest rate risk are not designated
as a hedge for accounting purposes and
are accounted for at fair value through
profit and loss.
All derivative instruments of the Fund are
recorded in the statement of financial
position at fair value.
Gains or losses on derivatives are charged
to profit or loss in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Long-term borrowings
Long-term borrowings are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

Offset
Financial assets and liabilities are offset
when there is both an intention to settle
on a net basis (or simultaneously) and
a currently enforceable legal right to
offset exists.

Impairment
Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date the Fund reviews
the carrying values of financial assets for
an indication of impairment. For amounts
due to the Fund, significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy and default of
payments are all considered indicators of
impairment. The carrying value is compared
to the estimated recoverable amount,
with any excess of the carrying value over
the recoverable amount impaired and
recognised as impairment. Impairment
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

The impairment for receivables is calculated
on a portfolio basis, based on historical loss
ratios, adjusted for national and industry
specific economic conditions and other
indicators present at the reporting date that
correlate with defaults on the portfolio.

Investment property
Properties held by the Fund which are held
for capital appreciation or rental income
are classified as investment properties.
Investment properties are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value,
with fair value gains and losses recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income.
Investment property consists of land and
buildings and undeveloped land. Properties
are measured initially at cost at acquisition,
and subsequent additions that will result in
future economic benefits and whose cost
can be measured reliably, are capitalised.
Investment property under construction
is measured at fair value. Direct costs
relating to major capital projects are
capitalised until the properties are brought
into commercial operation. Should any
properties no longer meet the Fund’s
investment criteria and are sold; any profits
or losses will be of a capital nature.
Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at
their fair value. Investment property is
maintained, upgraded and refurbished,
where necessary, in order to preserve or
improve the capital value as far as it is
possible to do so. Maintenance and repairs
which do not give rise to future economic
benefits are charged against profit or loss in
the statement of comprehensive income.
Gains or losses on subsequent
measurement or disposals of investment
properties are recognised in profit or
loss in the statement of comprehensive
income. Such gains or losses are excluded
from the calculation and determination of
distributable earnings.

In determining whether an impairment loss
should be recorded in profit or loss, the
Fund makes judgements as to whether
there is observable data indicating a
measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows from a financial asset.
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The Fund derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers
the rights to receive the contractual cash
flows on the financial asset in a transaction
in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred. Any interest in transferred
financial assets that is created or retained
by the Fund is recognised as a separate
asset or liability. The Fund derecognises
a financial liability when its contractual
obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expired.
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Non-current assets
held-for-sale
A non-current asset or disposal group
comprises assets and liabilities that
are classified as held-for-sale if it is
expected that its carrying amount
will be recovered principally through
sale rather than continuing use, if it is
available for immediate sale and it is
considered highly probable that the sale
will occur within one year. Non-current
assets held-for-sale comprise solely of
investment properties and therefore are
excluded from the measurement scope of
IFRS 5 – Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations and continue
to be measured according to the fair value
model with gains/losses recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Non-current assets held for sale are
presented separately from other assets
in the statement of financial position.
Prior periods are not reclassified.

Rental agreements
A finance lease is a lease that transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an asset.
An operating lease is a lease other than
a financial lease.
The Fund is party to numerous rental
agreements in the capacity as lessor
of the investment properties. All rental
agreements are operating leases.
Where classified as operating leases,
rentals payable/receivable are charged/
credited in the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Contingent rentals (if any) are
accrued to the statement of comprehensive
income when incurred. This does not affect
distributable earnings.

Property-letting commissions
and tenant installations
When considered material, letting
commissions and tenant installations
are amortised over the period of the lease
to which they relate.

Borrowing costs

Taxation and deferred taxation

Borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition or construction of an asset
that necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost
of the asset. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they
occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Current tax payable is provided on
taxable profits at rates that are enacted
or substantively enacted and applicable
to the relevant period. The Fund is
registered as a REIT, and as such will
only pay tax on profits not distributed to
shareholders. Current tax for current and
prior periods is, to the extent unpaid,
recognised as a liability. If the amount
already paid in respect of current and
prior periods exceeds the amount due
for those periods, the excess is recognised
as an asset.

The interest capitalised is calculated using
the Fund’s weighted average cost of
borrowings after adjusting for borrowings
associated with specific developments.
Where borrowings are associated with
specific developments, the amount
capitalised is the gross interest incurred
on those borrowings less any investment
income arising on their temporary
investment. Interest is capitalised as from
the commencement of the development
work until the date of practical completion.
The capitalisation of finance costs is
suspended if there are prolonged periods
when development activity is interrupted.

Provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount, and are recognised when there
is a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
are not recognised.
Provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows if the effect
of discounting is material at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability.

The Fund converted to a REIT on
16 August 2013. As a result, section 25BB
of the Income Tax Act will apply to qualifying
REIT income and expenses.
Deferred tax is recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes.
However, section 25BB of the Income
Tax Act allows for the deduction of the
qualifying distribution paid to shareholders,
but the deduction is limited to taxable
income. To the extent that no tax will be
payable in future as a result of the qualifying
distribution, no deferred tax is raised
on items such as the straight-line rental
revenue adjustment and revenue received
in advance.
As the Fund is a REIT, capital gains
taxation (‘CGT’) is no longer applicable on
the sale of investment property in terms
of section 25BB of the Income Tax Act.
The deferred tax rate applied to investment
property at the sale rate will therefore
be 0%. Consequently, no deferred tax is
raised on the fair value adjustments on
investment property.
Deferred tax arises on the investments in
IAPF and Ingenuity on the presumption
that the investment will be realised through
sale and CGT will be payable. However, in
the event that the Fund holds greater than
20% of an investment, this investment is
a property company as defined in section
25BB of the Income Tax Act and therefore
the sale thereof is not subject to CGT.
Deferred tax is not raised on the investment
in IAPF as the Fund holds greater than
20% of IAPF. Deferred tax is raised on
the increase in mark-to-market of the
investment in Ingenuity as the Fund hold
less than 20% of Ingenuity.
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Related parties include any stakeholder
who is able to exert a significant influence
on the operating policies of the Fund.
This includes key management personnel,
who are those persons having authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the entity directly
or indirectly, including a director.
Any party appointed as the asset manager
and property asset manager of the Fund is
also considered to be a related party.

Ordinary share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised when the
obligation to make payment arises.
Key management assumptions In
preparation of the annual financial
statements, the Fund makes estimations
and applies judgement that could affect
the reported amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
The key area in which judgement is applied
lies with the valuation of investment
properties. The valuation is performed
by capitalising the budgeted net income
of a property at the market-related
yield applicable at the time assuming a
constant yield.
Management consider on a case by case
basis whether the acquired assets have
met the definition of a business as defined
by IFRS.
Acquisitions of subsidiaries did not meet
the definition of a business as defined by
IFRS and were thus not consolidated within
the scope of IFRS 3.

Standards and interpretations
applicable to the Fund, not yet
effective

IFRS 9 – Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities
IFRS 9 will introduce changes to the
classification of financial instruments,
primarily financial assets, changes to
the measurement of impairments to be
based on an incurred loss model, and a
simplified approach to hedge accounting.
An initial consideration of the impact of this
standard has led to the conclusion that it is
unlikely that there will be material changes
resulting from adoption. The classification of
financial instruments will remain consistent
with the current year, and changes to the
impairment model will not have a significant
impact on the Fund.

IFRS 15 – Revenue for Contracts
with Customers
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014
and established a five-step model to
account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers.

IFRS 16 – Leases
The new leases standard, issued in
June 2016 will replace the existing IFRS
lease requirements. The new standard
brings most leases on-balance sheet
under a single model, eliminating the
distinction between operating and finance
leases. Under IFRS 16, a lessee is required
to recognise a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability.
As a lessor, the Fund is not expected to be
materially impacted.
All other standards and interpretations
issued but not yet effective are not
expected to have a material impact on
the Fund.

Changes in accounting policy
and adoption of new standards
Amendments to reporting standards
came into effect during the year and were
adopted by the Fund, but had no impact.

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at
an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer.
The new revenue standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under IFRS and it is effective
for all annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2018.
Leases are specifically scoped out of
IFRS 15. Therefore the amendment
is not expected to have a material
impact on the Fund as rental income
comprises the majority of revenue for
the Fund. The remaining revenue in the
business does not give rise to complex
measurement issues and therefore the
revenue will not be materially impacted by
the adoption of the standard.

The following standards, which may
have an impact on the Fund in the future,
have been issued but are not yet effective.
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For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2.

Contracted rental

1 351 618

911 704

105 557

66 392

75 650

48 790

Contracted parking

98 901

57 756

Other income

12 753

4 521

Rental guarantees

5 431

10 256

Turnover rental

7 660

3 160

1 657 570

1 102 579

Contracted operating cost recoveries

Revenue, excluding straight-line rental adjustment
Straight-line rental adjustment

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

122 691

92 259

1 780 261

1 194 838

2017

2016

125 216

85 569

Property expenses
Assessment rates
Electricity – net

(14 159)

(4 495)

Cost

211 137

155 873

Recovery

(225 296)

(160 368)

(3 690)

1 833

Water and municipal charges – net
Cost

57 077

32 386

Recovery

(60 767)

(30 553)

Impairment loss relating to tenants and related receivables

15 997

5 872

Cleaning

16 910

11 358

Insurance

3 466

3 776

Letting commissions

7 798

3 277

Marketing

6 309

3 201

Other property expenses

9 436

5 589

Property management expenses

33 092

26 047

Repairs and maintenance

21 419

12 675

Security

27 749

21 305

Tenant installation costs

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

4.

2016

Revenue
Assessment rates recovered

3.

2017

2 265

1 823

251 808

177 830

2017

2016

43 061

39 453

1 387

1 382

Other operating expenses
Asset management fee
Audit fees
Non-attest audit fees expensed through the income statement1
Directors’ fees
Legal fees
Other fund expenses

180

120

1 315

1 074

110

58

10 248

7 241

56 301

49 328

	The Fund paid non-attest fees of R0.2m which are directly attributed to debt raised (2016: R0.8m of which R0.7m was directly attributed to
acquisition of property and R0.1m was directly attributed to debt raised in relation to the acquisition of property).

1
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5.

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

4 637
241 437
112 199
358 273

2017

2016

185 006
298 262
16 432
15 180
5 978
520 858

108 341
132 929
13 361
19 103
4 758
278 492

2017

2016

11 641

7 851

11 641

7 851

2017

2016

–

–

Finance income
Interest received from banks

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

8.

(86 618)
563 272
(30 396)
446 258

Finance costs
Interest on corporate bonds
Interest on term debt
Interest on commercial paper
Interest on derivatives
Other interest

7.

2016

Fair value adjustments
Fair value adjustments on derivative instruments
Fair value adjustment on investment property
Net fair value adjustment on investments
Total fair value adjustments

6.

2017

Taxation
South African normal taxation:
Current taxation
Deferred taxation

5 386

–

Dividends withholdings taxation
Total taxation

753
6 139

2 042
2 042

Effective tax rate

0.4%

0.2%

Standard tax rate

28%

28%

As a result of REIT legislation and the application of section 25BB of the Income Tax Act, the Fund has no normal tax expense in the
current year.
The withholdings tax arose as a result of distributions from the Fund’s investment in IAPF.
A deferred tax liability arose on the fair value gain through profit and loss on Ingenuity as a result of Ingenuity not being classified as a
REIT. The Fund also holds less than 20% of Ingenuity and therefore Ingenuity does not meet the definition of a Property Company as
defined under section 25BB of the Income Tax Act.
The taxation charge is reconciled as follows:
For the year ended 31 March
R’000
Statutory charge at 28%
Fair value and straight-line rental adjustments not taxable
Qualifying distribution deduction1
Effective South African income tax charge
Withholding tax on IAPF distribution
Total tax charge
Effective tax rate
1

2017
410 157
(153 920)
(250 851)
5 386
753
6 139
0.4%

2016
312 347
(124 851)
(189 523)
–
2 042
2 042
0.2%

The tax deduction of the qualifying distribution is limited such that no assessed loss is created, as required by Section 25BB of the Income Tax Act.
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For the year ended 31 March
R’000

9.

2017

2016

1 458 708

1 113 483

(446 258)

(358 273)

(27 073)

(13 568)

(122 691)

(92 259)

24 504

–

Notional cost of funding Ingenuity acquisition

1 702

–

Deferred taxation

5 386

–

11 516

27 485

Dividend per share reconciliation
Profit after taxation
Less: Fair value adjustments
Profit on disposal of investment property
Straight-line rental adjustment
Add: IAPF dividend accrual1
2

Antecedent dividend3
Distributable earnings

905 794

676 868

Less: Interim dividends paid

(426 515)

(286 665)

–

(142 683)

Less: Clean out dividend paid
Final dividend4
Shares in issue at 31 March

479 279

247 520

718 150 167

700 228 202

Final dividend per share (cents)
Clean out dividend per share (cents)
Interim dividend per share (cents)
Total dividend per share

66.74

35.35

–

29.68

60.91

59.63

127.65

124.66

	The Fund considers the expected future IAPF dividend, relating to the earnings from the current period, to be part of the distributable earnings
for the current period. Accordingly, an adjustment is made to match the anticipated income of the distribution to the period which the distribution
relates. Historically, for ease of reconciliation and due to the immateriality of the amounts involved investment income was also recorded on this
basis, but given the increased holding in IAPF, the recognition in profit and loss is being adjusted.
2
	The Fund’s investment into Ingenuity was made on a total return basis from a distribution perspective. The Fund’s policy in relation to the total
return is to add back the funding cost of the investment, net of dividends received.
3
	The antecedent dividend relates to the issue of 1.9m shares for the purchase of the initial 8% interest in Ingenuity on 4 January 2017 at R15.50
per share, and the issue of 16m shares on 30 March 2017 at R16.00 per share.
4
The final dividend was declared on 17 May 2017.
1

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

1 458 708

1 113 483

(563 272)

(241 437)

(27 073)

(13 568)

868 363

858 478

10. Earnings per share
Reconciliation of basic earnings to headline earnings
Profit after tax attributable to equity holders
Less: Fair value adjustment of investment property
Profit on disposal of investment property
Headline earnings attributable to shareholders
Cents
Basic and diluted earnings per share

208.16

214.32

Headline earnings per share

123.91

165.24

Shares in issue at the end of the year

718 150 167

700 228 202

Weighted average number of shares in issue

700 773 985

519 535 592

Reconciliation of weighted average number of shares in issue:

700 773 985

519 535 592

700 228 202

436 690 118

458 112

–

Number of shares

Shares at beginning of year
Shares issued for purchase of Ingenuity
Private placement

90

87 671

–

Vendor placements

–

28 933 468

Rights offer

–

47 326 852

Dividend re-investment programme (‘DRIP’)

–

6 585 154
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2017

2016

Cost
Accumulated fair value adjustment
Straight-line rental adjustment

15 413 907
1 509 960
447 628

15 162 266
967 722
329 725

Carrying value of total portfolio
Non-current assets held-for-sale
Total investment property

17 371 495
(770 618)
16 600 877

16 459 713
–
16 459 713

Investment property
Straight-line rental adjustment

16 176 214
424 663

16 129 988
329 725

11. Investments
11.1 Investment property

	Under the income capitalisation method a property’s fair value is estimated based on the normalised net operating income generated
by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation rate.
	Refer to the segmental analysis on page 80 and 81 for a breakdown of investment property on a geographic as well as
sectoral basis.
	Properties to the value of R1 805m (2016: R1 742m) are held as security for the domestic medium term note (‘DMTN’) programme
with bonds in issue to a value of R751m (2016: R791m). Property to the value of R4 492m (2016: R3 725m) is held as security for
bank facilities amounting to a value of R1 860m (2016: R1 740m).
	All of the investment properties are held under freehold interests (with the exception of two buildings which are held under leasehold
interests) and the register of deeds is available for inspection at the registered office.
	Borrowing costs directly attributable to the completion of the Musina Mall extension have been capitalised as part of the cost of the
asset.
	On the 31 March 2017, Investment property to the value of R771m met the requirements of non-current assets held-for-sale as
defined in IFRS 5 as shown in note 12. Investment properties classified as held-for-sale were valued at fair value on reporting date.
	In terms of its accounting policy, one third of the Fund’s property portfolio is valued annually by independent valuers.
	Gains and losses recorded in profit or loss for recurring fair value measurements categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
amount to R563m (2016: R241m) and are presented in profit and loss in the line item ‘fair value adjustments’.
	The investment properties that were valued at 31 March 2017 were valued by MRB Gibbons of Mills Fitchet Magnus Penny
Proprietary Limited (Nat.Dip.Prop.Val.,MIV (SA), Professional Valuer) who is registered in terms of section 19 of the Property Valuers
Professional Act, Act No 47 of 2000.
For the year ended 31 March

2017

2016

11.2 Investment in associate
IAPF
Holding (%)
Price at 31 March (cents)
Reconciliation of investment in IAPF
Cost of shares
Accumulated fair value adjustment

22.9
1 296

12.3
1 381

1 232 032
60 394

397 921
115 623

Accrued distribution
Closing balance

–
1 292 426

18 228
531 772

The Fund holds 22.9% of IAPF. Given the percentage holding and representation on the board of directors of IAPF by one director of
the Fund significant influence is evidenced. IAPF is therefore classified as an associate, in terms of IAS 28: Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures (‘IAS 28’).
IAS 28 allows for the election to carry an investment in an associate held by a venture capital organisation or a mutual fund (or
similar entity) to be measured at fair value. Although IPF is a corporate entity in a statute, it is similar to a mutual fund as the entity
manages the investment on a fair value basis, raises a pool of funds to invest in a portfolio of assets and has a range of investors and
a range of investments. The Fund considers fair value measurement to be the most appropriate method of accounting as the primary
performance measure of IAPF is distributable earnings which in turn drives the share price of IAPF. In contrast, the accounting profits
of the associate include other fair value gains and losses which are not distributed and therefore are not reflective of the distributable
earnings of IAPF. As a result, IPF has made the election to carry its associate at fair value.
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11. Investments (continued)
11.2 Investment in associate (continued)
For the year ended 31 March
AUD’000

2017

2016

780 626

493 850

Condensed consolidated statement of financial position of IAPF
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Unitholders’ interest
IPF’s carrying amount of the investment (R’000)
For the year ended 31 March
AUD’000

5 906

3 073

(255 876)

(143 098)

(24 988)

(21 338)

505 668

332 487

1 292 426

531 772

2017

2016

Condensed consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for
IAPF
Net property income

46 090

34 108

Fair value adjustments – investment property

11 419

20 488

Other operating expenses

(4 319)

(4 663)

Net finance cost

(4 768)

(6 829)

–

116

Profit on sale of investment property
Other income
Total comprehensive income and profit for the period

320

264

48 742

43 484

IAPF total distributable earnings

36 964

25 661

IPF’s share of distribution for the year (R’000)

45 882

43 908

2017

2016

For the year ended 31 March

11.3 Investment in listed securities
Ingenuity
Holding (%)

8.0

–

Price at 31 March (cents)

106

n/a

Reconciliation of investment in Ingenuity
Cost of shares

75 104

Accumulated fair value adjustment

24 043

–

Closing balance

99 147

–

On 4 January 2017, an 8.0% interest in Ingenuity was acquired for R75m. The acquisition price of R75m is funded with R45m in
cash and R30m from the issue of 1.9m IPF shares.
There is no evidence of significant influence on the Investment. IPF has one of ten directors on the board and Ingenuity has no
relationship with the Investec Bank Limited group. Therefore, the investment is accounted for as a listed investment held at fair value.
The fair value of the investment in Ingenuity is based on the closing share price on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (‘JSE’).
For the year ended 31 March

2016

Total investments

1 391 573

531 772

Investment in IAPF

1 292 426

531 772

99 147

–

Investment in Ingenuity
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For the year ended 31 March

% held
2017

% held
2016

100

100

11.4 Principal subsidiaries
Listani Proprietary Limited
Friedshelf 113 Proprietary Limited

100

100

Double Flash Investments Proprietary Limited

100

100

Torte Trade and Investment Proprietary Limited

100

100

Spareprops Proprietary Limited

100

100

Bethlehem Property Development Proprietary Limited

100

100

Fleurdal Properties Proprietary Limited

100

100

Erf 145 Isando Properties Proprietary Limited

100

100

Lekup Property Company 6 Proprietary Limited

100

100

Investec Property Fund Offshore Investments Proprietary Limited

100

–

During the year the Fund acquired a 100% interest in a subsidiary, Investec Property Fund Offshore Investments Proprietary Limited,
which will be the holding company of offshore assets. The Fund continues to hold 100% investments in the nine other subsidiaries,
which are all property companies. The acquisition of each of the subsidiaries was considered to be the acquisition of single assets
rather than the acquisition of businesses. Therefore, the transactions are representative of the acquisition of investment properties as
shown in note 11.1.
For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

12. Non-current assets held-for-sale
Office

263 142

–

Industrial

199 419

–

Retail

308 057

–

Balance at end of year

770 618

–

The Fund has taken the decision to sell 21 buildings with settlement taking place within 12 months of reporting date for a
consideration of R770.6m and has presented those assets as non-current assets held-for-sale. The value of the properties will be
recovered through sale rather than through continued use. Seventeen of the buildings earmarked for sale will be disposed of to an
empowered entity for a value of R586.9m. The properties are valued at their fair value.
For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

Rental debtors

47 405

36 783

Allowance for doubtful debts

(25 360)

(8 602)

13. Trade and other receivables
Prepayments

52 555

36 061

Municipal deposits

18 623

14 152

Value-added tax debtor
Sundry debtors
Accrued recoveries
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4 324

7 486

27 509

53 258

48 732

153 967

158 959
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For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

14. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash held on call account

159 3771

53 461

Cash and cash equivalents

159 377

53 461

	Included in this balance are tenant deposits of R53.9m and revenue received in advance of R59.7m which was received on 31 March 2017.

1

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

700 228

436 690

16 000

–

15. Stated capital
Authorised
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares
Issued
Opening issued share capital
Private placement
Issue of shares as consideration

1 922

–

Rights offer

–

171 033

Dividend reinvestment programme (‘DRIP’)

–

8 288

Vendor placements

–

84 217

718 150

700 228

9 999 838

9 714 108

Shares in issue at year end
Stated capital at year end
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Capital
repayment date

Interest rate

Facility

2017

2016

Prime-2.10%
3-month JIBAR +1.75%
3-month JIBAR +1.75%
3-month JIBAR +1.60%
3-month JIBAR +1.62%
3-month JIBAR +1.55%
Prime –1.66%
3-month JIBAR +1.65%
3-month JIBAR +1.62%
Prime- 1.60%

300 000
200 000
200 000
400 000
200 000
–
250 000
100 000
300 000
250 000

51 432
160 000
150 000
320 000
160 000
–
–
100 000
300 000
250 000

124 124
160 000
150 000
320 000
250 000
200 000
250 000
100 000
–
–

Prime-1.60%
3-month JIBAR +1.80%
3-month JIBAR +1.90%
3-month JIBAR +1.90%

300 000
100 000
250 000
100 000

20 000
80 200
200 962
80 182

–
80 198
201 028
80 180

3 month JIBAR +0.45%
3-month JIBAR +1.40%
3-month JIBAR +1.58%
3 month JIBAR +1.70%
3 month JIBAR +1.35%
3-month JIBAR +1.73%
3-month JIBAR +1.70%
3-month JIBAR +1.50%
3-month JIBAR +1.75%
3-month JIBAR +1.90%
3-month JIBAR +1.48%
3-month JIBAR +1.80%

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

262 000
150 000
50 000
250 000
–
85 000
375 000
230 000
90 000
100 000
400 000
100 000

200 000
150 000
50 000
250 000
85 000
85 000
375 000
230 000
90 000
100 000
–
–

3-month JIBAR +1.70%
3-month JIBAR +1.80%
3-month JIBAR +1.67%
3-month JIBAR +1.75%
3-month JIBAR +1.80%
3-month JIBAR + 2.10%
3-month JIBAR +1.75%

250 000
260 000
250 000
300 000
425 000
275 000
100 000

200 000
210 000
200 000
300 000
425 000
275 000
80 299

200 000
210 000
–
300 000
425 000
275 000
80 289

3-month JIBAR +1.55%
3-month JIBAR +1.65%
Fixed at 8.80%
3-month JIBAR +1.50%
3-month JIBAR +1.60%
3-month JIBAR +1.70%
3-month JIBAR +1.80%

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

–
50 000
226 000
100 000
125 000
125 000
125 000

40 000
50 000
226 000
100 000
125 000
125 000
125 000

3 964 776
2 441 299
6 406 075
(15 758)
6 390 317
759 432
5 630 885

3 280 530
2 531 289
5 811 819
(19 218)
5 792 601
(699 124)
5 093 477

16. Borrowings
Loans – unsecured – bank debt
Investec General Banking Facility
April 2017
Nedbank – Tranche 4
November 2019
Nedbank – Tranche 5
June 2020
Nedbank – Tranche 9
December 2019
Standard Bank – Tranche 2
June 2020
Standard Bank – Tranche 3
August 2017
Standard Bank – Tranche 7A
December 2018
Standard Bank – Tranche 7B
December 2019
Standard Bank – Tranche 10
May 2019
Standard Bank – Tranche 12
March 2020
Standard Bank General Banking
Facility
April 2017
Investec – Tranche 8A
December 2020
Investec – Tranche 8B
December 2021
Investec – Tranche 3
August 2020
Loans – unsecured – DMTN
programme
Commercial Paper
April 2017
Tranche 7
June 2017
Tranche 8
June 2018
Tranche 9
June 2019
Tranche 10
October 2016
Tranche 11
October 2018
Tranche 13
December 2020
Tranche 14
December 2018
Tranche 15
December 2020
Tranche 16
December 2021
Tranche 20
March 2020
Tranche 21
March 2022
Loans – secured – bank debt
Nedbank – Tranche 1
October 2018
Nedbank – Tranche 6
December 2021
Standard Bank – Tranche 1
June 2019
Standard Bank – Tranche 6
December 2020
Old Mutual – Tranche 6
December 2022
Old Mutual – Tranche 6
December 2025
Investec – Tranche 6
December 2020
Loans – secured – DMTN programme
Tranche 2
April 2016
Tranche 3
April 2017
Tranche 6
April 2017
Tranche 12
April 2018
Tranche 17
December 2020
Tranche 18
December 2021
Tranche 19
December 2022

Total long-term borrowings – unsecured
Total long-term borrowings – secured
Total loans
Less: Amortised fees
Long-term borrowings
Less portion repayable within the next 12 months – at amortised cost
Total non-current financial liabilities

Post year-end, the Fund rolled R242m of three-month commercial paper at margin of 45.5 basis points, repaid R276m of corporate
bonds and raised bank debt of R250m with SBSA. The Fund issued corporate bonds for R150 million, unsecured at a margin of
180bps and repaid corporate bonds to the same value, which matured in June 2017.
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For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

5 386

–

17. Deferred taxation
Gain on fair value of investment

A deferred tax liability arose on the fair value gain through profit and loss on Ingenuity as a result of Ingenuity not being classified as
a REIT. The Fund also holds less than 20% of Ingenuity and therefore Ingenuity does not meet the definition of a Property Company
as defined under section 25BB of the Income Tax Act.
Deferred tax is recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
However section 25BB of the Income Tax Act allows for the deduction of the qualifying distribution paid to shareholders, but the
deduction is limited to taxable income. To the extent that no tax will be payable in future as a result of the qualifying distribution, no
deferred tax is raised on items such as the straight-line rental revenue adjustment and revenue received in advance.
As the Fund is a REIT, capital gains taxation (‘CGT’) is no longer applicable on the sale of investment property in terms of
section 25BB of the Income Tax Act. The deferred tax rate applied to investment property at the sale rate will therefore be 0%.
Consequently, no deferred tax is raised on the fair value adjustments on investment property.
Deferred tax arises on the investments in IAPF and Ingenuity on the presumption that the investment will be realised through sale
and CGT will be payable. However in the event that the Fund holds greater than 20% of an investment, this investment is a Property
Company as defined in section 25BB of the Income Tax Act and therefore the sale thereof is not subject to CGT.
Deferred tax is not raised on the investment in IAPF as the Fund holds greater than 20% of IAPF.
For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

18. Trade and other payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued interest

119 934

97 525

62 731

65 483

Tenant deposits

53 863

61 601

Trade creditors

46 439

37 283

Value-added tax creditor

22 533

21 710

Income received in advance

59 710

14 057

Musina Mall project costs

51 753

–

Sundry creditors

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

5 289

12 445

422 252

310 104

2017

2016

19 084 723

17 245 753

19. Net asset value
Total assets
Less: Total liabilities

6 916 796

6 148 650

12 167 927

11 097 103

718 150 167

700 228 202

1 694

1 585

Net asset value
Shares
Shares in issue at the end of the period
Cents
Net asset value per share

96
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2017

2016

1 472 152

967 680

(122 691)

(92 259)

Non-cash items

16 572

31 096

Working capital movement

53 202

(130)

(11 766)

(97 602)

20. Cash generated from operations
Operating profit
Straight-line rental adjustment

Decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

64 968

97 472

1 419 235

906 387

2017

2016

310 252

200 524

310 252

200 524

21. Borrowing powers
The borrowing capacity of the Fund is unlimited in terms of its Memorandum of Incorporation.
For the year ended 31 March
R’000

22. Capital commitments
Authorised and contracted

At 31 March 2017, the Fund had committed to capital expenditure of R310 million comprising the Musina Mall redevelopment, the
pilot solar project at Musina Mall and the acquisition of properties.
For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

23. Minimum contracted rental
The Fund leases a number of retail, office and industrial properties under operating leases, which
typically run for a period of three to five years.
Contractual amounts due in terms of operating lease agreements:
Less than 1 year

1 463 702

1 462 757

Between 1 and 5 years

3 635 273

3 785 427

More than 5 years

1 040 910

1 834 249

6 139 885

7 082 433

Lessees are entitled to the use of the properties leased to them for their own business purposes for the duration of the contracted
lease period.
All leases currently take the form of operating leases as per IAS 17: Leases (‘IAS 17’) as no lease transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards of incidental ownership.
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For the year ended 31 March
R’000

2017

2016

24. Related party transactions
Investec Property Proprietary Limited
Asset management fees paid

(43 061)

(39 453)

Letting commissions paid

(12 339)

(3 108)

Rental guarantees received

870

8 741

–

(43 000)

(1 889)

(46 182)

7 203

–

Transaction fees paid1
Capital expenditure
Investec Australia Property Fund
Underwriting fees
Investec Bank Limited Group
Cash and cash equivalents2

115 127

44 715

Borrowings

(493 075)

(565 819)

Fair value of swap derivative

(85 376)

(3 746)

Rental received in respect of Investec tenanted buildings

57 152

52 918

7 631

6 357

Interest received3
Sponsor fees paid

(170)

(191)

Corporate advisory and structuring fees paid

(743)

(35 633)

Interest paid – related party borrowings

(46 297)

(18 331)

Interest paid – swap derivative

(15 716)

(23 538)

The Fund has entered into the above related party transactions during the year with Investec Limited and its subsidiaries.
	Transaction fees in the prior year related to the Zenprop and Griffin transactions and were payable to IP.
Included in the carrying values as per the statement of financial position.
3
Interest is earned at the overnight Safex call rate of 6.80% (2016: 6.74%).
1
2

REIT status requirements

IPF status

25. REIT requirements
JSE requirements

Taxation requirements

98

• Distribute at least 75% of distributable profits

✔

• Rental income must comprise 75% of revenue

✔

• Total liabilities cannot exceed 60% of total assets

✔

• 75% of gross income must comprise rental income

✔
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Held for
trading

Held at
fair value

Amortised Non-financial
cost instruments

5 022

1 391 573

–

17 371 495

18 768 090

–

–

–

16 176 214

16 176 214
424 663

Total

26. Financial risk management
26.1 Total assets and liabilities
The table below sets out the Fund’s accounting
classification of each class of assets and
liabilities at 31 March 2017
Assets
Non-current assets
Investment property
Straight-line rental revenue adjustment
Derivative financial instruments
Investments
Non-current assets held for sale

–

–

–

424 663

5 022

–

–

–

5 022

–

1 391 573

–

–

1 391 573

–

–

–

770 618

770 618

3 289

–

260 789

52 555

316 633

Trade and other receivables

–

–

101 412

52 555

153 967

Cash and cash equivalents

–

–

159 377

–

159 377

Current portion of derivative financial instruments

3 289

–

–

–

3 289

Total assets

8 311

1 391 573

260 789

17 424 050

19 084 723

77 747

–

5 630 885

5 386

5 714 018

Current assets

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings

–

–

5 630 885

–

5 630 885

77 747

–

–

–

77 747

–

–

–

5 386

5 386

21 094

–

1 099 441

82 243

1 202 778

Trade and other payables

–

–

340 009

82 243

422 252

Current portion of other non-current liabilities

–

–

759 432

–

759 432

Current portion of derivative financial instruments

21 094

–

–

–

21 094

Total liabilities

98 841

–

6 730 326

87 629

6 916 796

Derivative financial instruments
Deferred taxation
Current liabilities
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R’000

Held for
trading

Designated
at fair value

Amortised Non-financial
cost instruments

Total

26. Financial risk management
(continued)

26.1 Total assets and liabilities (continued)
The table below sets out the Fund’s accounting
classification of each class of asset and liability
at 31 March 2016
Assets
Non-current assets

41 848

531 772

–

16 459 713

17 033 333

Investment property

–

–

–

16 129 988

16 129 988

Straight-line rental revenue adjustment

–

–

–

329 725

329 725

Derivative financial instruments

41 848

–

–

–

41 848

Investment

–

531 772

–

–

531 772

Current assets

–

–

176 359

36 061

212 420

Trade and other receivables

–

–

122 898

36 061

158 959

Cash and cash equivalents

–

–

53 461

–

53 461

41 848

531 772

176 359

16 495 774

17 245 753

45 945

–

5 093 477

–

5 139 422
5 093 477

Total assets
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings

–

–

5 093 477

–

45 945

–

–

–

45 945

Current liabilities

–

–

973 461

35 767

1 009 228

Trade and other payables

–

–

274 337

35 767

310 104

Current portion of other non-current liabilities

–

–

699 124

–

699 124

Taxation payable

–

–

–

–

–

45 945

–

6 066 938

35 767

6 148 650

Derivative financial instruments

Total liabilities

26.2 Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method, defined as follows:
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at measurement
date.
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the assets and liabilities, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) Please refer to note 27 for disclosure of significant inputs and
measurement methods.
Level 3 – inputs for the assets and liabilities that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
For cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables, trade and other recievables as well as variable interest rate loans
which are not carried at fair value, the carrying value is a reasonable approximation of fair value. In accordance with IFRS 7.29
no disclosure around fair value is required for these items.
The fair value of fixed rate borrowings is R226m (2016: R226m). The fixed rate borrowings comprises one corporate bond which
was repaid subsequent to year-end.
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(continued)

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

Total
financial
instruments
recognised
at fair value

Level within the fair value hierarchy
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

2017
Assets
Investments

1 391 573

1 391 573

–

–

8 311

–

8 311

–

1 399 884

1 391 573

8 311

–

Derivative financial instruments

98 841

–

98 841

–

Total liabilities

98 841

–

98 841

–

531 772

531 772

–

–

41 848

–

41 848

–

573 620

531 772

41 848

–

Derivative financial instruments

45 945

–

45 945

–

Total liabilities

45 945

–

45 945

–

Derivative financial instruments
Total assets
Liabilities

2016
Assets
Investments
Derivative financial instruments
Total assets
Liabilities

Details of changes in valuation techniques in current and prior year
There have been no significant changes in valuation techniques during the current or prior year.
There were no significant transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 in the current or prior year.

27. Estimation of fair value
The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments:

27.1 Investments
The Fund carries its investment in IAPF and its invesment in Ingenuity at fair value through profit and loss. Fair value is based on the
closing share price on the JSE, multiplied by the number of shares held on 31 March.

27.2 Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments consist of interest rate hedging instruments, cross currency hedging as well as foreign exchange
hedging instruments. Interest rate hedging instruments are valued by discounting future cash flows using the market rate indicated
on the interest rate curve (see definition below) at the dates when the cash flows will take place. Foreign exchange hedging
instruments are valued by making reference to market prices for similar instruments and discounting for the effect of the time value
of money.

Definition of ‘interest rate curve’
The interest rate curve is the South African swap curve which represents a benchmark interest rate curve for all Jibar-related
transactions in the market. Jibar itself is a benchmark short-term interest rate and, as such, the swap curve gives a representation
of future expectations of Jibar. It is constructed using both short-dated financial instruments (such as forward rate agreements
(‘FRAs’)), as well as longer-dated instruments (such as swaps) where the movements in the curve are reflected through price
changes of the underlying instruments.

27.3 Investment property
The current use of the property is considered the highest and best use.
Under the income capitalisation method a property’s fair value is estimated based on the normalised net operating income generated
by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation rate.
The income capitalisation method is a generally accepted valuation methodology used within the industry. Valuation policies and
procedures are agreed upon by management.
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27. Estimation of fair value (continued)
27.4 Valuation techniques used to derive Level 3 fair values
For all classes of investment property the significant unobservable inputs listed below are used in the income capitalisation method to
determine the fair value measurement at the end of the reporting period.
The following factors influence the equivalent yield applied by management when determining a fair value of a building:
• Vacancy rate
• Expected rental
• Lease term
The table below includes the following descriptions and definitions relating to key unobservable inputs made in determining fair value:
Expected rental value (‘ERV’)

The rent at which space could be let in the market conditions prevailing at the date of valuation.

Equivalent yield

The equivalent yield is defined as the internal rate of return of the cash flow from the property,
assuming a rise to ERV at the next review, but with no further rental growth.

Long-term vacancy rate

The ERV of the expected long-term average structural vacant space divided by ERV of the whole
property. Long-term vacancy rate can also be determined based on the percentage of estimated
vacant space divided by the total lettable area.

Significant unobservable
inputs

Relationship between unobservable inputs and fair value measurement

Expected rental value (‘ERV’)

Increases in ERV would increase estimated fair value.

Equivalent yield

Increases/decreases in the equivalent yield would result in decreases/increases in the estimated
fair value (range 7% – 15%).

Long-term vacancy rate

Increases/decreases in the long-term vacancy rate would result in decreases/increases in the
estimated fair value.

Given the high tenancy rates of the Fund’s property portfolio the long-term vacancy rate may not always be applicable.
There are interrelationships between ERV, the long-term vacancy rate and the equivalent yield. Having a lower (higher) vacancy rate
would increase/decrease the ERV for a property.
Across the portfolio of properties held at 31 March 2017 it was determined that if the equivalent yield applied per property increases/
decreases by 50 basis points the overall value of the portfolio would decrease by 5.3% (2016: 5.5%) or increase by 6.0% (2016:
6.1%).
Designated at fair value

For the year ended 31 March
R’000

Total gain
or (loss)
in the period
in the income
Level 3
statement

Level 1

Level 2

Office

–

–

6 362 854

325 569

Industrial

–

–

3 735 045

134 794

Retail

–

–

6 502 978

104 989

Non-current assets held-for-sale

–

–

770 618

(2 080)

17 371 495

563 272

2017
Investment property

Total assets
2016
Investment property
Office

–

–

6 552 959

82 697

Industrial

–

–

3 847 683

20 974

Retail

–

–

6 059 071

137 766

Total assets

–

–

16 459 713

241 437

Details of changes in valuation techniques
There have been no significant changes in valuation techniques during the year under review.

Significant transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3
There have been no transfers between hierarchy levels
Management considers the observability of inputs on an annual basis.
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27.4

Valuation techniques used to derive level 3 fair values (continued)
All gains and losses recorded in profit or loss for recurring fair value measurements categorised within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy are attributable to changes in unrealised gains or losses relating to investment property held at the end of the reporting
period.
Please refer to the reconciliation of investment property provided under segmental analysis which facilitates full IFRS 13 compliance
in combination with the disclosure in this note.

27.5

Other financial risk management considerations
The financial instruments of the Fund consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents (including deposits with banks), borrowings,
derivative instruments, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables and dividends. The Fund purchases or issues
financial instruments in order to finance operations and to manage the interest rate risks that arise from these operations and
the source of funding.
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
a – Credit risk
b – Market risk
c – Liquidity risk
The board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s risk management framework. The board has
established the audit and risk committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring the Fund’s risk management policies.
The audit and risk committee reports regularly to the board on its activities.
The audit and risk committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Fund’s risk management policies and
procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Fund. The audit and
risk committee is assisted in its oversight role by Investec internal audit, which undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk
management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit and risk committee.

27.5 (a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Fund if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations, and arises from derivatives, trade and other receivables as well as cash and cash equivalents. There is no significant
concentration of credit risk as exposure is spread over a large number of counterparties.

Exposure to credit risk
R’000
Trade and other receivables (excluding non-financial instruments)
Derivative financial instruments (asset)
Cash and cash equivalents

2017

2016

101 412

122 898

8 311

41 848

159 377

53 461

Derivative assets and cash and cash equivalents
Exposure to credit risk is limited by investing in liquid funds and entering into derivative financial instruments with counterparties
who have a high percentage tier 1 capital holdings and strong credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Concentration risk
The majority of the cash and derivative balances are held with Investec Bank Limited and/or its subsidiaries. In addition, cash and
derivative balances are held with Nedbank and Standard Bank. The Fund does not see this as a risk as these banks have high
credit ratings.

Trade receivables
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is mainly in respect of clients and is influenced by the individual characteristics of each client.
The Fund’s widespread client base reduces credit risk.
Management has established a credit policy under which each new client is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the
Fund’s standard payment terms and conditions are offered which include, in the majority of cases, the provision of a deposit of at
least one month’s rental. When available, the Fund’s credit review includes external ratings.
Impairment losses have been recorded for those debts whose recovery was not reasonably assured at year-end. The maximum
credit exposure at the reporting date was R47.4m (2016: R36.8m), of which R25.4m (2016: R8.6m) has already been provided for.
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27.5 (b) Market risk
Interest rate risk
The Fund is exposed to interest rate risk and adopts a policy of ensuring that at least 75% of its exposure to changes in interest
rates on borrowings is on a fixed basis. This is achieved by entering into fixed for interest variable rate swap instruments. All such
transactions are carried out within the guidelines set by the audit and risk committee. As a consequence, the Fund is exposed to
fair value interest rate risk in respect of the fair value of its interest rate derivative instruments, which will not have an impact on
distributions. Short-term receivables and payables and investments are not directly exposed to interest rate risk.
It is estimated that for the year ended 31 March 2017, a 1% increase/decrease in interest rates on the variable rate borrowings
would have increased/decreased the Fund’s profit after tax by approximately R10.9m (2016: R8.3m).
At 31 March 2017 86% (2016:75%) of interest-bearing borrowings were fixed for a weighted average of 3.2 years (2016: 3.6 years).

Currency risk
The Fund is exposed to currency risk as a result of its investment in IAPF. IAPF dividends will be declared in Australian Dollars and
this exposes the Fund to changes in the value of the distribution as a result of currency fluctuations. This risk is not material.

Share price risk
IPF is exposed to share price risks due to the fact that the Fund holds equity instruments in other entities, IAPF and Ingenuity.
The changes in the share price of these investments will result in fair value adjustments and effects the carrying value of the
investment.
For every R1.00 movement in the share price of IAPF, the value of the investment that is recognised by the Fund increases/
decreases by R100.2m. (2016: R38.5m). For every 10 cents movement in the share price of Ingenuity, the value of the investment
that is recognised by Fund increases/decreases by R9.9m.
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27.5 (b) Market risk (continued)
Derivatives
Derivative instruments are used to hedge the Fund’s exposure to any increases in interest rates on variable rate loans. Interest
rate swap contracts are entered into whereby the Fund hedges out its variable rate obligation to provide a maximum fixed rate
obligation.

Interest rate swaps
Details of the interest rate fixed for variable swap instruments are as follows:

Financial institution

Nominal
amount
R’000

Expiry date
financial
year

Weighted
average
swap rate
(%)

31 March 2017
Investec

439 250

2018

7.94

Investec/Nedbank

780 000

2019

7.39

Investec/Nedbank

1 245 000

2020

7.75

Investec/Nedbank

1 221 250

2021

7.86

Investec

1 007 750

2022

7.94

Investec

181 500

2023

8.12

Investec

50 000

2024

7.99

31 March 2016
Investec

131 200

2017

0.31

Investec

294 450

2018

3.76

1 142 500

2019

7.06

Investec/Nedbank
Investec/Nedbank

1 195 000

2020

7.76

Investec/Nedbank

1 008 750

2021

7.89

Investec

401 250

2022

8.07

Investec

125 000

2023

8.08

The notional amount includes forward starting swaps of R113m, which start in December 2017.

Forward exchange rate contracts
Forward exchange contracts (‘FECs’) are entered into to mitigate foreign exchange exposure. The details of the FEC instruments
are as follows:

Nominal
AUD’000

Expiry date
financial
year

Weighted
average
exchange
rate

Investec

4 375

2018

10.72

Investec

3 100

2019

11.15

Investec

2 500

2020

11.47

Investec

2 200

2021

12.08

Investec

2 000

2022

12.73

Financial institution
31 March 2017

31 March 2016
Investec

1 375

2017

10.42

Investec

1 200

2018

11.03

Investec

500

2019

12.45
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27.5 (b) Market risk (continued)
Cross-currency swaps
Cross-currency swaps (‘CCS’) were entered into to convert ZAR borrowings to hedge the mismatch between currency of
borrowing and currency of investment. The details of the CCS are as follows:
Nominal
AUD’000

Expiry date
financial
year

AUD
rate
%

Investec

5 227

2019

4.58

Investec

36 017

2020

4.47

Investec

18 750

2022

4.84

Investec

5 227

2019

4.58

Investec

17 260

2020

5.40

Financial institution
31 March 2017

31 March 2016

27.5 (c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Fund’s policy is to seek to
minimise its exposure to liquidity risk by balancing its exposure to interest rate risk and to refinancing risk. In effect the Fund seeks
to borrow for as long as possible at the lowest acceptable cost.
The Fund regularly reviews the maturity profile of its financial liabilities and will seek to avoid concentration of maturities through the
regular replacement of facilities and by using a selection of maturity dates.
The tables below set out the maturity analysis of the Fund’s financial liabilities based on the undiscounted contractual cash flows.
For the year ended 31 March
R’000

Within 1 year

1 – 2 years

2 – 5 years

Over 5 years

Total

1 037 526

1 152 731

4 869 180

533 610

7 593 047

18 097

23 180

82 620

1 653

125 550

340 009

–

–

–

340 009

1 395 632

1 175 911

4 951 800

535 263

8 058 606

1 182 213

1 040 534

3 991 735

1 653 855

7 868 337

19 917

20 252

46 127

4 767

91 063

274 337

–

–

–

274 337

1 476 467

1 060 786

4 037 862

1 658 622

8 233 737

2017
Long-term borrowings
Derivatives
Trade and other payables
Total liabilities
2016
Long-term borrowings
Derivatives
Trade and other payables
Total liabilities

Cash flows are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that cash resources are adequate to meet the funding requirements of the
Fund. In terms of covenants with its lenders, the nominal value of interest-bearing borrowings may not exceed 50% of the value of
investment property and carrying value of investments. The interest cover ratio is not less that 2x.
Secured debt also has other SPV covenants which apply.
The Fund has comfortably met all its covenant requirements.
For the year ended 31 March
R’000
Value of investment property and other investments
Value of interest-bearing borrowings utilised at year-end
Ratio of interest-bearing borrowings to value of total investments
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2017

2016

18 763 068

16 991 485

6 390 317

5 792 601

34.1%

34.1%
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Capital management
In terms of its Memorandum of Incorporation, the Fund has unlimited borrowing capacity. The Fund is funded partly by stated share
capital and partly by external borrowings.
In terms of its covenants entered into during the year, the Fund is committed to a maximum value of external borrowings of 50%
of the value of investment property and investment assets. In practice, the Fund aims to keep gearing levels between 30% and
40% over the long term. At 31 March 2017, the nominal value of borrowings was equal to 34.1% (2016: 34.1%) of the value of
investment property and other investments.
The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, comprising its shareholders’ interest, so as to promote investor, creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. It is the Fund’s stated purpose to deliver medium to longterm sustainable growth in distributions per share. All net profits are distributed on a six-monthly basis. The board monitors the level
of distributions to shareholders and ensures that no profits of a capital nature are distributed. There were no changes in the Fund’s
approach to capital management during the year. The company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

29.

Subsequent events
Post year-end the Fund has rolled the commercial paper of R242m for a further three months at an attractive margin of 45.5bps
and repaid R276m of corporate bonds. The Fund has also entered into a new debt facility with Standard Bank for R250m, secured
at a margin of 172bps above three-month JIBAR. In addition, the Fund issued corporate bonds for R150 million, unsecured at a
margin of 180bps above three-month JIBAR and repaid corporate bonds which matured, to the same value.
Two investment properties were disposed of for proceeds of R85.1 million. These were disclosed in non-current assets held-forsale at 31 March 2017.
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Property portfolio
Physical address

Building
grade

Province

1 & 1A Protea Place

1 Protea Place, Sandton

P

Gauteng

2929 on Nicol

2929 William Nicol Drive, Bryanston

P

Gauteng

3 Sandown Valley Crescent

3 Sandown Valley Crescent, Sandton

B

Gauteng

30 Jellicoe

30 Jellicoe Avenue Rosebank

P

Gauteng

34 Ingersol

Lynnwood Glen, Pretoria

B

Gauteng

345 Rivonia Road

345 Rivonia Road, Rivonia, Johannesburg

A

Gauteng

4 Protea Place

4 Protea Place, Sandown, Sandton

C

Gauteng

4 Sandown Valley Crescent

4 Sandown Valley Crescent, Sandton

A

Gauteng

5 Bond Street

5 Bond Street, Midrand

A

Gauteng

Barinors Vineyards - Farm 5

99 Jip de Jager Drive, Tyger Valley, Cape Town

B

Western Cape

Bigen Africa

1617 Allan Cormack Street, Pretoria

A

Gauteng

Clover Head Office

200 Constantia Drive, Constantia Kloof, Roodepoort

B

Gauteng

Commerce Corner

4 Burke Street Cnr Bond Street, Randburg, Gauteng

B

Gauteng

Innovation Group

192 Bram Fischer Street, Kensington, Randburg, Johannesburg

A

Gauteng

Intercare Fourways

Cnr Fourways Boulevard & Short Streets

B

Gauteng

International SOS

1 New Road, Midrand Grand Central, Gauteng

C

Gauteng

Investec Offices Durban

5 Richefond Circle, Ridgeside Office Park, Uhmhlanga Rocks

A

KZN

Investec Offices Pretoria

Cnr Atterbury & Klarinet Streets, Menlo Park, Pretoria

A

Gauteng

Nedbank Umhlanga Rocks

2 Ncondo Drive, Umhlanga Rocks, Durban

P

KwaZulu-Natal

Nicol Grove – Business Centre

Nicol Grove Office Park, Design Quarter, Cnr William Nicol Drive and Leslie Ave,
Fourways

B

Gauteng

Nicol Grove – Lexmark

Nicol Grove Office Park, Design Quarter, Cnr William Nicol Drive and Leslie Ave,
Fourways

B

Gauteng

Nicol Grove – Old Mutual\Pod
Communications

Nicol Grove Office Park, Design Quarter, Cnr William Nicol Drive and Leslie Ave,
Fourways

A

Gauteng

Nicol Grove – Saatchi & Saatchi

Nicol Grove Office Park, Design Quarter, Cnr William Nicol Drive and Leslie Ave,
Fourways

A

Gauteng

Nicol Main Office Park Building A

6 Bruton Road, Bryanston, Johannesburg

P

Gauteng

Nicol Main Office Park Building B

6 Bruton Road, Bryanston, Johannesburg

P

Gauteng

Nicol Main Office Park Building C

6 Bruton Road, Bryanston, Johannesburg

P

Gauteng

Nicol Main Office Park Building D

6 Bruton Road, Bryanston, Johannesburg

P

Gauteng

Nicol Main Office Park Building E

6 Bruton Road, Bryanston, Johannesburg

P

Gauteng

The Braes Office Park

3 & 5 Eaton Ave, Bryanston, Johannesburg

B

Gauteng

The Firs

193 Oxford Road, Rosebank, Johannesburg

C

Gauteng

Vinebridge

99 Jip de Jager Drive, Tyger Valley, Cape Town

B

Western Cape

Wellness Centre

17 Eaton Ave, Bryanston, Johannesburg

B

Gauteng

Woodmead North Office Park

Woodmead North Office Park, 54 Maxwell Drive, Woodmead

A

Gauteng

Woolworths House

93 Longmarket Street, CBD, Cape Town

C

Western Cape

52 Jakaranda

Hennopspark, Pretoria

High-Tech

Gauteng

6 Nywerheid (Tunney)

Cnr Nywerheid Street & Evergreen Road, Tunney, Elandsfontein

Manufacturing

Gauteng

8 Flamink (Alrode)

8 Flamink Street, Alrode Ext 5, Alrode

Warehousing

Gauteng

Aberdare Cables

181 Barbara Road, Elandsfontein

Warehousing

Gauteng

Alrode Multipark

1 Potgieter Street, Alrode Ext 8, Alberton

Warehousing

Gauteng

Aluminco

56 Loper Street, Spartan, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Ampaglas East London

11 Schoof Street, Wilsonia, East London

Manufacturing

Eastern Cape

Beechwood House

33 Bearing Crescent, Silverton, Pretoria

High-Tech

Gauteng

Benoni Multipark

1 Van Dyk Road, Benoni Ext 12, Benoni

Standard Units

Gauteng

Brandhouse

17 Greenhills Road, Elandsfontein

Warehousing

Gauteng

British American Tobacco

285 Maggs Street, Waltloo, Pretoria

Warehousing

Gauteng

Consol

No 1 North Reef Road, Germiston/Wilbart, Gauteng

Warehousing

Gauteng

Property name
Office

Office total
Industrial
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GLA (m2)
FY2017

Effective
date of
acquisition

20 066

01/11/2015

813 893 036

814 071 114

40 570

234.15

100.0

97.3

16 149

22/12/2015

506 123 391

508 779 882

31 505

146.23

100.0

100.0

13 889

01/11/2015

361 975 601

350 000 000

25 199

148.79

100.0

100.0

10 749

01/02/2015

373 714 860

410 456 500

38 186

207.32

100.0

100.0

2 376

01/02/2015

48 756 235

52 552 944

22 118

134.14

100.0

100.0

10 495

01/04/2011

136 220 282

158 279 688

15 082

108.62

94.6

91.6

6 956

01/04/2011

148 000 000

175 882 204

25 286

130.93

100.0

100.0

11 020

01/11/2015

342 968 121

332 500 000

30 172

173.80

95.2

95.2

5 870

01/05/2013

127 250 000

135 000 000

22 998

180.61

100.0

100.0

5 388

02/05/2014

93 605 000

98 874 846

18 351

116.31

100.0

100.0

5 412

01/10/2013

130 900 000

135 000 000

24 947

203.64

100.0

100.0

8 011

07/03/2014

139 664 000

140 351 652

17 520

136.22

100.0

100.0

3 321

28/10/2015

30 952 992

30 952 992

9 320

92.78

100.0

100.0

15 500

01/10/2011

210 113 000

222 925 755

14 382

92.89

100.0

100.0

2 716

01/09/2014

48 000 000

51 023 309

18 787

143.34

100.0

100.0

3 604

28/10/2015

32 556 127

33 500 000

9 294

148.05

100.0

100.0

6 543

01/04/2011

230 000 000

230 008 273

35 153

343.58

100.0

100.0

6 301

01/11/2012

186 998 000

190 000 000

30 156

188.01

100.0

100.0

7 038

01/11/2015

241 933 386

241 933 386

34 375

198.82

100.0

94.1

9 211

01/11/2015

284 479 775

274 000 000

29 747

178.78

100.0

95.9

1 946

01/11/2015

41 698 379

41 698 379

21 433

88.88

100.0

100.0

2 559

01/11/2015

52 911 292

52 911 292

20 673

132.11

100.0

100.0

4 243

01/11/2015

111 317 906

111 323 546

26 237

157.74

100.0

90.0

2 094

31/03/2014

67 000 000

61 000 000

29 131

222.11

100.0

100.0

2 061

31/03/2014

58 665 000

60 000 000

29 112

166.05

100.0

100.0

2 461

31/03/2014

62 225 302

64 200 000

26 087

139.53

100.0

100.0

2 095

01/07/2014

55 007 000

58 200 000

27 780

147.15

100.0

100.0

3 239

01/11/2014

80 069 000

84 500 000

26 088

144.80

100.0

100.0

4 372

07/03/2014

85 000 000

85 115 966

19 468

116.54

100.0

63.8

13 086

01/10/2012

442 248 769

476 900 000

36 431

210.17

100.0

99.2

2 297

07/03/2014

41 256 000

44 343 433

19 307

114.79

100.0

100.0

1 494

07/03/2014

22 350 000

22 350 000

14 960

83.94

68.8

78.5

7 848

01/11/2015

197 397 320

217 528 833

27 718

146.89

100.0

100.0

30 435

01/04/2011

Carrying
value/
directors’
valuation (R)
FY2017

Valuation
per m2 (R)
FY2017

Average
net rental*
per m2 (R)
FY2017

Property portfolio

*

Occupancy
rate (%)
as at
31 March
FY2016

Carrying
value/
directors’
valuation (R)
FY2016

Occupancy
rate (%)
as at
31 March
FY2017

368 000 000

393 597 612

12 932

95.79

100.0

100.0

6 173 249 773

6 359 761 606

830 508

157.54

97.8

97.9

19 758

01/02/2015

46 722 000

49 516 508

2 506

18.94

100.0

100.0

4 035

01/04/2011

27 460 000

30 000 000

7 435

62.55

100.0

100.0

6 837

01/04/2011

33 300 000

33 308 273

4 872

41.44

100.0

100.0

49 406

01/11/2015

276 866 996

284 029 420

5 749

39.87

100.0

100.0

90 965

01/04/2011

322 943 300

391 000 000

4 317

41.67

99.6

100.0

501

28/10/2015

2 050 340

1 350 000

2 697

39.11

100.0

0.0

5 802

01/04/2011

11 000 000

11 008 273

1 897

18.61

100.0

100.0
100.0

5 677

07/03/2014

51 802 000

47 154 915

8 306

88.74

100.0

41 038

01/04/2011

113 352 000

155 094 409

3 779

29.76

95.9

95.9

40 428

01/11/2015

418 584 858

418 680 058

10 356

65.03

100.0

100.0

13 417

01/12/2011

54 400 000

54 408 273

4 055

50.87

100.0

100.0

21 441

28/10/2015

94 363 647

92 500 000

4 314

43.31

100.0

100.0

(excluding parking)
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Property portfolio
(continued)

Property portfolio
Property name

Physical address

Building
grade

Province

Diesel Road

45 Diesel Road, Isando

Warehousing

Gauteng

General Electric

130 Gazelle Street, Northmid Corporate Park, Midrand

High-Tech

Gauteng

Grindrod

23 Nguni Drive, Longmeadow, Gauteng

Warehousing

Gauteng

Jotun Paints

58 Loper Street, Spartan, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Kevro – Longlake

Mastiff Drive, Linbro, Gauteng

Warehousing

Gauteng

Kevro – Longmeadow

25 Nguni Drive, Longmeadow, Gauteng

Warehousing

Gauteng

Lerwick Road

1 Lerwick Road, Wentworth, Durban

Warehousing

KwaZulu-Natal

Martin & Martin

9 Quality Street, Isando, Johannesburg

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Minolta Highveld

14A Esdoring Nook, Techno Park, Highveld, Pretoria

High-Tech

Gauteng

MTU

38 – 40 Loper Street, Spartan, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Premier Food CT

7 Moorson Road, Epping/Cape Town, Western Cape

Manufacturing

Western Cape

Renew It

26 Old Pretoria Road, Wynberg, Sandton

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Riverhorse – ABB

31 Imvubu Park Place, Riverhorse Valley, Durban

Warehousing

KwaZulu-Natal

Riverhorse – Adcock Ingram

39 Imvubu Park Place, Riverhorse Valley, Durban

Warehousing

KwaZulu-Natal

Riverhorse – Discovery Health

41 Imvubu Park Place, Riverhorse Valley, Durban

Warehousing

KwaZulu-Natal

Riverhorse – IHD

25 Imvubu Park Place, Riverhorse Valley, Durban

Warehousing

KwaZulu-Natal

Riverhorse – Media24

43 Imvubu Park Place, Riverhorse Valley, Durban

Warehousing

KwaZulu-Natal

Riverhorse – Midas

37 Imvubu Park Place, Riverhorse Valley, Durban

Warehousing

KwaZulu-Natal

Riverhorse – RTT

25 Imvubu Park Place, Riverhorse Valley, Durban

Warehousing

KwaZulu-Natal

SA Ladder

32 Potgieter Street, Alrode, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Table Charm Aeroton

103 Aeroton Avenue, Aeroton, Johannesburg

Warehousing

Gauteng

Thistle Bakery

15 Brussels Road, Spartan, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

WACO

181 Barbara Road, Elandsfontein

Warehousing

Gauteng

Balfour Mall

Cnr Johannesburg Road & Louis Botha Avenue, Highlands North, Kensington

Small Regional

Gauteng

BMW Boksburg North

Cnr North Rand & Pond Roads, Bardene, Boksburg North

Motor dealership

Gauteng

Bryanston Boulevard

Cnr William Nicol & Bryanston Drive, Bryanston, Johannesburg

High Street

Gauteng

Builders Warehouse Bloemfontein 349 Curi Ave, Bloemfontein

Retail warehouse

Free State

Builders Warehouse Polokwane

Retail warehouse

Limpopo

Builders Warehouse Tiger Wheel & 5 Lois Road, Gleneagles, Johannesburg
Tyre The Glen

Retail warehouse

Gauteng

Builders Warehouse Witbank

Mandela Street, President Park, Emalahleni

Retail warehouse

Mpumulanga

Builders Warehouse Zambesi

371 Veda Ave, Montana, Pretoria

Retail warehouse

Gauteng

CMH

223 New Road, Midrand, Gauteng

Motor dealership

Gauteng

Design Quarter Mall

Design Quarter, Cnr William Nicol Drive and Leslie Ave, Fourways

Small Regional
Centre

Gauteng

Devland Oudtshoorn

243 Hoog Street, Oudtshoorn

Retail warehouse

Western Cape

Devland Silverlakes

Cnr Solomon Mahlangu Drive & Bendeman Boulevard, Silverlakes, Pretoria

Retail warehouse

Gauteng

Dihlabeng Mall

Cnr of Paul Laesecke Avenue & Preekstoel Road, Bethlehem

Small Regional

Free State

Fleurdal Mall

Fleurdal Bloemfontein

Community

Free State

Jet Umtata

C/o 58 York Road & 15 Owen Street, Umtata

High Street

Eastern Cape

Kriel Mall

Bronwyn Street, Kriel

Community

Mpumulanga

Masscash Kimberley

4, 4a & 6 Cecil Sussman Road, Kimberley

Retail warehouse

Northern Cape

McCarthy Menlyn

Cnr of Garsfontein Road & January Masilela Drive, Menlyn

Motor dealership

Gauteng

Musina Mall

Cnr N1, Smelter Avenue & Harper Road, Musina, Limpopo

Community

Limpopo

Newcastle Mall

Cnr Oak and Ladysmith Road, Newcastle

Large Community
Centre

KwaZulu-Natal

Nicol Grove – Golfers Club

Nicol Grove Office Park, Design Quarter, Cnr William Nicol Drive and Leslie Ave,
Fourways

Retail value centre

Gauteng

Nonkqubela 2

Sulani Drive, Khayelitsha

Local convenience

Western Cape

Nonquebela Link Mall

1 Sulani Drive, Khayelitsha, Western Cape

Neighbourhood

Western Cape

Industrial total
Retail
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Property portfolio
(continued)

Occupancy
rate (%)
as at
31 March
FY2017

GLA (m2)
FY2017

Effective
date of
acquisition

22 057

01/02/2015

117 704 397

118 671 780

5 380

47.87

100.0

100.0

11 180

25/07/2012

154 000 000

154 612 923

13 829

102.61

100.0

100.0

7 640

28/10/2015

84 911 056

84 911 056

11 115

106.56

100.0

100.0

2 090

28/10/2015

12 438 224

10 000 000

4 784

49.24

100.0

0.0

4 881

28/10/2015

35 706 580

35 706 580

7 315

64.54

100.0

100.0

13 088

28/10/2015

134 397 650

143 576 795

10 970

95.40

100.0

100.0

21 107

01/11/2015

100 022 720

88 014 071

4 170

41.48

100.0

100.0

19 972

12/12/2013

95 074 000

102 885 421

5 151

39.62

100.0

100.0

2 955

23/05/2013

39 700 000

41 000 000

13 875

105.47

100.0

100.0

3 384

28/10/2015

16 916 175

19 200 000

5 674

45.44

100.0

100.0

8 450

28/10/2015

51 423 420

50 000 000

5 917

46.57

100.0

100.0

5 013

01/04/2011

31 101 000

32 411 771

6 466

53.73

100.0

100.0

2 842

01/11/2015

35 277 611

35 277 611

12 414

85.32

100.0

100.0

9 715

01/11/2015

152 987 031

160 760 391

16 548

101.44

100.0

100.0

6 134

01/11/2015

137 302 316

146 983 210

23 964

128.69

100.0

100.0

8 459

01/11/2015

145 840 114

145 840 114

17 241

106.95

100.0

100.0

3 233

01/11/2015

74 699 214

80 929 266

25 029

135.79

100.0

100.0

11 112

01/11/2015

134 517 291

143 184 726

12 886

76.62

100.0

100.0

18 474

01/11/2015

237 481 815

237 899 775

12 877

61.49

100.0

100.0

25 000

09/04/2013

81 987 000

83 292 497

3 332

34.56

100.0

100.0

7 282

01/04/2011

33 723 000

36 568 950

5 022

50.71

100.0

100.0

1 850

28/10/2015

9 061 137

9 300 000

5 027

46.00

100.0

100.0

14 375

01/11/2015

128 868 291

128 868 291

8 965

57.42

100.0

100.0

3 497 985 183

3 657 945 357

298 234

52.47

99.6

99.2

Carrying
value/
directors’
valuation (R)
FY2017

Valuation
per m2 (R)
FY2017

Average
net rental*
per m2 (R)
FY2017

22 454

01/11/2012

491 168 718

553 674 400

16 948

143.40

98.7

96.4

7 526

20/12/2012

86 713 000

88 000 000

11 693

92.68

100.0

100.0

6 294

20/12/2012

82 774 000

89 000 000

14 140

109.65

100.0

100.0

9 298

20/12/2012

107 227 000

110 000 000

11 831

88.81

100.0

100.0

8 979

20/12/2012

95 035 048

101 672 224

11 324

82.50

100.0

100.0

11 113

15/01/2013

150 802 000

155 000 000

13 948

109.70

100.0

100.0

5 512

08/01/2013

79 500 000

71 908 678

13 046

122.32

100.0

100.0

8 908

29/01/2013

113 867 000

122 221 271

13 720

99.08

100.0

100.0

3 918

28/10/2015

82 966 110

86 500 000

22 078

149.96

100.0

100.0

24 570

01/11/2015

573 581 315

571 902 191

23 278

141.78

97.6

94.4

2 742

01/10/2013

10 404 000

10 404 000

3 794

42.00

100.0

100.0

12 492

01/10/2013

97 391 000

103 000 000

8 245

57.56

100.0

100.0

30 824

29/07/2014

498 500 000

553 500 000

17 957

122.00

97.7

99.6

24 418

01/02/2015

340 896 010

376 262 435

15 409

120.97

100.0

99.8

3 721

01/04/2011

65 739 000

71 104 380

19 109

167.77

100.0

100.0

19 766

11/12/2012

286 612 000

287 000 000

14 118

117.97

97.4

95.7

5 850

01/10/2013

31 514 000

33 900 000

5 795

44.07

100.0

100.0

7 346

15/05/2014

125 638 000

132 381 941

18 021

127.01

100.0

100.0

13 561

06/06/2012

267 346 397

436 000 000

12 396

31.76

100.0

97.3

38 861

01/11/2015

785 321 996

864 271 439

22 240

125.27

98.1

98.1

1 528

01/11/2015

39 773 711

39 798 940

26 042

168.80

100.0

100.0

2 939

01/10/2013

38 650 000

40 533 302

13 792

117.19

97.6

93.2

7 876

14/12/2012

125 632 000

134 000 000

17 015

149.51

94.0

100.0

Property portfolio

*

Occupancy
rate (%)
as at
31 March
FY2016

Carrying
value/
directors’
valuation (R)
FY2016

(excluding parking)

Investec Property Fund Limited integrated annual report and financial statements 2017

113

06

Property portfolio
(continued)

Property portfolio
Property name

Physical address

Building
grade

Province

Plastic Land Fourways

Cnr Sunrise Boulevard & William Nicol Drive, Fourways, Johannesburg

Retail warehouse

Gauteng

Shoprite Checkers Vanderbijlpark

165 Jan van Riebeck Ave, CBD, Vanderbijilpark

Retail warehouse

Gauteng

Tile World Supa Quick Fourways

Cnr Sunrise Boulevard & William Nicol Drive, Fourways

Retail warehouse

Gauteng

Toyota Menlyn

Cnr January Maselela & Garsfontein Roads, Menlyn, Pretoria

Motor dealership

Gauteng

Unitrans Polokwane

204 Tagore Street, Polokwane

Motor dealership

Limpopo

Zenth East Rand

265 North Rand Road, Boksburg

Retail warehouse

Gauteng

Nicol Grove – Seacom

Nicol Grove Office Park, Design Quarter, Cnr William Nicol Drive and Leslie Ave,
Fourways

Office building

Gauteng

Zevenwacht Mall

Cnr Van Riebeeck & Polkadraal Roads, Kuils River

Large Community
Centre

Western Cape

Retail total
Acquisitions
AGCO

16 Pomona Road, Kempton Park, Gauteng

Warehousing

Gauteng

Boitekong

Cnr Thlou Street and P16-2, Boitekong, Rustenburg

Community Centre

North West

Acquisitions total
Non-current assets held for
sale
Greenhill Village

Cnr Nentabos & Botterklapper Streets, Lynwood, Pretoria

B

Gauteng

Minolta Bellville

4 Mike Pienaar Boulevard, Bellville, Cape Town

B

Western Cape

Union Castle Building

55 St George's Mall, Cape Town

C

Western Cape

Coastal Air Couriers

Erf 602, Portion 241, Spartan Ext 2

Warehousing

Gauteng

95 Main Reef Road

95 Main Reef Road, Boksburg North, Boksburg

High-Tech Industrial

Gauteng

Armadillo

48 Director Road, Spartan, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Baldwin Filters

50 Loper Street, Spartan, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Capital Motors (McCarthy Pretoria) Cnr Visagie Street & Prince's Park Ave, Pretoria CBD

High-Tech Industrial

Gauteng

National Urethane Industries (New) 9 Skietlood Street, Isando, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

National Urethane Industries (Old)

18 Skietlood Street, Isando, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

North Safety Products

5 Latei Street, Isando, Gauteng

Warehousing

Gauteng

Plastichem

17 Brussels Road, Spartan, Gauteng

Manufacturing

Gauteng

Scientific Building

Itaky Ave, Cosmo City, Kya Sands, Randburg

High-Tech Industrial

Gauteng

Nissan Roodepoort

47 Ontdekkers Road, Roodepoort

Specialist Retail –
Motor dealership

Gauteng

Super Group Greenstone

Cnr Van Riebeeck & Aitken Streets, Edenvale

Specialist Retail –
Motor dealership

Gauteng

VW McCarthy Roodepoort

Hendrik Potgieter Road & Jim Fouche Drive, Constantia, Roodepoort

Specialist Retail –
Motor dealership

Gauteng

Boxer Cofimvaba

Stand No. 2298, Main Street, Cofimvaba, Eastern Cape

Retail warehouse

Eastern Cape

Cashbuild Nongoma

Lot 451, Old Main Road, Nongoma, KwaZulu-Natal

Retail warehouse

KwaZulu-Natal

Edcon Carletonville

Cnr Flint, Halite & Gold Streets, Carletonville

Stand alone retail
unit

Gauteng

Foschini

Franwell House, 105 President Street, Johannesburg

Stand alone retail
unit

Gauteng

Shoprite Checkers Thabazimbi

Vanderbijl Street, Thabazimbi Ext 6, Thabazimbi

Retail hyper centre

North West

Non-current assets held for
sale total
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Property portfolio
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*

Effective
date of
acquisition

Carrying
value/
directors’
valuation (R)
FY2017

Valuation
per m2 (R)
FY2017

Average
net rental*
per m2 (R)
FY2017

Occupancy
rate (%)
as at
31 March
FY2016

Occupancy
rate (%)
as at
31 March
FY2017

1 296

18/01/2013

20 800 000

24 617 113

18 995

131.40

100.0

100.0

15 497

01/04/2011

34 987 000

35 000 000

2 259

14.01

100.0

100.0

2 400

23/01/2013

36 300 000

40 538 800

16 891

129.92

100.0

100.0

6 785

31/03/2015

133 451 000

145 481 694

21 442

144.28

100.0

100.0

4 322

20/12/2012

29 300 000

32 076 256

7 422

62.24

100.0

100.0

14 144

01/10/2013

89 416 000

95 156 547

6 728

49.55

100.0

100.0

2 502

01/11/2015

62 856 456

64 230 125

25 672

156.40

100.0

100.0

39 517

01/11/2015

788 178 485

879 640 582

22 260

121.31

97.8

98.8

5 772 341 246

6 348 776 318

467 604

110.30

98.8

98.0
100.0

6 888

–

–

77 099 981

11 193

82.95

–

17 782

15/03/2017

–

154 201 040

8 672

45.07

–

100.0

–

231 301 021

19 865

55.60

–

100.0

4 687

07/03/2014

95 000 000

95 000 000

20 267

130.00

100.0

91.0

2 166

23/05/2013

29 091 016

29 091 016

13 431

113.80

100.0

100.0

8 936

21/01/2016

139 050 981

139 050 981

15 561

122.33

100.0

96.1

3 240

28/10/2015

18 361 975

18 700 000

5 772

34.42

100.0

75.0

14 171

01/04/2011

48 440 900

48 440 900

3 418

37.97

95.5

94.3

2 081

28/10/2015

11 717 975

11 717 975

5 631

49.98

100.0

100.0

1 618

28/10/2015

9 444 207

9 444 207

5 837

49.95

100.0

100.0

7 463

01/04/2011

22 959 000

22 959 000

3 076

32.96

100.0

100.0

3 628

28/10/2015

14 884 516

14 884 516

4 103

37.25

100.0

100.0

3 000

28/10/2015

10 768 193

10 768 193

3 589

32.77

100.0

100.0

3 000

28/10/2015

11 449 956

11 449 956

3 817

34.99

100.0

100.0

1 753

28/10/2015

10 446 465

10 446 465

5 959

53.45

100.0

100.0

5 733

01/10/2011

40 607 719

40 608 000

7 083

76.25

100.0

100.0

4 893

18/12/2012

49 500 000

36 800 000

7 521

92.42

100.0

100.0

5 686

05/02/2013

81 846 000

79 600 000

13 999

107.47

100.0

100.0

2 595

07/01/2013

30 800 000

48 600 000

18 728

130.37

100.0

100.0

1 045

01/10/2013

6 829 000

6 829 000

6 535

56.46

100.0

100.0

2 204

01/10/2013

8 725 000

8 725 000

3 959

32.77

100.0

100.0

3 816

01/09/2014

26 000 000

26 000 000

6 813

56.29

100.0

100.0

6 305

01/06/2014

82 275 829

82 275 829

13 049

109.27

100.0

100.0

4 125

01/04/2011

19 227 000

19 227 000

4 661

40.36

100.0

100.0

767 425 732

770 618 038

172 810

60.13

99.3

98.4

Property portfolio

GLA (m2)
FY2017

Carrying
value/
directors’
valuation (R)
FY2016

(excluding parking)
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Property portfolio
(continued)

Property portfolio
Physical address

Building
grade

Province

SABB Maitland

35 9th Avenue, Maitland, Cape Town

Manufacturing

Western Cape

17 Derrick

17 Derrick Road, Spartan, Kempton Park

Manufacturing

Gauteng

SO-SO

Erf 35191/35192, Milnerton

Warehousing

Western Cape

Subdan

Erf 68, Longmeadow Business Estate Ext 1

Specialist Retail –
Motor dealership

Gauteng

Makro

7 Montague Drive, Montague Gardens, Cape Town

Warehousing

Western Cape

Boksburg Minipark

38 Hamba Gahle, Boksburg North, Boksburg

Standard Units

Gauteng

Heriotdale Minipark

8 Bessemer Street, Heriotdale, Johannesburg

Standard Units

Gauteng

118 Bofors

118 Bofors Circle. Epping Ext 4, Cape Town

Manufacturing

Western Cape

Menlo Park, Pretoria

N/A

Gauteng

Property name
Disposals

Disposals total
Land
530 Atterbury Road
Land total
Portfolio total
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(continued)

–

Effective
date of
acquisition

–

01/04/2011

41 500 000

–

–

–

100.0

–

01/04/2011

20 850 000

–

–

–

0.0

–

–

28/10/2015

8 527 757

–

–

–

100.0

–

–

14/12/2015

94 740 577

–

–

–

100.0

–

–

01/04/2011

80 000 000

–

–

–

100.0

–

–

16/10/2015

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

25/02/2016

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

24/03/2016

–

–

–

–

–

–

245 618 334

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

3 092 662

3 092 662

–

–

–

–

–

3 092 662

3 092 662

–

–

–

–

1 274 323

16 459 712 930

17 371 495 002

12 659

89.81

98.9

98.6

Carrying
value/
directors’
valuation (R)
FY2017

Valuation
per m2 (R)
FY2017

–

Average
net rental*
per m2 (R)
FY2017

Property portfolio

Occupancy
rate (%)
as at
31 March
FY2017

GLA (m2)
FY2017

–

*

Occupancy
rate (%)
as at
31 March
FY2016

Carrying
value/
directors’
valuation (R)
FY2016

(excluding parking)
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Holdings
1 – 10 000 shares

Number of
shareholdings

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares in issue

% of issued
capital

1 829

61.36

6 104 869

0.85

10 001 – 50 000 shares

610

20.46

13 618 712

1.90

50 001 – 100 000 shares

167

5.60

12 266 819

1.71

100 001 shares and over

375

12.58

686 159 767

95.54

2 981

100.00

718 150 167

100.00

Number of
shareholdings

% of total
shareholdings

Number of
shares

% of total
shares

Shareholder classification at 31 March 2017

Non-public shareholders

17

0.57

227 996 797

31.75

Executive directors

2

0.07

393 982

0.05

Independent non-executive directors

5

0.17

1 196 214

0.17

Non-executive directors

3

0.10

23 912 928

3.33

Directorate of the Manager

4

0.13

1 985 217

0.28

Investec group entities

3

0.10

200 508 456

27.92

Public shareholders¹

2 957

99.43

490 153 370

68.25

Total

2 974

100.00

718 150 167

100.00

2

1
2

Per JSE Listings Requirements’ definitions.
Excluding any director that is also a director of the Fund.

Largest shareholders as at 31 March 2017
By proxy

Number of
shares held

% holding

Investec Ltd

200 508 456

27.92

Coronation Fund Managers

167 215 850

23.28

Public Investment Corporation

40 446 597

5.63

Investec Asset Management

30 695 246

4.27

Fynbos Trust

29 893 221

4.16

Avin Lieberman Trust

20 539 802

2.86

Giuricich Group

20 067 890

2.79

STANLIB Asset Management

17 925 093

2.50

Sanlam Investment Management

16 134 750

2.25

Sesfikile Capital

12 722 570

1.77

Hackner, S

11 054 762

1.54

Old Mutual Investment Group

9 881 869

1.38

Absa Asset Management

9 718 683

1.35

Prudential Investment Managers
Total

7 800 297

1.09

594 605 086

82.79
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Shareholder analysis
(continued)

Shareholder information

Directors’ interest in shares at 31 March
2017

2016

340 913

122 019

53 069

53 069

S Hackner

11 054 762

11 054 762

L Giuricich*^

5 992 986

5 855 486

SR Leon

6 865 180

5 865 180

Executive directors
NP Riley
AR Wooler
Non-executive directors

Independent non-executive directors
S Mahomed

5 415

5 415

CM Mashaba

89 559

87 601

1 041 234

853 292

MM Ngoasheng
GR Rosenthal

4 066

4 066

KL Shuenyane

60 006

60 006

25 507 190

23 960 896

2017

2016

– Year-end

15.74

13.99

– High

16.75

18.02

– Low

13.70

12.56

718.15

700.23

Total
*
^

Non-beneficial indirect holding of 19 166 603.
Indirectly held through Giuricich Group and related companies.

Share statistics at 31 March
Closing market price (Rm)

Shares in issue (million)
Market capitalisation (R’million)
Daily average volume of shares traded
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9 796

419 171

634 495

Shareholder analysis
(continued)

31 March 2017

Publication of financial results

17 May 2017

Final dividend paid to shareholders

19 June 2017

Annual report posted to shareholders

30 June 2017

Annual general meeting

21 August 2017

Dividend
An interim dividend number 12 of 60.91090 cents per share (after applying dividend withholding tax of 15% would provide a net dividend
of 51.77427 cents per share) was declared for the six months ended 30 September 2016. The distribution was paid on Monday,
19 December 2016.
Shareholders were given notice of final dividend number 13 of 66.73800 cents per share (after applying dividend withholding tax of 20%
would provide a net dividend of 53.39040 cents per share) for the six months ended 31 March 2017. The final distribution was paid on
Monday, 19 June 2017.

Dividend details
Distribution
number

2017
cents

30 September 2016

12

60.91

31 March 2017

13

66.74

Dividend
Six months ended

Total

127.65
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Notice of annual general meeting

Shareholder information

Investec Property Fund Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2008/011366/06)
Share code: IPF | ISIN: ZAE000180915
(the Fund or the Company)

Property Fund Limited

Directors of the Fund
Sam Hackner (chairman, non-executive)
Nicholas P Riley (chief executive officer)
Andrew R Wooler (financial director)
Luigi LM Giuricich (non-executive)
Philip A Hourquebie (independent non-executive)
Samuel R Leon (deputy chairman, non-executive)
Suliman Mahomed (independent non-executive)
Constance M Mashaba (independent non-executive)
Moses M Ngoasheng (independent non-executive)
Khumo L Shuenyane (independent non-executive)
Notice is hereby given that the annual
general meeting (AGM) of the Company
will be held in the Auditorium, Investec
Bank Limited, 100 Grayston Drive,
Sandown, Sandton, 2196 at 09:00 on
Monday, 21 August 2017 to: (i) deal with
such business as may lawfully be dealt
with at the meeting, and (ii) consider and,
if deemed fit, to pass, with or without
modification, the following ordinary and
special resolutions of the Company as set
out hereunder.
Kindly note that in terms of section 63(1)
of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as
amended (the Act), meeting participants
(including proxies) will be required to
provide reasonable satisfactory identification
before being entitled to participate in or
vote at the AGM. Forms of identification
that will be accepted include original and
valid identity documents, driver’s licences
and passports.

Electronic participation
Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at
the AGM, or proxies of such shareholders,
shall be entitled to participate in the meeting
(but not vote) by electronic communication.
Should a shareholder wish to participate in
the meeting by electronic communication,
the shareholder concerned should advise
the Company thereof by submitting via
registered mail addressed to the Company
(for the attention of the Company Secretary,
PO Box 78949, Sandton, 2196) relevant
contact details, as well as full details of
the shareholder’s title to relevant securities
issued by the Company accompanied with
proof of identity, in the form of certified
copies of identity documents and share
certificates (if in certificated form) or
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written confirmation from the shareholder’s
CSDP confirming the shareholder’s title to
dematerialised shares (if in dematerialised
form), to reach the Company by no later
than 09:00 on Monday, 14 August 2017.
Upon receipt of the required information
by the Company, the shareholder
concerned will be provided with a secure
code and instructions to access the
electronic communication during the AGM.
Shareholders must note that access to the
electronic communication will be at the
expense of the shareholder who wishes to
utilise the facility. Shareholders making use
of the electronic participation facility are
requested to submit their proxy forms to
the Company, as directed in this notice, as
voting at the AGM will not be enabled via
electronic means.

Record dates, proxies
and voting
In terms of sections 59(1)(a) and (b) of the
Act, the board of the Company has set the
record date for the purpose of determining
which shareholders are entitled to:
• receive notice of the AGM (being the
date on which a shareholder must be
registered in the Company’s securities
register as a shareholder in order to
receive notice of the AGM) as Friday,
23 June 2017
• participate in and vote at the AGM
(being the date on which the shareholder
must be registered in the Company’s
securities register as a shareholder in
order to participate in and vote at the
AGM) as Friday, 11 August 2017.
Shareholders who have not dematerialised
their shares or who have dematerialised

their shares with ‘own name’ registration,
and who are entitled to attend, participate
in and vote at the AGM, are entitled to
appoint a proxy (or more than one proxy
in respect of different shares held by them)
to attend, speak and vote in their stead.
A proxy need not be a shareholder and
shall be entitled to vote on a show of hands
or a poll. It is requested that proxy forms
be forwarded to the transfer secretaries
in South Africa. If shareholders who have
not dematerialised their shares or who
have dematerialised their shares with ‘own
name’ registration, and who are entitled
to attend, participate in and vote at the
AGM, do not forward proxy forms to the
transfer secretaries in South Africa, such
shareholders will nevertheless be entitled
to lodge the form of proxy in respect of
the AGM immediately prior to the exercising
of the shareholders’ rights at the AGM, in
accordance with the instructions therein,
with the chairman of the AGM.
Shareholders who have dematerialised
their shares, other than those shareholders
who have dematerialised their shares with
‘own name’ registration, should contact
their CSDP or broker in the manner and
within the time stipulated in the agreement
entered into between them and their CSDP
or broker:
• to furnish them with their voting
instructions, or
• in the event that they wish to attend the
AGM, to obtain the necessary letter of
representation to do so.
Every shareholder present in person or
represented by proxy and entitled to vote
shall, on a show of hands, have only
one vote irrespective of the number of
shares such shareholder holds. On a poll,
every shareholder present in person or

Investec Property Fund Limited integrated annual report and financial statements 2017

Notice of annual general meeting
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Presentation of annual
financial statements
To present to shareholders:
• the audited annual financial statements
of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2017, together with:
–– the reports of the directors and the
auditors
–– the report by the chairman of the
audit and risk committee
–– the report by the chairman of the
social and ethics committee.
The complete set of the audited annual
financial statements, together with the
abovementioned reports, are set out on
pages 68 to 107 of the 2017 integrated
annual report.
To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass,
with or without modification, the following
ordinary and special resolutions of the
Company:
1. To elect Philip A Hourquebie, as a
director of the Fund in accordance with
the provisions of the Memorandum of
Incorporation of the Company.
2. To re-elect Sam Hackner, as a director
of the Company in accordance with
the provisions of the Memorandum of
Incorporation of the Company.
3. To re-elect Constance M Mashaba,
as a director of the Company in
accordance with the provisions of the
Memorandum of Incorporation of the
Company.
4. To re-elect Moses M Ngoasheng, as a
director of the Company in accordance
with the provisions of the Memorandum
of Incorporation of the Company.
Messrs Hackner and Ngoasheng
and Ms Mashaba are due to retire
by rotation.
For brief biographical details of the
directors to be elected or re-elected
refer to pages 21 and 22 of the 2017
integrated annual report.
5. To elect Philip A Hourquebie as
a member of the audit and risk
committee, with effect from the end
of this AGM, in terms of section 94(2)
of the Act, subject to his election as
a director.

6. To elect Constance M Mashaba
as a member of the audit and risk
committee, with effect from the end of
this AGM, in terms of section 94(2) of
the Act, subject to her re-election as
director.
7. To elect Moses M Ngoasheng as
a member of the audit and risk
committee, with effect from the end of
this AGM, in terms of section 94(2) of
the Act, subject to his re-election as
director.
8. To elect Khumo L Shuenyane, as
a member of the audit and risk
committee, with effect from the end of
this AGM, in terms of section 94(2) of
the Act.
The members of the audit and risk
committee have been nominated by
the board of the Company for election
as members of the Company’s audit
and risk committee in terms of section
94(2) of the Act. The board has
reviewed the proposed composition of
the audit and risk committee against
the requirements of the Act and the
Regulations under the Act and has
confirmed that if all the individuals
referred to above are elected, the
committee will comply with the relevant
requirements and have the necessary
knowledge, skills and experience to
enable it to perform its duties in terms
of the Act.
9. To reappoint Ernst & Young Inc.,
102 Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196,
South Africa (Private Bag X14,
Northlands, 2116, South Africa) as
independent external auditors of
the Company, until such time as the
conclusion of the next AGM of the
Company.
In terms of section 90(1) of the Act,
each year at its AGM, the Company
must appoint an auditor who complies
with the requirements of section 90(2)
of the Act. Following a detailed review,
which included an assessment of its
independence, the current audit and
risk committee of the Company has
recommended that Ernst & Young Inc.
be reappointed as the auditors of the
Company.
10. To authorise any director or the
Company Secretary of the Company
to do all things and sign all documents
which may be necessary to carry
into effect the resolutions contained

in this notice to the extent the same
have been passed and, where
applicable, filed.
11. Ordinary resolution: Directors’ authority
to issue shares specifically in relation to
a Dividend Reinvestment Plan:

Resolved that:
• To the extent required by and subject to
the provisions of the Act and the Listings
Requirements of the JSE Limited (‘JSE
Listings Requirements’), the directors be
and they are hereby authorised by way
of a specific standing authority to issue
ordinary shares of no par value (ordinary
shares) as and when they deem
appropriate, for the exclusive purpose of
affording shareholders the opportunity
from time to time to elect to reinvest
their dividends into new ordinary shares
of the Company.
The directors have decided to seek
annual renewal of this authority in
accordance with best practice. The
exercise of the authority will be subject
to the provisions of the Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements.
12. Ordinary resolution: Authorising the
directors to allot and issue authorised
but unissued shares:

Resolved that:
• To the extent required by and subject
to the Memorandum of Incorporation
of the Company, the Act and the
JSE Listings Requirements, each as
presently constituted and as amended
from time to time, the directors of the
Company are authorised, as they in their
discretion think fit, to allot and issue
71 815 017 (24.11%) of the authorised
but unissued shares in the Company,
which equates to 10% of the shares in
issue, to such person(s) and upon such
terms and conditions as the directors
may determine, such authority to not
exceed 10% of the shares in issue
at the date of the AGM when read in
conjunction with Resolution 13 (Special
Resolution 1) and to expire at the
next AGM of the Company. In terms
of the Company’s Memorandum of
Incorporation, read with the JSE Listings
Requirements, the shareholders of the
Company may authorise the directors
to, inter alia, issue any unissued shares
of the Company, as the directors in their
discretion think fit.
The directors have decided to seek
annual renewal of this authority in
accordance with best practice. The

Investec Property Fund Limited integrated annual report and financial statements 2017

123

Shareholder information

represented by proxy and entitled to vote
shall be entitled to one vote for each share
such shareholder holds.

07

07

Notice of annual general meeting
(continued)

Shareholder information

exercise of the authority will be subject
to the provisions of the Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements. The directors
consider it advantageous to attain the
authority to enable the Company to take
advantage of any business opportunity
that may arise in future.
13. Special resolution No 1: Directors’
authority to allot and issue shares for
cash in respect of 35 907 508 (5%) of
the shares in issue:

Resolved that:
• To the extent required by, and subject
to the JSE Listings Requirements,
the Company’s Memorandum of
Incorporation and the Companies Act,
No 71 of 2008, as amended (the Act),
each as presently constituted and
as amended from time to time, the
directors of the Company are authorised
by way of a general authority, which
authority shall not extend beyond the
date of the next AGM of the Company
to be held in 2018 or the date of the
expiry of 15 (fifteen) months from the
date of the AGM of the Company
convened for 21 August 2017,
whichever period is shorter, to allot
and issue 35 907 508 shares for cash
(i.e. other than by way of rights offer, to
the existing shareholders in proportion
to their then existing holdings), such
authority to not exceed 5% of the shares
in issue at the date of the AGM when
read in conjunction with Resolution 12
subject to the limitations as required
by the JSE Listings Requirements
from time to time, it being recorded
that at 23 June 2017, the JSE Listings
Requirements provide, inter alia, that:
(i)

a press announcement giving full
details, including the impact on
net asset value and earnings per
share, will be published at the
time of an issue of shares for cash
representing, on a cumulative basis
within 1 (one) financial year, 5% (five
percent) or more of the number of
shares in issue prior to such issue;

(ii) the issue of shares for cash in
the aggregate in any 1 (one)
financial year will not exceed 15%
(fifteen percent) of the number of
the Company’s shares in issue,
including instruments which are
compulsorily convertible;
(iii) in determining the price at which
an allotment and issue of shares
may be made in terms of this
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authority, the maximum discount
permitted will be 5% (five percent)
of the weighted average traded
price of the shares in question
as determined over the 30 (thirty)
business days prior to the date
that the price of the issue is agreed
to between the directors of the
Company and the party subscribing
for the shares; and
(iv) the shares issued for cash must
be issued to persons qualifying as
‘public shareholders’, as defined in
the JSE Listings Requirements, and
not to ‘related parties’.
The directors are seeking an authority
to allot and issue up to 35 907 508
(12.06%) of the number of unissued
shares for cash which represents 5%
(five percent) of the number of the
Company’s issued shares as at the
date of this notice of AGM, which is
in line with the 15% (fifteen percent)
permitted in terms of the JSE Listings
Requirements.
The authority will be exercised
subject to the provisions of the Act,
the Company’s Memorandum of
Incorporation and the JSE Listings
Requirements.
The directors consider it beneficial
to obtain the authority to enable the
Company to take advantage of any
business opportunity that may arise in
future.
14. Special resolution No 2: Directors’
authority to acquire shares:

Resolved that:
• The Company is authorised (to the
extent required), by way of a general
authority, which authority shall not
extend beyond the date of the next
AGM of the Company to be held
in 2018 or the date of the expiry of
15 (fifteen) months from the date of
the AGM of the Company convened
for 21 August 2017, whichever period
is shorter, to acquire shares issued
by the Company, from any person,
upon such terms and conditions and
in such number as the directors of
the Company may from time to time
decide, but subject to the provisions
of the Company’s Memorandum of
Incorporation, the Companies Act, No
71 of 2008, as amended (the Act), and
the JSE Listings Requirements, each as
presently constituted and as amended
from time to time, it being recorded

that at 23 June 2017, the JSE Listings
Requirements provide, inter alia, that:
(i)

any such acquisition of shares
shall be effected through the order
book operated by the JSE trading
system and done without any prior
understanding or arrangement
between the Company and the
counterparty;

(ii) an announcement containing full
details of such acquisitions will be
published as soon as the Company
has acquired shares constituting,
on a cumulative basis, 3% (three
percent) of the number of the
Company’s shares in issue (at the
time that this authority is granted)
and for each 3% (three percent) in
aggregate of the initial number of
such shares acquired thereafter;
(iii) acquisitions of shares by the
Company in aggregate in any
1 (one) financial year may not
exceed 20% (twenty percent) of
the Company’s issued shares as at
the date of passing of this special
resolution No 2;
(iv) in determining the price at which
shares issued by the Company
are acquired by it in terms of this
general authority, the maximum
price at which such shares may
be acquired will be 10% (ten
percent) above the weighted
average of the market value at
which such shares are traded on
the JSE as determined over the
5 (five) business days immediately
preceding the date of acquisition of
such shares, by the Company;
(v) at any point in time, the Company
may only appoint 1 (one) agent
to effect any acquisition on the
Company’s behalf;
(vi) a resolution is passed by the
board of directors that it has
authorised the acquisition, that the
Company (and where applicable,
its subsidiaries) has passed the
solvency and liquidity test and that,
since the test was performed, there
have been no material changes
to the financial position of the
Company; and
(vii) the Company may not acquire any
shares during a prohibited period
as defined by the JSE Listings
Requirements unless there is in
place a repurchase programme
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Special resolution No 2 is sought to allow
the Company, by way of a general authority,
to acquire its own shares in issue from
time to time, subject to the Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation, the Act and
the JSE Listings Requirements.
At the present time, the directors of the
Company have no specific intention of
making any such acquisition, but believe
that the Company should retain the
flexibility to take action if future acquisitions
are considered desirable and in the best
interests of shareholders, taking into
account prevailing market conditions. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion
that, after considering the effect of such
acquisition of shares, if implemented and
on the assumption that the maximum of
20% (twenty percent) of the current issued
shares of the Company will be acquired,
using the mechanism of the general
authority at the maximum price at which
the acquisition may take place and having
regard to the price of the shares on the
JSE at the last practical date prior to the
date of the notice of AGM of the Company
convened for 21 August 2017:
• The Company will be able, in the
ordinary course of business, to pay
its debt for a period of 12 (twelve)
months after the date of the notice of
AGM of the Company convened for
21 August 2017
• The assets of the Company will be in
excess of the liabilities of the Company,
each recognised and measured in
accordance with IFRS, for a period of
12 (twelve) months after the date of
the notice of AGM of the Company
convened for 21 August 2017
• The Company will have adequate capital
and reserves for ordinary business
purposes for a period of 12 (twelve)
months after the date of the notice of
AGM of the Company convened for
21 August 2017
• The working capital of the Company
will be adequate for ordinary business
purposes for a period of 12 (twelve)
months after the date of the notice of
AGM of the Company convened for
21 August 2017. The Company will
ensure that its sponsor will provide
the necessary letter on the adequacy
of the working capital in terms of the
JSE Listings Requirements, prior to the

commencement of any acquisition of the
Company’s shares on the open market.

Directors’ responsibility
statement
The directors, whose names appear on
pages 21 and 22 of the 2017 integrated
annual report, collectively and individually
accept full responsibility for the accuracy
of the information given pertaining to this
special resolution No 2 and certify that,
to the best of their knowledge and belief,
there are no facts that have been omitted
which would make any statement false or
misleading and that all reasonable enquiries
to ascertain such facts have been made
and that the special resolution contains all
information required by law and the JSE
Listings Requirements.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments
reported on in the 2017 integrated annual
report, there have been no material
changes in the affairs or financial position of
the Company since the date of signature of
the audit report and up to the date of this
notice of AGM of the Company.
The following additional information is
provided in terms of the JSE Listings
Requirements for purposes of the general
authority:
• Largest shareholders: page 119 of the
2017 integrated annual report
• Directors: pages 21 and 22 of the 2017
integrated annual report
• Issued capital of the Company: page 94
note 15 of the 2017 integrated annual
report.

same basis as above, escalated
as determined by the board of
the Company up to a maximum
of 5% (five percent), per annum,
per amount set out as aforesaid,
exclusive of VAT.
Special resolution No 3 is proposed to
enable the Company to comply with
the provisions of sections
65(11)(h), 66(8) and 66(9) of the Act,
which stipulate that remuneration
to non-executive directors for their
service as non-executive directors
may be paid only in accordance with
a special resolution approved by the
shareholders within the previous two
years. The remuneration proposed for
approval has been determined mindful
thereof that the role of non-executive
directors is under increasing focus of
late with greater accountability and risk
attached to the position.
Two binding general rulings were
issued by the South African Revenue
Service (SARS) in early 2017 confirming
the South African Value-Added Tax
(VAT) law that requires non-executive
directors of companies to register
for and charge VAT in respect of any
directors’ fees earned for services
rendered as a non-executive director.
These rulings became effective
1 June 2017.
Value-Added Tax (VAT), at the prevailing
rate, where applicable, will be added to
the above fees.
For further information on the proposed
directors’ remuneration, please refer to
page 61 of the annual financial report.

15. Special resolution No 3: Non-executive
directors’ remuneration:

16. Special resolution No 4: Financial
assistance to subsidiaries and other
related and interrelated entities.

Resolved that:

Resolved that:

• In terms of section 66(9) of the
Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as
amended (the Act), payment of the
remuneration of the non-executive
directors of the Company for their
service as non-executive directors, be
approved as follows:

• To the extent required by the Companies
Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended (the
Act), the board of directors of the
Company may, subject to compliance
with the requirements of the Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation, the Act
and the JSE Listings Requirements,
each as presently constituted and as
amended from time to time, authorise
the Company to provide direct or
indirect financial assistance by way of a
loan, guarantee, provision of security or
otherwise, to:

(i)

for the period 1 April 2017 to
31 March 2018: as set out on
page 61 of the 2017 integrated
annual report, exclusive of VAT;

(ii)

thereafter, but only until the next
AGM (or until amended by a special
resolution of shareholders prior to
the expiry of such period), on the

–– any of its current and future
subsidiaries; and/or
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where dates and quantities of
securities to be traded during the
prohibited period are fixed and
full details of the programme have
been disclosed in writing to the JSE
prior to the commencement of the
prohibited period.
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Notice of annual general meeting
(continued)

Shareholder information

–– any other company or entity that is
or becomes related or interrelated to
the Company; and/or
–– any company or entity created for
the purpose of providing a guarantee
to noteholders under the Company’s
Domestic Medium-Term Notes
Programme
for the purpose of or in connection with
any matter, including, but not limited to:
–– the subscription of any option, or
any securities, issued or to be issued
by the Company or a related or
interrelated company; or
–– for the purchase of any securities
of the Company or a related or
interrelated company; or
–– for the purpose of lending money,
guaranteeing a loan or other
obligation and securing any debt or
obligation; or
–– for the provision of a guarantee
by special purpose vehicles to
noteholders under the Domestic
Medium Term Notes Programme
such authority to endure until the next
AGM of the Company.

Notes Programme, for the purpose of or
in connection with the subscription of any
option, or any securities, issued or to be
issued by the Company or a related or
interrelated company, or for the purchase of
any securities of the Company or a related
or interrelated company or for the purpose
of lending money, guaranteeing a loan or
other obligation and securing any debt or
obligation of any such company.
Under sections 44 and 45 of the Act, the
Company will require a special resolution to
be adopted before such financial assistance
may be provided. In the circumstances
and in order to, amongst others, ensure
that the Company’s related and interrelated
companies and entities have access to
financing and/or financial backing from
the Company (as opposed to banks),
it is necessary to obtain the approval
of shareholders, as set out in special
resolution number 4. It should be noted that
this resolution does not authorise financial
assistance to a director or a prescribed
officer of the Company or any company
or person related to such a director or
prescribed officer.

Registered office
100 Grayston Drive
Sandown
Sandton
2196
PO Box 78949
Sandton
2146
Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank
Johannesburg 2196
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown 2107

By order of the board

Reason
The Company would like the ability
to provide financial assistance to its
subsidiaries and related or interrelated
entities and to any company or entity
created for the purpose of providing
a guarantee to noteholders under the
Company’s Domestic Medium-Term
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N van Wyk
Investec Bank Limited
Company Secretary
23 June 2017
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(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa) | (Registration number 2008/011366/06)
Share code: IPF | ISIN: ZAE000180915
(the Fund or the Company)

Property Fund Limited

For use by certificated and ‘own name’ dematerialised shareholders only.
For use by certificated and ‘own name’ registered dematerialised shareholders of the Company, recorded in the Company’s securities
register at Friday, 11 August 2017, in the exercise of their voting rights in respect of the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, at
an annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 09:00 on Monday, 21 August 2017 in the Auditorium, Investec Bank Limited,
100 Grayston Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196.
I/We: (please print names in full)
of (address)
being the holder/s of

shares in the Company, appoint (see note 1):

1.

or failing him/her,

2.

or failing him/her,

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting,
as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting which will be held for the purpose of considering and,
if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment
thereof and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the share component of the shares registered
in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions (see note 3):
Number of votes
(one vote per share)
For

Against

Abstain

Ordinary resolution No 1: To elect Philip A Hourquebie as a director of the Company
Ordinary resolution No 2: To re-elect Sam Hackner as a director of the Company
Ordinary resolution No 3: To re-elect Constance M Mashaba as a director of the Company
Ordinary resolution No 4: To re-elect Moses M Ngoasheng as a director of the Company
Ordinary resolution No 5: To elect Philip A Hourquebie as a member of the audit and risk
committee
Ordinary resolution No 6: To elect Constance M Mashaba as a member of the audit and risk
committee
Ordinary resolution No 7: To elect Moses M Ngoasheng as a member of the audit and risk
committee
Ordinary resolution No 8: To elect Khumo L Shuenyane, as a member of the audit and risk
committee
Ordinary resolution No 9: To reappoint Enrst & Young Inc. as designated auditors of the Company
for the year to 31 March 2017
Ordinary resolution No 10: To provide the directors or the Company Secretary with the authority to
take action in respect of the resolutions approved by shareholders
Ordinary resolution No 11: Directors’ authority to issue shares specifically in relation to a Dividend
Reinvestment Plan
Ordinary resolution No 12: Authorising the directors to allot and issue 71 815 017 (24.11%) of the
authorised but unissued shares (10.00% of shares in issue)
Special resolution No 1: To provide the directors with general authority to allot and issue
35 907 508 (12.06%) of the authorised but unissued shares (5.00% of shares in issue) for cash
Special resolution No 2: To provide the directors with general authority to acquire shares
Special resolution No 3: Directors’ remuneration
Special resolution No 4: Financial assistance to subsidiaries and other related and interrelated
entities
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07

Form of proxy
(continued)

Shareholder information

Certificated shareholders
If you are a certificated shareholder or have dematerialised your shares with ‘own name’ registration and you are unable to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 09:00 on Monday, 21 August 2017 in the Auditorium, Investec Bank Limited,
100 Grayston Drive, Sandown, Sandton, 2196 and wish to be represented thereat, you are requested to complete and return this form of
proxy in accordance with the instructions contained herein and to lodge it with, or post it to, the Transfer Secretaries, namely Computershare
Investor Services Proprietary Limited.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than those with ‘own name’ registration
If you hold dematerialised shares in the Company through a CSDP or broker, other than with an ‘own name’ registration, you must timeously
advise your CSDP or broker of your intention to attend and vote at the annual general meeting or be represented by proxy thereat in order
for your CSDP or broker to provide you with the necessary letter of representation to do so, or should you not wish to attend the annual
general meeting in person, you must timeously provide your CSDP or broker with your voting instruction in order for the CSDP or broker to
vote in accordance with your instruction at the annual general meeting.
Signed at:

on

Signature:

Assisted by me where applicable:

Name:

Capacity:

2017

Signature:

Please read the notes that follow.
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Notes to the form of proxy

1. A shareholder entitled to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting
is entitled to appoint any one or
more individual (who need not be a
shareholder of the Company) as a
proxy to attend, speak and vote in his
place at the annual general meeting,
provided that, if more than one
proxy is concurrently appointed by a
shareholder, each proxy is appointed to
exercise the rights attached to different
shares held by that shareholder. Such
shareholder may insert the name of a
proxy or the names of two alternative
proxies of the shareholder’s choice in
the space provided, with or without
deleting ‘the chairman of the meeting’,
provided that any such deletion must
be signed in full by the shareholder.
The person whose name stands first
on the proxy form and who is present
at the annual general meeting will be
entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion
of those whose names follow. Should
a proxy not be specified, this will be
exercised by the chairman of the annual
general meeting.
2. A shareholder or his proxy shall have
one vote for every share held. You are
not obliged either to cast all your votes
or to cast all your votes in the same
way. Please instruct your proxy how to
vote by either:
• Marking the appropriate box with
an ‘X’ next to the resolution (i.e. in
favour of and/or against and/or by
way of abstention), in which event
the proxy will cast all your votes in
the manner so specified, or
• Setting out the number of votes to
be cast in the appropriate box next
to the resolution, provided that, if
for any resolution the aggregate
number of votes to be cast would
exceed the total number of shares
held, you will be deemed to have
given no specific instruction as to
how you wish your proxy to vote in
respect of that resolution.
Your proxy will have discretion to vote
in respect of your total holding on any
resolution on which you have not (or
are deemed not to have) given specific
instruction as to how to vote and,
unless instructed otherwise, on any

business which may properly come
before the meeting.
3. The date must be filled in on this form
of proxy when it is signed.
4. If you are signing in a representative
capacity, whether for another person
or for an organisation, then, in order for
this form to be valid, you must include
a power of attorney or other written
authority that authorises you to sign
(or a certified copy of such power or
authority).
5. In the case of a company, the proxy
form should either be sealed by the
Company or signed by a director or an
authorised signatory (and the provisions
of paragraph 4 shall apply to such
authorised signatory).
6. In the case of joint shareholders,
only one need sign. If more than one
joint shareholder votes, whether in
person or by proxy, only the most
senior shareholder who casts a vote,
whether in person or by proxy, will be
counted. For this purpose, seniority
is determined by the order in which
shareholders’ names appear in the
securities register for that share.
7. Any alteration or correction made to
this form of proxy must be signed in
full and not initialled by the signatory or
signatories.
8. A minor must be assisted by his/
her parent/guardian and the relevant
documentary evidence establishing his/
her legal capacity must be attached
to this form of proxy unless previously
recorded by the Company or waived
by the chairman of the annual general
meeting.
9. The chairman of the annual general
meeting may reject or accept any form
of proxy which is completed and/or
received other than in compliance with
these notes.
10. The return of this form of proxy will not
prevent you from attending the meeting
and voting in person.
11. A proxy may not delegate his/her
authority to act on behalf of the
shareholder to another person.

• Is suspended at any time to
the extent that the shareholder
chooses to act directly and in
person in the exercise of any rights
as a shareholder;
• is revocable in which case the
shareholder may revoke the proxy
appointment by:
–– cancelling it in writing or
making a later inconsistent
appointment of a proxy
–– delivering a copy of the
revocation instrument to the
proxy and to the Company.
13. Should the instrument appointing
a proxy or proxies have been
delivered to the Company, as long
as the appointment remains in effect,
any notice that is required by the
Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 (the
Act), as amended, or the Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation to be
delivered by such Company to the
shareholder, must be delivered by such
Company to:
• The shareholder, or
• The proxy or proxies, if the
shareholder has directed the
Company to do so in writing
and has paid any reasonable fee
charged by the Company for
doing so.
14. The proxy appointment remains
valid only until the end of the
relevant meeting at which it was
intended to be used (including any
adjournment thereof), unless revoked
as contemplated in section 58(5) of
the Act.
15. It is requested that this form of proxy be
forwarded to the Company’s transfer
secretaries:
Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank
Johannesburg 2196
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown 2107
proxy@computershare.co.za

12. The appointment of a proxy or proxies:
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Notes and summary of
rights under section 58 of
the Companies Act 2008
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Corporate information

Shareholder information

Investec Property Fund Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number 2008/011366/06
Share code: IPF | ISIN: ZAE000180915

Secretary and
registered office
c/o Company Secretarial
Investec Bank Limited
100 Grayston Drive
Sandown Sandton 2196
PO Box 78949 Sandton 2196

Internet address
www.investecpropertyfund.com

Auditors
Ernst & Young Inc.
102 Rivonia Road
Sandton
Johannesburg 2196

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank
Johannesburg 2196
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown 2107
Telephone (27 11) 370 5000

Sponsor
Investec Bank Limited
100 Grayston Drive
Sandown, Sandton 2196
PO Box 785700
Sandton, 2196

Directorate
Refer to pages 21 and 22.

For queries regarding information in this document:

Investor Relations
Telephone (27 11) 286 7070
e-mail: investorrelations@investec.co.za
Internet address: www.investec.com/en_za/#home/investorrelations.html

Preparer
This integrated annual report and annual financial statements have been prepared under the
supervision of the financial director, Andrew Wooler ACA.
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